Public Document Pack

Development
Control Forest Heat
Committee

Title: Agenda

Date: Wednesday 1 February 2017
Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Council Chamber

District Offices
College Heath Road

Mildenhall
Full Members: Chairman Rona Burt
Vice Chairman Chris Barker

Conservative David Bowman Brian Harvey

Members (9) Ruth Bowman Carol Lynch
Louis Busuttil Louise Marston
Stephen Edwards

West Suffolk Andrew Appleby David Palmer

Independent Simon Cole

Members (3)

UKIP Members (2) Roger Dicker Peter Ridgwell

SITE VISITS WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY 30 JANUARY 2017 AT THE
FOLLOWING TIMES:

PLEASE NOTE - A coach will be provided for Members of the Committee to
attend all the site visits listed below. Members are requested to convene
at the District Offices, College Heath Road, Mildenhall at 9.00am on
Monday 30 January 2017 so that the coach can depart no later than
9.15am.

1. Planning Application DC/16/0723/FUL - 35 Kingsway, Mildenhall
Dwelling adjoining No. 35 Kingsway
Site visit to be held at 9.30am (IP28 7HP)

2. Planning Application DC/16/1145/FUL - 50 The Street, Gazeley
(i) 4 dwellings and ancillary outbuildings (following demolition of existing

dwelling and outbuildings)
(ii) Improvements to existing vehicular access
Site visit to be held at 10.00am (CB8 8RB) Cont. overleaf




3. Planning Application DC/15/2577/FUL - Kentford Lodge,

Herringswell Road, Kentford

(i) Proposed Development of 22 no. dwellings (including 9 no. affordable
dwellings) and garages

(i) Creation of a new access onto Herringswell Road and the upgrading of
an existing access onto Herringswell Road

(iii)  Provision of amenity space and associated infrastructure, following the
demolition of an office, residential annex and stables

Site visit to be held at 10.30am (CB8 7QS)

4. Planning Application DC/14/2042/FUL - Land North of Broom Road,
Covey Way and Maidscross Hill, Lakenheath
Residential development of up to 110 dwellings, as amended
Site visit to be held at 11.15am

Substitutes:

Named substitutes are not appointed

Interests -
Declaration and
Restriction on
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Quorum:

Five Members

Committee
administrator:

Helen Hardinge

Democratic Services Advisor

Tel: 01638 719363

Email: helen.hardinge@westsuffolk.gov.uk




Forest Heath « St Edmundsbury

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE: WESt S UffOI k
AGENDA NOTES working together

Subject to the provisions of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985,
all the files itemised in this Schedule, together with the consultation replies,
documents and letters referred to (which form the background papers) are available
for public inspection.

All applications and other matters have been considered having regard to the Human
Rights Act 1998 and the rights which it guarantees.

Material Planning Considerations

1. It must be noted that when considering planning applications (and related
matters) only relevant planning considerations can be taken into account.
Councillors and their Officers must adhere to this important principle
which is set out in legislation and Central Government Guidance.

2. Material Planning Considerations include:
e Statutory provisions contained in Planning Acts and Statutory regulations and
Planning Case Law
e Central Government planning policy and advice as contained in Circulars and
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
e The following Planning Local Plan Documents

Forest Heath District Council St Edmundsbury Borough Council

Forest Heath Local Plan 1995 St Edmundsbury Borough Local Plan
1998 and the Replacement St
Edmundsbury Borough Local Plan 2016

The Forest Heath Core Strategy 2010, St Edmundsbury Borough Council Core
as amended by the High Court Order Strategy 2010

(2011)
Joint Development Management Joint Development Management Policies
Policies 2015 2015

Vision 2031 (2014)

Emerging Policy documents

Core Strategy - Single Issue review

Site Specific Allocations

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents eg. Affordable Housing SPD

Master Plans, Development Briefs

Site specific issues such as availability of infrastructure, density, car parking

Environmental; effects such as effect on light, noise overlooking, effect on

street scene

e The need to preserve or enhance the special character or appearance of
designated Conservation Areas and protect Listed Buildings

e Previous planning decisions, including appeal decisions

Desire to retain and promote certain uses e.g. stables in Newmarket.



3. The following are not Material Planning Considerations_and such matters must not
be taken into account when determining planning applications and related matters:
e Moral and religious issues

Competition (unless in relation to adverse effects on a town centre as a whole)

Breach of private covenants or other private property / access rights

Devaluation of property

Protection of a private view

Council interests such as land ownership or contractual issues

Identity or motives of an applicant or occupier

4. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that an
application for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan (see table above) unless material planning considerations
indicate otherwise.

5. A key role of the planning system is to enable the provision of homes, buildings
and jobs in a way that is consistent with the principles of sustainable development.
It needs to be positive in promoting competition while being protective towards the
environment and amenity. The policies that underpin the planning system both
nationally and locally seek to balance these aims.

Documentation Received after the Distribution of Committee Papers

Any papers, including plans and photographs, received relating to items on this
Development Control Committee agenda, but which are received after the agenda has
been circulated will be subject to the following arrangements:

(a) Officers will prepare a single Committee Update Report summarising all
representations that have been received up to 5pm on the Thursday before
each Committee meeting. This report will identify each application and what
representations, if any, have been received in the same way as representations
are reported within the Committee report;

(b)  the Update Report will be sent out to Members by first class post and
electronically by noon on the Friday before the Committee meeting and will be
placed on the website next to the Committee report.

Any late representations received after 5pm on the Thursday before the Committee
meeting will not be distributed but will be reported orally by officers at the meeting.

Public Speaking

Members of the public have the right to speak at the Development Control Committee,
subject to certain restrictions. Further information is available on the Councils’
websites.



Forest Heath « St Edmundsbury

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE West S uﬁo‘n‘(

DECISION MAKING PROTOCOL :
working together

The Development Control Committee usually sits once a month. The meeting is open
to the general public and there are opportunities for members of the public to speak
to the Committee prior to the debate.

Decision Making Protocol
This protocol sets out our normal practice for decision making on development control
applications at Development Control Committee. It covers those circumstances where
the officer recommendation for approval or refusal is to be deferred, altered or
overturned. The protocol is based on the desirability of clarity and consistency in
decision making and of minimising financial and reputational risk, and requires
decisions to be based on material planning considerations and that conditions meet
the tests of Circular 11/95: "The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions." This
protocol recognises and accepts that, on occasions, it may be advisable or necessary
to defer determination of an application or for a recommendation to be amended and
consequently for conditions or refusal reasons to be added, deleted or altered in any
one of the circumstances below.

e« Where an application is to be deferred, to facilitate further information or

negotiation or at an applicant's request.

e Where a recommendation is to be altered as the result of consultation or
negotiation:

o The presenting Officer will clearly state the condition and its reason or
the refusal reason to be added/deleted/altered, together with the
material planning basis for that change.

o In making any proposal to accept the Officer recommendation, a Member
will clearly state whether the amended recommendation is proposed as
stated, or whether the original recommendation in the agenda papers is
proposed.

e Where a Member wishes to alter a recommendation:
o In making a proposal, the Member will clearly state the condition and its
reason or the refusal reason to be added/deleted/altered, together with
the material planning basis for that change.

o In the interest of clarity and accuracy and for the minutes, the presenting
officer will restate the amendment before the final vote is taken.

o Members can choose to

» delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Head of Planning
and Regulatory Services;

» delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Head of Planning
and Regulatory Services following consultation with the Chair and
Vice Chair(s) of Development Control Committee.



e Where Development Control Committee wishes to overturn a recommendation
and the decision is considered to be significant in terms of overall impact; harm
to the planning policy framework, having sought advice from the Head of
Planning and Regulatory Services and the Head of Legal and Democratic
Services (or Officers attending Committee on their behalf)

o A final decision on the application will be deferred to allow associated
risks to be clarified and conditions/refusal reasons to be properly drafted.

o An additional officer report will be prepared and presented to the next
Development Control Committee detailing the likely policy, financial and
reputational etc risks resultant from overturning a recommendation, and
also setting out the likely conditions (with reasons) or refusal reasons.
This report should follow the Council’s standard risk assessment practice
and content.

o In making a decision to overturn a recommendation, Members will clearly
state the material planning reason(s) why an alternative decision is being
made, and which will be minuted for clarity.

e In all other cases, where Development Control Committee wishes to overturn a
recommendation:

o Members will clearly state the material planning reason(s) why an
alternative decision is being made, and which will be minuted for clarity.

o In making a proposal, the Member will clearly state the condition and its
reason or the refusal reason to be added/deleted/altered, together with
the material planning basis for that change.

o Members can choose to
» delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Head of Planning
and Regulatory Services
» delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Head of Planning
and Regulatory Services following consultation with the Chair and
Vice Chair(s) of Development Control Committee

¢ Member Training
o In order to ensure robust decision-making all members of Development
Control Committee are required to attend annual Development Control
training.

Notes

Planning Services (Development Control) maintains a catalogue of 'standard
conditions' for use in determining applications and seeks to comply with Circular
11/95 "The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions."

Members/Officers should have proper regard to probity considerations and relevant
codes of conduct and best practice when considering and determining applications.



Agenda

Procedural Matters

Part 1 — Public

Apologies for Absence
Substitutes

Minutes 1-6

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 4 January 2017
(copy attached).

Planning Application DC/16/1758/FUL - Land North of 7 - 28
Lodge Farm, Skeltons Drove, Beck Row

Report No: DEV/FH/17/004

Change of use of land to provide 10 pitches for traveller families
(each pitch to include 1 mobile home, 1 travelling van and 1 day
room)

Planning Application DC/16/1145/FUL - 50 The Street, 29 - 40
Gazeley

Report No: DEV/FH/17 /005

(i) 4 dwellings and ancillary outbuildings (following
demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings)
(i) Improvements to existing vehicular access
Planning Application DC/15/2577 /FUL - Kentford Lodge, 41 - 76

Herringswell Road, Kentford
Report No: DEV/FH/17 /006

(i) Proposed Development of 22 no. dwellings
(including 9 no. affordable dwellings) and garages
(ii) Creation of a new access onto Herringswell Road and

the upgrading of an existing access onto
Herringswell Road

(iii) Provision of amenity space and associated
infrastructure, following the demolition of an office,
residential annex and stables



Planning Application DC/14/2042/FUL - Land North of
Broom Road, Covey Way and Maidscross Hill, Lakenheath

Report No: DEV/FH/17 /007

Residential development of up to 110 dwellings, as amended

Planning Application DC/16/0723/FUL - 35 Kingsway,
Mildenhall

Report No: DEV/FH/17/008

Dwelling adjoining No. 35 Kingsway

77 - 156

157 - 168



Agenda Iltem 3

Development i
Control
Committee

Minutes of a meeting of the Development Control Committee held on
Wednesday 4 January 2017 at 6.00 pm at the Council Chamber, District
Offices, College Heath Road, Mildenhall, IP28 7EY

Present: Councillors
Chairman Rona Burt

Vice Chairman Chris Barker
Andrew Appleby Stephen Edwards
David Bowman Brian Harvey
Ruth Bowman Carol Lynch
Louis Busuttil David Palmer
Simon Cole Peter Ridgwell

Roger Dicker

In attendance:
Ruth Allen (Severals Ward Member) (in relation to Minute No. 198)

194. Chairman's Announcement
Prior to the consideration of the items on the agenda, the Chairman informed
all members of the public in attendance that they were present in order to
listen to the discussion and did not have the right to address the meeting.
They were not to cause a disturbance or interrupt and, if necessary, anyone
making a disturbance could be asked to leave.

195. Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies for absence.
Councillor Louise Marston was unable to attend the meeting.

196. Substitutes
There were no substitutes present at the meeting.

197. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 December 2016 were unanimously
accepted as a correct record and were signed by the Chairman.

Page 1 DEV.FH.04.01.17



198.

Planning Application DC/16/0465/FUL - Plots 9-11 St Leger Drive,
Newmarket (Report No: DEV/FH/17/001)

Application for single storey B2/B8 industrial units and associated external
works (Resubmission of Planning Application DC/14/2218/FUL).

Prior to the commencement of the consideration of this application, the Case
Officer explained that the incorrect version of the block plan had been
submitted with the agenda papers. However, Members of the Committee had
now been provided with the correct version and the agenda papers on the
website had also been updated.

The application was referred to the Development Control Committee as the
Office recommendation of approval, was contrary to the views of Newmarket
Town Council. This was also a major application which had generated
significant local interest.

Newmarket Town Council, the District Council Ward Member and local
residents (which included 60 letters of objection) had raised various
objections to the application, as set out on pages 12 and 13 of the agenda
papers.

The Case Officer also explained that Planning Application DC/14/2218/FUL
had been the subject of an appeal for the refusal of planning permission for a
B2/B8 warehouse and distribution centre on the site. This appeal had been
dismissed and the Inspector’'s decision was a significant material
consideration in the determination of this revised application.

The Case Officer also provided the following updates which had been
received, following the publication of the agenda papers:

1. An additional letter of objection had been received which raised the
following issues:-
- A loading bay would cause a noise nuisance, particularly to Nos. 30
to 36 and 77 to 81 Studlands Park Avenue.
- Accoustic barriers could be more effective if built across the loading
area itself.

2. A letter, accompanied by a photograph, had been addressed to all
Members. Members were also in receipt of the Officer response, which
corrected several unsubstantiated accusations and defamatory
comments and clarified the planning process, in respect of the building
of Plot 8.

Officers were recommending that the application be approved, as set out in
paragraph 44. of Report No: DEV/FH/17/001.

Councillor Ruth Allen (Member for the Severals Ward) was in attendance to
speak on this application. Councillor Allen explained the local opposition to
this proposal and the concerns that the amended plans still remained a gross
overdevelopment of the site and was out of keeping with the character of the
other units in the area. These amended proposals would still not resolve the

Page 2 DEV.FH.04.01.17



loss of natural light, restricted views, increased noise for local residents and
domination of the whole of the landscape.

It was moved and duly seconded that the application be REFUSED,
CONTRARY TO THE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION, for the following
reasons:

1. Contrary to Policy DM2.
2. Be out of keeping with the character of the area.
3. Proposed buildings were disproportionate in height.

With the motion for refusal being put to the vote and with 6 voting for the
motion and with 7 voting against, the Chairman declared the motion lost.

It was then moved and duly seconded that the application be GRANTED, as
set out in paragraph 44. of the report. With the motion for approval being
put to the vote and with 7 voting for the motion and with 6 voting against, it
was resolved that

Planning permission be GRANTED, subject to the following conditions:

1. 003 year time limit.

2. In accordance with approved plans.

3. Implementation of a programme of archaeological works.

4, Hours of construction (08:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday; 08:00 to
13:30 Saturday).

5. No external generators used outside normal working hours.

6. Notification of the Local Planning Authority for any extended concrete
pouring outside agreed hours of construction.

7. Scheme of dust mitigation to be submitted and agreed.

8. No security lights erected on site without prior approval of the Council.

9. Noise levels restricted to 34dB (A) LA90 (1 hour daytime 07:00 -

23:00) at the boundary of the nearest residential property (that being -
10dB(A) below the daytime background noise levels measured as 44
dB(A) LA90 (1 hour daytime 07:00 — 23:00 hours) in noise assessment
SA-3418/rv.01) and;

10. Shall not exceed 25.7dB (A) LA90 (15 minute night time 23:00-07:00)
at the facade of the nearest residential property (that being -10dB (A)
below the night time background noise levels measured as 35.7dB (A)
LA90 (15 minutes night time 23:00 - 07:00 hours) in noise assessment
SA-3418/rv.01.).

11. An acoustic screen as specified in noise assessment SA-3418/rv.01
shall be installed, prior to the development being brought into use.

12. Prior to the development being brought into use, details of the
operational hours of deliveries and working on site shall be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

13. No deliveries shall be dispatched until a delivery method statement is
provided detailing times of operation in the service yard including the
use of roll cages has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Page 3 DEV.FH.04.01.17



199.

14. The use and movement of roll cages within the service yard shall take
place between the hours of 08:00 to 19:00 Mondays to Fridays and at
no other times unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority.

15. The light intrusion of the external lighting of the premises shall not
exceed 10 lux between the hours of 07:00 to 23:00 and 2 lux between
the hours of 23:00 to 07:00 at the fagade of any neighbouring
residential property. The main beam angle of all lights of the premises
shall not be more than 70 degrees. Details of the proposed lighting to
achieve this condition shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority
for approval in writing. (The applicant may wish to refer to the ILP’s
‘Guidance notes for the reduction of obtrusive light GN01:2011).

16. Details of refuse/bin storage to be agreed.

17. Parking and manoeuvring areas to be provided before first use.

18. Foul water drainage scheme to be agreed.

19. Permitted Development rights removed for additional floor area
(including mezzanine level).

20. Use restricted to B2 and B8 use only.

21. Development shall be implemented and operated in accordance with
the Travel Plan.

Speakers: Gail Spoore (Resident) spoke against the application.
Councillor Andy Drummond (Newmarket Town Council) spoke
against the application.

Planning Application DC/15/2120/FUL- Kininvie, Fordham Road,
Newmarket (Report No: DEV/FH/17/002)

Application for the erection of retirement living housing for the elderly (29no.
units), part one and a half/part two and a half storey/part single storeys,
including communal facilities, landscaping and car parking (demolition of
existing buildings), as amended.

This planning application was first referred to the Development Control
Committee on 1 June 2016. Members had expressed concerns regarding the
impact of the development on its surroundings and resolved that they
intended to refuse planning permission. Members did not determine the
planning application, but deferred their final decision to the following meeting
on 6 July 2016 to enable a risk assessment to be considered, in advance of
the determination.

At the Development Control Committee on 6 July 2016, Members resolved to
grant planning permission, subject to prior completion of a S106 Agreement
to secure off-site affordable housing contributions. The Committee resolved
for delegated authority to be given to Officers to negotiate and agree an
appropriate level of affordable housing contribution, in the light of a viability
claim that had been presented by the Applicants.

The Case Officer reported that it had not been possible to agree an

appropriate affordable housing contribution with the Applicant and,
consequently, had not been able to complete a S106 Agreement. The

Page 4 DEV.FH.04.01.17



Applicants had indicated that they were no longer willing to discuss viability
matters as they could not foresee agreement being reached and had
effectively required that the Council determined the planning application,
based on their current affordable housing offer (which included a minor
upwards adjustment, which represented approximately 5.5% affordable
housing provision, set against the Council’s policy target of 30%).

Officers were of the view that the proposals were contrary to the
Development Plan with respect to the affordable housing provision, given that
it had not been satisfactorily demonstrated that the scheme could not be
viably delivered. Officers considered that there were no material
considerations in favour of the proposals that would outweigh the need to
deliver a policy compliant level of affordable housing from a development of
this site. This included any perceived need for specialist ‘retirement’ housing
in the District, which in any case, would be significantly and demonstrably
outweighed by the need to provide for the well documented and evidenced
need for affordable homes.

Therefore, whilst the proposed scheme remained acceptable in all other
material respects, Officers were recommending that planning permission be
refused, given the absence of a policy compliant contribution towards
affordable housing provision being secured from the scheme (the proposed
reasons for refusal were set out in paragraph 22. of Report No:
DEV/FH/17/002).

With the vote being unanimous, it was resolved that
Planning permission be REFUSED, for the following reasons:

1. The proposals for the erection of 29 retirement dwellings is contrary to
national planning policies in the NPPF. The proposals are also contrary
to the provisions of Policy CS9 of the Forest Heath Core Strategy
(2010) and its supporting ‘Joint Affordable Housing Supplementary
Planning Document’. The aforementioned Development Plan policies
require new housing developments of this scale to provide 30% of the
total number of proposed dwellings as affordable housing on site, or if
agreed, an equivalent cash contribution to enable affordable housing
requirements to be provided off-site. In this case, the applicants’ have
offered an off-site affordable housing contribution equivalent to circa
5.5% and have claimed any enhanced provision would render the
development unviable and undeliverable. The Council does not agree
with the viability appraisal submitted in support of the planning
application and, having sought independent professional advice,
considers the scheme can deliver a policy compliant level of affordable
housing, both when considering market conditions at the date of the
viability appraisal (March 2016) and in current housing market
conditions.

Page 5 DEV.FH.04.01.17



200. Planning Application DC/16/2444/HH - 2 Wells Court, Mildenhall
(Report No: DEV/FH/16/003)

Application for:

(i)  Two storey front extension; and

(i) Side extension to existing detached garage to form workshop/home
office.

The application was referred to the Development Control Committee because
the applicant was an employee of the Council.

Mildenhall Parish Council had supported the application. A neighbouring
property had also made comments in support of the application.

Officers were recommending that the application be approved, as set out in
paragraph 19. of Report No: DEV/FH/17/003.

With the vote being unanimous, it was resolved that
Planning permission be GRANTED, subject to the following conditions:

1. Standard Time Limit.
2. Approved Plans.

The Meeting concluded at 6.55 pm

Signed by:

Chairman

Page 6 DEV.FH.04.01.17



Agenda Item 4

- - - DEVELOPMENT
Forest Heath District Council CONTROL COMMITTEE

1 FEBRUARY 2017

Report of the Head of Planning and Growth DEV/FH/16/004

PLANNING APPLICATION DC/16/1758/FUL — LAND NORTH OF LODGE FARM,
SKELTONS DROVE, BECK ROW

Synopsis:

Application under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and associated matters.

CONTACT OFFICER

Case Officer: Charles Judson
Email: charles.judson@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Telephone: (01638) 719267

Page 7



mailto:charles.judson@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Committee Report

Date 07.10.2016 Expiry Date: 06.01.217
Registered: 08.02.2017 (extended)
Case Charles Judson Recommendation: Refuse

Officer:

Parish: Beck Row Ward: Eriswell and The Rows
Proposal: Planning Application DC/16/1758/FUL - Change of use of land to

provide 10 pitches for traveller families (each pitch to include 1
mobile home, 1 travelling van and 1 day room)

Site: Land North of Lodge Farm, Skeltons Drove, Beck Row
Applicant: Mr R Oakley
Background:

This application is referred to the Development Control Committee as
it is a major application which the Parish Council support, however,
the Officer recommendation is for REFUSAL.

Proposal:

1. Planning permission is sought for the change of use of the application site
to provide 10 pitches for traveller families. Each pitch would include
space for 1 mobile home, 1 travelling van and 1 day room. The day room
would be a red brick building with a pantile pitch roof to provide a family
room, utility room and bathroom to each pitch.

2. Access would be via the south west of the site on to the unadopted
Skeltons Drove and a new driveway would extend the length of the
southern boundary. Pitches would be subdivided by 1.8m high close
boarded fencing and picket fencing to the front and soft landscaping and
fencing to site boundaries.

Application Supporting Material:

3. Information submitted with the application as follows:
e Location, layout and block plan

Flood risk assessment

Amended flood risk assessment

Design and access statement

Personal character references

Page 8



e Land contamination report
e Biodiversity checklist
e Schedule of intended occupants

Site Details:

4.

The site is situated to the north of Beck Row accessed via an unadopted
track known as Skeltons Drove. It is located within the open countryside
for the purposes of planning policy and is in agricultural use. The site is
bounded to the west, south and east sides by drainage ditches and a
mature tree belt and security fencing to the north. Land use in the
vicinity is primarily agricultural but the land to the north is an unused
military site described as a bomb dump and contains a number of unused
single storey flat roof buildings.

Planning History:

5.

No relevant history

Consultations:

6.

Highway Authority: The site is over 1km from the nearest highway access
points (on Rookery Drove and The Street) on the unadopted Skelton’s
Drove. Each pitch has parking space for at least 2 vehicles plus a touring
caravan. It is not anticipated that the traffic generated by the site would
lead to road safety or congestion issues at the highway access points.
Therefore the Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the granting of
permission due to negligible impact on the highway.

Strategic Housing Team: Unable to support this application as under the
new definition for Gypsy and Traveller there is currently no requirement
for any additional pitches in Forest Heath. The Gypsy and Traveller Needs
Assessment (GTNA) 2016 however has caveated a potential need for up to
8 additional pitches but this is classified as ‘unknown’ within the definition
and will be for the LPA to determine whether this application meets the
‘unknown’ need.

Further comments following additional information:

In light of the letter to identify where the need for these proposed pitches
is arising from and who would be occupying the site, the Strategic
Housing Team is now able to support this planning application based on
the fact it demonstrates that the family meet the new definition and could
fall into the ‘unknown’ category in the new GTNA.

Further comments following additional information:

Although the Strategic Housing Team support this scheme in principal, we
believe the applicant has failed to submit enough information/evidence to
prove that they meet the new definition for Gypsy and Travellers (Gypsy

and Travellers Needs Assessment 2016) within the ‘unknown’ category on

Page 9



the following points highlighted in bold below;

a) Whether they previously led a nomadic habit of life = I note
evidence has been submitted for the Oakley family, however, no
evidence has been submitted for the Nunns, Barhams and
Macdonalds.

b) The reasons for ceasing their nomadic habit of life — we accept that
they have provided enough information to demonstrate why they
have currently ceased their nomadic habit of life.

C) Whether there is an intention of living a nomadic habit of life in the
future, and if so, how soon and in what circumstances - No
information has been provided to demonstrate when and in what
capacity the families intend to start living a nomadic habit of life in
the future.

As I mentioned before, under the new definition for Gypsy and Travellers
(Gypsy and Travellers Needs Assessment (GTNA) 2016) there is currently
no requirement for any additional pitches in Forest Heath. The GTNA 2016
however, has caveated a potential need for up to 8 additional pitches
classified as ‘unknown’ within the definition and will be for the Local
Planning Authority to determine whether this application meets the
‘unknown’ need.

8. Design Out Crime Officer: Identifies the requirements of Policy DM2 to
produce designs and layouts which are safe and take account of crime
prevention, community safety and public health and DM22 which seeks to
create a safe and welcoming environment.

9. Environmental Health (contaminated land): The application is supported
by a Desk Study and Risk Assessment which includes a summary of the
current and previous uses of the site and surrounding area, identifying the
adjacent military land use. The risk assessment considered there to
generally be a low risk and the report concludes that the site is suitable
for the intended end use. Intrusive investigations are considered not
necessary. The service agrees with the findings of the report and does
not require any further information. An advice note is suggested.

10.Natural England: No comment.

11.Mildenhall Internal Drainage Board: The application site is within the
Mildenhall Internal Drainage District and is adjacent to the Board’s
Catchwater Main Drain. No works can take place, structure built or
planting undertaken within 9 metres of the Board’s Main Drain without
prior consent of the Board. The application states that surface water will
be disposed of via soakaways. Provided that the soakaways form an
effective means of surface water disposal in this area, the Board will not
object to this application. If soakaways are found not to be an effective
means of surface water disposal the Board must be re-consulted in this
matter. The Board’s system has no residual capacity. If soakaways are
not proven to work, then water will have to be balanced on site before
discharging into the Main River. The Board will only accept a Greenfield
run-off rate of 1.11/s/ha. Any discharge would require the consent of the

Page 10



board. The piping of the ditch to form an access will also require the
consent of this Board. The track to the site is owned by the Board, so the
owner of the site will need the Board’s agreement to use the track.

12. Suffolk Fire and Rescue: Access to buildings must meet with the building
Regulations. The nearest fire hydrant to the site is over 420m from the
proposed build and we therefore recommend that consideration be given
to providing additional water for firefighting.

13._Suffolk County Council (Schools Infrastructure): Due to the scale and
nature of the proposed development Suffolk County Council will not be
seeking infrastructure contributions.

14. Environment Agency: We object to this application because the proposed
development falls into a flood risk vulnerability category that is
inappropriate to the Flood Zone in which the application site is located. We
recommend that the application should be refused planning permission on
this basis. The application site is within Flood Zone 3 defined by the NPPF
as having a high probability of flooding. The proposed development type
is classified as highly vulnerable in accordance with the NPPF Guidance
which makes it clear that this type of development is not compatible with
Flood Zone 3 and should not therefore be permitted. The amended Flood
Risk Assessment submitted by the applicant has referenced outlines from
the Environment Agency’s Eastern Rivers model and has interpreted that
these supersede the existing flood zones in the Flood Map for Planning.
The Flood Maps for Planning shows the extent of flooding if there were no
flood defences in place and do not consider the presence of flood defences
as they do not entirely remove the possibility of flooding as there is
always a chance of breaches occurring or defences being overtopped in
extreme circumstances.

Comments on Amended Flood Risk Assessment:

Maintain their objection based on the vulnerability of the development and
the Flood Zone in which it would be located.

Further comments:

The Flood Map for Planning does not consider the presence of flood
defences as they do not entirely remove the possibility of flooding as there
is always a chance of breaches occurring or defences being overtopped in
extreme circumstances. However, we deem the main risk to the site to be
from the network of IDB drains and given that the IDB have no objection
to the application I would suggest that we are able to remove our
objection provided that your authority are satisfied that the hazards
associated with the development can be managed for its lifetime. It is
recommended that the mitigation measures proposed in the FRA are
adhered to.

15.Suffolk County Council Flood and Water Engineer: Because the proposed
development is located on a greenfield site and is greater than or equal to
0.5ha or 10 dwellings, there needs to be a suitable scheme implemented

Page 11



for the disposal of surface water. This is to prevent increased risk of
flooding, both on and off the site due to the increase in impermeable
areas post development. No drainage strategy or hydraulic calculations
have been submitted and this is not satisfactory and there is a holding
objection until such time a detailed drainage strategy is submitted along
with a ground investigation report outlining soakage rates at the site.

16.Public Health and Housing: Public Health and Housing do not object to this
application however in accordance with the latest noise contours provided
by the MOD the proposed dwellings will be affected by noise from aircraft
using the nearby airfields. The average noise levels 72dB(A) are over a
16hr period which means that there are times when the noise is very high
due to the aircraft using afterburners to take off. This means that as a
mobile home will offer little to no attenuation of noise, the residents will
suffer loss of amenity. At take off the aircraft produce a very intensive,
although short lived, level of noise. Currently in line with information
provided by the MOD this is six times a day (07:00- 23:00hrs) with no
flights between 23:00 and 07:00hrs, therefore the loss of amenity will be
during the day and evening times. Guidance from BS8233:2014
recommends internal noise levels to be no higher than 40dB LAeq 16hr
however this only relates to buildings and not mobile homes. Some of the
legislation that we are consulted on namely the Housing Act does not
apply to caravan sites, however, the site would require a Caravan site
Licence under Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960.

Representations:

17.Parish Council: The Parish Council unanimously support this application.
It was noted that the applicant has already made improvements to this
area and if this continues it will be an enormous benefit to the village.

18.Ward Member (Councillor David Bowman; Cllr James Waters): No
comments received.

19.Neighbours comments:

66B Skeltons Drove: No objections to the proposal however we do object
to the so called access Skeltons Drove. This is not Skeltons Drove but a
private road named by locals as Bomb Dump Road, a private road. Back
in the 80s 66A/66B/68/70 Skeltons Drove paid for the rights of entry.
This entry road is still privately owned, with past expansion along this
road we have increased wear and tear plus legal rights. At least when
owned by the M.0.D. we had their policing to fall back on. We ask if this
area is to be developed, then SCC or FHDC should adopt this section of
road, make good, therefore can be policed legally by our police force. We
for see with Persimmons development more problems on this stretch of
private road in the future. For our legal protection please adopt this road,
we have mentioned this to Beck Row Parish council and your councillor
David Bowman.

Address unspecified: Write to advise that one of the applicants has or did

Page 12



have a site at Spooner Row, Wymondham where they also built and
occupied a house before purchasing land at Hallowing Crescent and selling
it after 4-6 months of occupation. It is also understood that he is in the
process of purchasing a plot of land in Hockwold to build another property.
He and his family made himself homeless from a site in Spooner Row
when it had permanent permission on that site which has permission for 8
pitches. The Environment Agency recommend refusal. Neighbour
occupants object due to the state of the access road which is unadopted
and additional traffic will cause wear. Beck Row has a large traveller
community and increasing it will result in further disquiet. Please consider
all the implications that would affect the village community if your Council
supports this development.

Policy: The following policies of the Joint Development Management Policies
Document and the Forest Heath Core Strategy 2010 have been taken into
account in the consideration of this application:

20.Joint Development Management Policies Document:
e Policy DM1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy DM2 - Creating Places
Policy DM5 - Development in the Countryside
Policy DM6 - Flooding and sustainable drainage
Policy DM13 - Landscape features
Policy DM22 - Residential design
Policy DM27 - Housing in the countryside
Policy DM46 - Parking standards

21.Forest Heath Core Strategy 2010

Policy CS2 - Natural Environment

Policy CS3 - Landscape Character and the Historic Environment
Policy CS8 - Provision for Gypsy and Travellers

Policy CS10: Sustainable Rural Communities

Other Planning Policy/Material considerations:

22. National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

23. Planning policy for Traveller Sites (2015)

24. Planning Practice Guidance; Reference ID: 7-001-20140306 - Flood Risk
and Climate Change

25. Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment (2016)

Officer Comment:

26.The issues to be considered in the determination of the application are:
e Policy Context

The need for such accommodation

Definition of gypsy and traveller

Flood risk

Noise

Landscape Impact

Highway issues

Sustainability

Page 13



Policy Context

27.At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The NPPF identifies
that there are three dimensions to sustainable development:

e Economic (contributing to building a strong, responsive and
competitive economy)

e Social (supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities); and

¢ Environmental (contributing to protecting and enhancing our
natural, built and historic environment).

28.Provision is made within the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites publication
(PPTS) for the consideration of traveller sites in rural areas and the open
countryside, but indicates that local planning authorities should strictly
limit new traveller site development in open countryside that is away from
existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the development plan.
Local planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas respect
the scale of, and do not dominate the nearest settled community, and
avoid placing an undue pressure on the local infrastructure.

29.The site is outside the development boundary and is within the open
countryside. The extent to which planning policy provides for the
proposed development, and the manner in which this application should
be considered, is set out within the later sections of this part of the report.

30.National guidance in the form of PPTS emphasises that it is the
Government’s overarching aim to ensure fair and equal treatment for
travellers, in a way that facilitates the traditional and nomadic way of life
whilst respecting the interests of the settled community. Annex 1 of the
guidance defines “gypsies and travellers” as:

Persons of nomadic habit of life, whatever their race or origin, including
such persons who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or
dependants’ educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel
temporarily, but excluding members of an organised group of travelling
show people or circus people travelling together as such”.

31. Policy H of the PPTS sets out the criteria for determining planning
applications for traveller sites. This policy emphasises the need to
determine planning applications in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise as required by planning
law. The policy lists the following issues amongst other relevant matters
when considering applications for traveller sites:

a) The existing level of local provision and need for sites - The
Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment (2016) shows that there is
currently no known requirement for any additional pitches in Forest
Heath. This study has however, caveated a potential need for up to 8
additional pitches but this is classified as ‘unknown’ within the
definition. Unknown need arises from those who have not been

Page 14



identified in the GTNA as having a need because interviews were not
able to be undertaken. The need for 8 additional pitches for ‘unknown’
households is made up of new household formation of 12 less 4 vacant
pitches on a private rental site that can be considered as available for
general occupation.

The applicant has submitted a schedule of those families intended to
occupy the pitches. This identifies that one family currently reside on
a pitch they deem to be overcrowded and four families live on pitches
which are described as temporary only. Despite officer requests, no
further information has been provided on why the pitches are
temporary and whether efforts have been undertaken to make them
permanent.

The applicant has advised that the family have been dispersed after
the closure of the "Romany Way” traveller site in Bury St Edmunds. It
is now their wish to reside as a family unit in Beck Row which the
applicant and his family have a historic connection to and would enable
children to attend school and provide access to healthcare.

b) The availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the
applicants - The applicant has stated that there are no available sites
or alternative accommodation which would allow the ten families to
live as one family unit as they propose.

c) Other personal circumstances of the applicant - The application
contains information regarding the desire to live as a family unit on a
private site which they can control. It also identifies that the applicant
and his family have a historic connection to Beck Row and that the
application would enable access to schooling and healthcare facilities in
the area.

d) That the lack of locally specific criteria used to guide the
allocation of sites in plans or which form the policy where there
is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to assess
applications that may come forward on unallocated sites - Policy
CS8 of the adopted Core Strategy sets out the locally specific criteria
against which any applications for a gypsy and traveller site should be
determined. This is considered in further detail below.

e) That they should determine applications for sites from any
traveller and not just those with local connections - This
guidance is being followed in the determination of this application,
although the applicant’s local connections are also noted.

32.Policy CS8 of the Core Strategy identifies that beyond 2011 provision for
Gypsy and Traveller sites will be made for on an annual 3% increase in
the level of overall residential pitch provision unless evidence from an up
to date GTNA dictate otherwise. Since the GTNA 2016 identifies no known
need for additional pitches no allocations are proposed in the emerging
Site Allocations Local Plan (Submission) Document. However, policy CSS8
also provides criteria for the assessment of proposals for gypsies and

Page 15



travellers where applications do come forward (as suggested in PPTS) and
the application should be assessed in accordance with these criteria.
These criteria include the proposal meeting an identified need, pitch sizes
to facilitate good quality living accommodation without overcrowding or
unnecessary sprawl, good design and mitigation for impact on visual
amenity.

33.Policy DM5 provides a criteria based approach for the consideration of new
development in the countryside and the provision of gypsy and traveller
accommodation is not listed as a type of development which would be
permitted. However, within PPTS is provision for the consideration of
gypsy and traveller sites in rural areas and the open countryside but
indicates that local planning authorities should strictly limit new traveller
site development in open countryside that is away from existing
settlements or outside areas allocated in the development plan. Local
planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas respect the
scale of, and do not dominate the nearest settled community, and avoid
placing an undue pressure on the local infrastructure.

The need for such accommodation

34.The GTNA 2016 does not identify the need for any new pitches in the
District up to 2036 but it does identify a potential need for up to eight
additional pitches classified as ‘unknown’. Information provided by the
applicant identifies that most of the families intending to occupy the
proposed pitches currently reside outside of the study area for the GTNA
and this could therefore account for why their need was not identified in
the research for the GTNA as they were not interviewed. As Policy CS8 of
the Core Strategy identifies that proposals for gypsy and traveller sites
will be considered by reference to whether the proposal meets an
identified need the applicant has been asked to demonstrate where the
need for these pitches has arisen from.

35.The applicant states that four of the families reside in temporary
accommodation in Fordham and Attleborough. One family reside on a
pitch at Sandy Park, Beck Row but consider the site to be overcrowded.
Five families are stated to reside on existing permanent pitches in
Thetford, Lakenheath and Wymondham.

36.The applicant has identified that the site is needed to secure long term
access to school with many of the families having children of school age.
Furthermore, one of the intended occupants requires access to health care
facilities with information provided to demonstrate that they have a long
term health condition. However it is considered that insufficient
information has been submitted to demonstrate that the existing
accommodation arrangements of the intended occupants fail to meet their
educational and health care needs. No information has been provided to
explain the circumstances of the temporary pitches, how long the families
are able to reside on these pitches and whether efforts have been made to
make the pitches permanent. In respect of those families living on
permanent pitches, other than one pitch being on an overcrowded site, no
information has been provided to explain why their existing

Page 16



accommodation arrangements fail to meet their needs in terms of access
to schooling and healthcare.

37.The desire for the family to live together on a private site and the benefits
that this would provide them are noted, but it is considered that the
applicant has failed to adequately demonstrate that the proposal would
meet an identified need and is in conflict with Policy CS8 of the Core
Strategy.

Definition of Gypsy and Traveller

38.The definition of Gypsy and Traveller is provided in paragraph 30 of this
report. The PPTS states that in determining whether persons are gypsies
and travellers for the purpose of planning policy, consideration should be
given to the following issues amongst other relevant matters:

a) Whether they previously led a nomadic habit of life

b) The reasons for ceasing their nomadic habit of life

c) Whether there is an intention of living a nomadic habit of life in
the future, and if so, how soon and in what circumstances.

39. The applicant has confirmed that all occupants of the site have previously
led a nomadic habit of life, and in their opinion this is evidenced by the
fact that some of the older members of the families are unable to read
and write due to moving around following work and not attending school.
It is not considered that this represents robust evidence that all of the
proposed occupants have previously led a nomadic habit of life. The
Oakleys are a family who are known locally as having a traveller
background however the circumstances of the Macdonalds, Barhams and
Nunns, also listed to occupy the site, are less well known although the
applicant has confirmed that they are of a nomadic habit of life. No
evidence however is presented of when the families last travelled and in
what capacity other than to confirm that they attend travellers fairs
around the country such as Appleby in Cumbria and Horsemans Den in
Kent.

40.The application states that the reasons for ceasing their nomadic habit of
life is both for their children to attend local schools and to attend local
health centres for long term illness with the exception of Mr and Mrs
Oakley who have retired but do not have children of school age and do
not have a requirement to access health care and instead wish to live
amongst their family. It is considered that these represent reasonable
grounds for temporarily ceasing to travel.

41.The applicants have confirmed that it is the intention of all families to
carry on a nomadic habit if life ‘as and when possible’ but has not
provided any further information under what circumstances this might be.
Given the age of some of the children intending to occupy the pitches, it is
likely that a number of the intended occupants would not continue to lead
a nomadic habit of life for at least 15 years and the occupant with long
term illness is unlikely to continue travelling again.

Page 17



42. Taking account of the above the Strategy and Enabling Officer considers
that the applicant has failed to submit enough information and evidence to
prove all the intended occupants meet the definition of gypsy and traveller
in the PPTS.

Flood Risk

43.The application site is located within Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3 as defined by
the Environment Agency’s Flood Map for Planning (FMfP). Zone 1 is
considered to have a low probability of flooding (1 in 1000 annual
probability); Zone 2 has a medium probability (between 1 in 100 and 1 in
1000 annual probability); and Zone 3 has a high probability (a 1 in 100 or
greater annual probability). The Planning Practice Guidance advises that
the use of land for caravans, mobile homes and park homes intended for
permanent residential use is a Highly Vulnerable use which should not be
permitted in Flood Zone 3. On this basis the Environment Agency
objected to the application.

44.The FMfP used by the Environment Agency (EA) does not consider the
presence of flood defences as the defences do not entirely remove the
possibility of flooding as there is always a chance of breaches occurring or
defences being overtopped in extreme circumstances. The applicants
amended Flood Risk Assessment has identified that if the flood defences
are taken in to consideration the majority of the site is protected to the 1
in 1000 year standard which is the equivalent of being in Flood Zone 1
with only a small area of land to the eastern part of the site alongside a
main drain owned by the Mildenhall Internal Drainage Board (MIDB) being
affected by flooding. They therefore argue that the presence of flood
defences should be taken in to consideration and conclude that the
application should not be refused on flood risk grounds being largely
within a Flood Zone with a low risk of flooding. Following discussion, the
EA have withdrawn their objection on the basis that the main risk to the
site would be from the MIDB drains but the MIDB have no objection.
Officers consider that the likelihood of flood defences being overtopped or
breached is low and given that the EA and MIDB raise no objection the
risk of flooding is considered low.

45.The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to apply a sequential test to
guide development to Flood Zone 1, then Zone 2 and then Zone 3. Given
that the significant majority of the site is within Flood Zone 1 it is
considered that the sequential test is passed being a site with a low
probability of flooding.

46.The Suffolk County Council Flood and Water Engineer identifies that due
to the size of the greenfield site there needs to be a suitable scheme
implemented for the disposal of surface water to prevent increased risk of
flooding both on and off the site due to the increase in impermeable areas
as a result of the development. As no drainage strategy or hydraulic
calculations have been undertaken the Flood and Water Engineer has a
holding objection. Furthermore, the MIDB requires that soakaways must
form an effective means of surface water disposal. In the absence of such
information the application is unacceptable and Members are advised that

Page 18



if they intend to approve the application then a suitable scheme for the
disposal of surface water is agreed by officers in consultation with the
Flood and Water Engineer and MIDB in advance of planning permission
being granted. In the event that a suitable scheme cannot be agreed the
matter could be reported back to Members.

Noise

47. The site is located within an area where noise associated with nearby
airfields will affect development. Average noise levels over a 16 hour
period are relatively high (72db) and if houses were to be built in the
same area they would require a high level of acoustic insulation to protect
residents. However, such standards are not possible in mobile homes and
it is considered that the residents would suffer from an unacceptable level
of residential amenity as a result of this aircraft noise. Latest information
from the Ministry of Defences identifies that aircraft flights would be 6
times a day between 07:00 - 23:00 with no flights between 23:00 -
07:00. The associated noise impact of these flights would be contrary to
policy DM2 (h) of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
2015 which seeks to not site development where its users would be
adversely affected by noise. Whilst Public Health and Housing do not
object to the application, this is because mobile homes are not covered by
the Housing Act.

Landscape Impact

48. The site is located within the open countryside and currently in
agricultural use. Whilst there are existing buildings to the north, these are
related to the former military use of the adjacent site and reflect to some
extent the character of the area given the proximity of the site to the local
airbases. To the south, east and west of the site are level fields providing
distant views across agricultural land. The introduction of mobile homes,
vehicles, day rooms, hardstanding and associated domestic paraphernalia
would have a negative landscape impact bearing in mind the open and
undeveloped character of the site and surroundings. This is exacerbated
by the size of the site. The site however is located down a private road
and some distance from any public vantage point and is not in a Special
Landscape Area. Furthermore, the visual impact could be reduced further
by the introduction of soft landscaping within and to the site boundaries
and this could be secured by condition. On balance it is considered that
the development would have a detrimental impact on the immediate
landscape but its impact on the wider landscape would not be significant.
There would therefore be some harm contrary to policy DM13 of the Joint
Development Management Policies Document.

Highways

49.The Highway Authority identify that the site is over one kilometre from the
nearest highway access points (on Rookery Drove and The Street), on the
un-adopted Skelton’s Drove. Each pitch has parking space for at least 2
vehicles plus a touring caravan. They do not anticipate that the traffic
generated by the site would lead to road safety or congestion issues at

Page 19



the highway access points and accordingly they do not wish to restrict the
granting of permission. On this basis the application is considered
acceptable in terms of highway safety.

Sustainability

50.The thread of achieving sustainable development runs through the NPPF.
The development would enable the intended occupant’s access to local
schooling and healthcare facilities, however, no information has been
presented to identify how existing accommodation arrangements are
unable to meet the educational and health care requirements of the
applicants, therefore the benefits of the proposal have not been
demonstrated in this respect. The application would enable the family to
live on one site which would have positive benefits for them compared to
their current dispersed living arrangements.

51.The PPTS identifies that in rural areas development should respect the
scale of and not dominate the nearest settled community. There are
existing gypsy and traveller pitches along Skeltons Drove at Sandy Park
and whilst the proposed development would add an additional 10 pitches
to the local supply, it is noted that the application has received the
support of the Parish Council. Beck Row is defined as a Primary Village
under policy CS1 of the Core Strategy and has a good level of existing
services including a general store, post office, public houses, a community
centre, public open spaces. The existing Primary School is at capacity and
the proposed development would increase demand on local educational
services. However, Suffolk County Council has confirmed a strategy to
increase capacity at Beck Row Primary School exists and they do not seek
any contributions towards infrastructure. Taking account of this support
from the parish Council, the lack of objection from Suffolk County Council
and the limited level of representations received from the public it is
considered that the proposal would respect the scale of the existing
settled community.

52.The application site is however over 1 kilometre from the nearest access
points on The Street and therefore a significant distance from the services
on offer at Beck Row. Bearing in mind the unmade, unlit nature of
Skeltons Drove it is considered likely that occupants of the site would be
reliant on the private car to access day to day services. This reliance on
the car would undermine the sustainability of the development in conflict
with the NPPF and policy DM2 of the Joint Development Management
Policies Document 2015.

53. Given that the benefits in terms of access to schooling and health care
compared to their existing accommodation arrangements have not been
demonstrated, the reliance of residents on the private care, the adverse
impact on the immediate landscape and the impact on amenity associated
with aircraft noise, it is considered that the benefits of allowing the
development which include enabling the family to live as one unit do not
outweigh the harm and the development is deemed to be unsustainable.

Other matters

Page 20



54.Two letters of representation have been received. One principally
concerns the state of Skeltons Drove and the need for it to be adopted
should permission be granted. The other raises concerns about the
existing accommodation arrangements of one of the intended occupants,
the condition of Skeltons Drove, the issue of flood risk and the impact of
the development on the settled community. It is not considered
necessary for Skeltons Drove to be adopted as part of this application
however the applicant would need to make appropriate arrangements with
the owner to mitigate against any additional wear and tear the
development may result in. This however would be a private matter. The
other matters raised are addressed in this report above.

Summary:

55.The application site is located within the open countryside outside of any
settlement boundary. There is no known need for additional gypsy and
traveller pitches in the District however the GTNA 2016 does identify a
potential need for 8 additional pitches although this need is defined as
‘unknown’. It is not considered that the applicant has submitted sufficient
information to demonstrate where the need for the development has
arisen from and that the existing accommodation arrangements of the
intended occupants do not meet these needs. The application therefore
represents unjustified development in the countryside contrary to policies
CS1 and CS8 of the Core Strategy and policy DM5 of the Joint
Development Management Policies Document.

56.The development would have an adverse impact on the local landscape
but the impact on the wider landscape would not be significant given the
distance of the site from public vantage points. Robust landscaping would
also help reduce the visual impact on the development. Furthermore,
whilst the site is located within Flood Zone 3, existing defences
significantly reduce the probability of flooding.

57.The application site is located sufficiently far from local services with
access provided by an unlit, unmade, track to reasonably conclude that
occupants of the site would be reliant on the private car to access day to
day services. Whilst it is accepted that securing a site for gypsy and
traveller accommodation within the settlement boundaries would prove
very difficult, bearing in mind the lack of identified need for this
development it is considered that the location of the development is
unsustainable contrary to the NPPF and policy DM2 of the of the Joint
Development Management Policies Document.

58.The site is located within an area where average noise levels over 16hrs
are 72dB(A) due to the location of the site relative to local airfields.
Mobile homes would provide a very limited degree of noise mitigation and
it is considered that occupants would suffer an unacceptable loss of
amenity due to noise pollution. The application would therefore be
contrary to policy DM2 (h) of the Joint Development Management Policies
Document.

Page 21



59.The support from the Parish Council is noted and it is accepted that the
development would enable the family to live on a private site that they
control which would provide them with personal benefits but it is not
considered that this warrants a departure from Local Plan policies bearing
in mind the lack of need and the harm identified.

Conclusion:

60.In conclusion, the principle and detail of the development is considered to
be unacceptable and in conflict with relevant development plan policies
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation:

61.It is recommended that planning permission be REFUSED for the
following reasons:

1.

The application site is located within the open countryside where
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015) seeks to strictly limit new
traveller site development. The application has failed to demonstrate
that the proposal meets an identified need and therefore represents
unjustified development in the countryside contrary to policies CS1 and
CS8 of the Forest Heath Core Strategy 2010 and policy DM5 of the
Joint Development Management Policies Document 2015.

. The applicant has failed to provide sufficient information to confirm

that the intended occupants of the proposed pitches would comply with
the definition of a Gypsy or Traveller defined in Planning Policy for
Traveller Sites (2015). Insufficient information has been given
regarding the extent to which the families have previously travelled
and how and under what circumstances the families intend on living a
nomadic habit of life in the future.

. The application site would be adversely affected by noise associated

with adjacent operational airfields to an extent that the residential
amenity of future occupants would be adversely affected, contrary to
DM2 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document 2015
and the Core Principals of the NPPF.

The erection of permanent day rooms, the installation of hardstanding
and fencing, the siting of mobile homes and vehicles and introduction
of domestic paraphernalia onto this undeveloped parcel of land would
adversely impact the immediate landscape to the detriment of the
character and appearance of the area, contrary to policies DM2 and
DM13 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document 2015,
Policy CS3 of the Forest Heath Core Strategy 2010 and the
environmental objectives of the NPPF.

. Access to the site is via an unlit and unmade track and residents of the

site would be reliant on the private car to access day to day services
and facilities, contrary to environmental sustainability objectives of the
National Planning Policy Framework and policies DM1 and DM2 of the

Page 22



Joint Development Management Policies Document 2015.

Documents:
All background documents including application forms, drawings and other
supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed online:

https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=0BOUKIPD02
MO0

Page 23


https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=OBOUKJPD02M00
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=OBOUKJPD02M00
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=OBOUKJPD02M00

This page is intentionally left blank



DC/16/1758/FUL
Land North Of Lodge Farm, Skeltons Drove, Beck Row

0 15 30 60 a0 120

N Metres

Forest Heath » St Edmundsbu
Y & Crown Copyright and database rights 2016 0%

——
100019675/100023282. “ou are not permitted to copy, Scale:1:2 500
We St S uffol k sub-license, distribute or seII % to third parties 4
in any form. Use of this data |s sUbsEct to terms and conditions. Date: 17/01/2017

WOI’kiFIg together See ww westsuffolk. gov.uk/disclaimer.cfim.




This page is intentionally left blank



NOTES:
All dimensjons must be checked on site and not
scaled from this drawing.

/’

BIOTEC BELOW GROUND
Sewage treatment plant Minitec, P6, P12, P18 & P25

Distributor

Biotec Specification

Max no. of full-time residents 6

Madet No.

Biowet

Media |
. AWTHORN  Crazaegus monogyna

_}«gne of the most familiar sights ot lowland
4% Europe, Hawthorn is typically seen as a dense

ENQ\NATE,R T0 A PPROY E—D SOAKAWAY S BLACKTHORN Prunus spinosa thorny shrub

ol EAcH PITCH

ALDER BUCKTHORN
Frangula alnis

Inlet
Blackthorn rarely forms a tree and is typically

seen as an occasional plant in a hawthorn
Alder Buckthorn is sometimes confused with hedge, or as a densely tangled thicket
Buckthorn (p. 206) but rarely grows larger
than 4 or sm and forms only a bushy small
tree

Air Lift

7z oted

Primary Zone

A
/

FouL SEWAGE FROM  MOBILES 4 DhyROOMS ThKe To
SewAGe TRENTMENT PLANT THEW ClLeby WATER TG
BISTIHG DRAIN  WITH  CousedT FROM LOCAL 1H8.

ek
usteslet
s
estisstetiy
sesies
“““““‘
A

S
/

A
o
B

5
S
9.

5
8
X
i
.
Y
X

O
XX
%

“

!

£

EXISTING  2M SECURITY FeN QG

PROPOSEN LANDSCAPIN

W

EACH PITCH  colsisTs ©OF

LAwN

! stgs
““‘ s%esigetes
“““““»““‘

(A) ™MobILE HOME  12MX &M S

\55) DAYROOM @ &M X 5.6M “”::‘:‘;"‘;“"“ FedainG BeTweed Pricdes ' e

© TorwG YA G M 5 24M DROPPILG TO PICKET FedCe T FRONT Date | Revisions S
g 3; FKU"‘l MOoRiLe T0 ;’QON;“I © copyright

Grahame Seaton Design Limited

PR4POSED FENCE £ AW D SCAPING h Y — - Design & Planning Consultant
; jﬁmﬂﬁ = dom New Bhild Domestic & Commerdial

. @ usiug INDIGENDUS sPecigg L
.‘,. _{)ﬁo Y - @ “:“‘:;“:““““_‘:““‘ -\, L L o PICKET  FENCE N ;7 lith et:;’; Ro(ad, Upwell, Wisbech, Cambs PE14 9EJ
e JRete e T . ) ' T elephone/Fax (01945) 772632 Mobile (07799) §33359
”/“,5 {‘%@&ﬁﬁ ; ‘-,‘.‘;'e!"‘ N FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT [ ” 8 Email: \gas@grahameseaton.co.uk ) )
&l 5 0 Feden~G  To FROWT # PART T1DE Directgrs: G A Seaton M.B.Eng. ACIOB B
Y LN /// 100 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ¥ difetod
v {‘; %?‘ / /_,/-'/ ' 10.1  As aresult of the assessment, the following conclusions have been reached:- 5
Z -
\ ~ <K : The proposed development is not ina Functional Floodplain as defined
\ ~( < by NPPF. It is located in the Passive floodplain of the River Lark and
\ within Flood Zones 1 & 2 in an area benefiting from defences.
.\ < ’ PROPOSED ACCESY ROAD . Although the site is located within a Internal Drainage Board 1.2m Post and Rail Fence 10 A
\ catchment with a minimum standard of drainage of 1 in 50 years, this U Al jG zmn
R _ accords with Defra guidelines for rural development. Freeboard of -V LU0
PROPOSED TREE PLANTI lJC; \ \ ) 900mm to lowest land level is available for events greater than
T4 LA '> SCAPE D AKE A > \ N\ 1 in 50 years providing further storage within the drainage channels.
\ A . Floor levels of the caravans will be raised 600mm above existing
- ground levels and securely anchored. 9
\ : : Client
v . Surface water drainage from the development will be by soakaway fvl R . R. OAKLE ,7/
ACC £SS oxl T PiPE % FiLe DRAW | drainage to BRE365 design and Building Regulations approval. / 4 GREANFIELD PARK,
v \ \ AT Accesy PogT . Any development within 9.00m of the Catchwater Main drain on the g:ﬁgg;e rg ;{:g;?‘ggg x::goe SPOdNERS RAAD, \WyMowd HaM NRIS 976
sKeLToNS  DRoveE To_FewD srthcstem bl of he devlopmat e vl i Lo Seaton, 67 1 Peter Ro%, Job Title
‘ \ Y . l:’pwell, with the permission of
EEL CONSULT ANCY the controlier of H.M
\ %/ ' GEGEES Stationary Office. Crown C_ HAKN GE OF USE oF LP‘I\]D
60 \ — = X;pyright License number =
‘ v aT oL WATE =T 10 170
ANCY | [ 5 . To| 1O Pr7ades FOR,
T deen TG —————
. e - ; ; : : L
e | g g : TRAVELLER F AMILIES
RLOCK PLAN  SCALE | : 5QD B — AT e
! s
= : O GBO0j @ - A VIR S R SRR
4 e : ! ng Title
‘ ‘ 3000
il 279000 n =N\
L O = | CATION & BLOCK PL#«J
i — aiasersc) 3°?vf— | : ‘
R—— = = —— - _._7\‘.6"_..-,74.
PLAN THE
SCALE | [00
!
| — S S
= T T T \ unniiiniinnm e < >~
' { RN Z NERE a HEEN 1 ' »
; l:i "(l\\ l“‘! ’ ! J11‘[i¢'l'\ / Scale
. | . ,- =3 e _ / l|: 2500 1:500
— il == : — . = =L e 4 & g 2
o ! 4:‘ e - g ‘ i — '\ Date
— = —— : = | < .
T = s —-————. ‘_—_——- = —— = J >~— ) G; |
—— 4 = o = =——S = % : Beck Row
: - o o - s - 2 : s o - — =
- : T T P AR a S R R S . 278800 —= ,\%} I\ — : : — R —
EHD eLeVAT Iy <D elevaTiod END E LQ.VP\TW‘K SIbe ¢t L E\/ATIQ’J Plot centre co-ondinates: 568609,278933 e v .
1 f ’
0 10 20 40 60 3] 100

. L.oc_pc'nod PLAN  SCALE |: 7500

A PRODUCT OF THE UNO RANGE-ARCHITECT CAT. No 7311
594 x 841 nm A1




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

DEVELOPMENT
CONTROL
COMMITTEE

Forest Heath District Council

1 FEBRUARY 2017

DEV/FH/17/005

Report of the Head of Planning and Growth

PLANNING APPLICATION DC/16/1145/FUL - 50 THE STREET, GAZELEY

Synopsis:

Application under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and associated matters.

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the Committee determine the attached application
and associated matters.

CONTACT OFFICER

Case Officer: Gary Hancox
Email: Gary.Hancox@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Telephone: (01638) 719258

Page 29



mailto:Gary.Hancox@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Committee Report

Date 01/06/2016 Expiry Date: 27/07/2016
Registered:
Case Gary Hancox Recommendation: Approve
Officer:
Parish: Gazeley Ward: Iceni
Proposal: Planning Application DC/16/1145/FUL:
(i) 4 dwellings and ancillary outbuildings (following
demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings)
(ii) Improvements to existing vehicular access
Site: 50 The Street, Gazeley
Applicant: Logan Homes Ltd.
Background:

This application
following consideration by the Delegation Panel. The application is
recommended for APPROVAL.

is referred to the Development Control Committee

A Member site visit is due to take place on 30 January 2017.

Proposal:

1.

Planning permission is sought for the development of 4 new detached
dwellings following the demolition of the existing dwelling and outbuildings
on the site.

. The existing access to the property would be upgraded to accommodate

the proposed dwellings.

Application Supporting Material:

3.

Information submitted with the application as follows:

Archaeological written scheme of investigation

Tree Survey

Ecological Appraisal

Bat Survey

Design and Access Statement
Topographical Survey

Page 30



e Plans and Elevations
e Landscaping Plans
e Sijte Sections

Site Details:

4. The site is situated towards the centre of the village of Gazeley, close to
the junction of Mill Road. The site is within the settlement boundary and
outside any Conservation Area (the village of Gazeley not having a
Conservation Area). The site is in an area containing some historic
buildings, although there are no Listed buildings adjoining the site. The
existing dwelling on the site is in a very poor state of repair, and was last
occupied in 2015. The building is historic and was formerly a public house.
It is faced in flint with brick quoins and brick window detailing with clay
pan tiles to the roof.

5. The character and appearance of the dwellings in the area is varied,
however adjacent to the site properties are generally two-storey
linked/detached in ample sized plots.

6. The site itself extends to some 0.3 hectares rising gently from north-east
to south-west. Trees to the rear of the site are protected by an area TPO.

Planning History:
7. The site benefits from an outline planning permission for 4 dwellings (with

the retention of the existing dwelling and its conversion to two dwellings)
- DC/14/0527/0UT refers.

Consultations:

8. Highway Authority: No objection subject to appropriate conditions.

9. Environment Agency: No objection.

10.SCC Archaeology: No objection subject to a condition to allow the
recording of, and advance understanding of the significance of any
heritage asset before it is damaged or destroyed.

11.Public Health and Housing: No objection.

12.Ecology, Tree and Landscape Officer: No objection subject to appropriate

conditions ensuring development accords with the suggested mitigation
set out in the submitted Arboricultural and Bat Surveys.

Representations:

13.Parish Council: Gazeley Parish Council has considered the above
application and, whilst in favour of the development of the site in
principle, would like to make the following comments:

Page 31



'‘The Parish Council supported an earlier approved application in 2014
which did not involve demolition of the original dwelling. The original plan
was to renovate the building and divide it into two properties. The Parish
Council questions the need for complete demolition of the house which,
although not a listed building, has significant local interest as a former
public house and which blends in perfectly with several other dwellings in
the village.

If permission is given to go ahead and demolish the house however, then
the Parish Council requests that consideration is given to facing both plots
1 and 2 with brick and flint to match the neighbouring properties and to
give a similar appearance to the existing building. It is felt that the
current plan to construct plot 2 with a different material will jar badly with
the surrounding area given it's prominence directly facing Moulton Road.’

Policy:

14.The following policies of the Joint Development Management Policies
Document and the Forest Heath Core Strategy (2010) have been taken
into account in the consideration of this application:

15.Joint Development Management Policies Document:
e Policy DM1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
e Policy DM2 Creating Places Development Principles and Local

Distinctiveness

Policy DM13 Landscape Features

Policy DM17 Conservation Areas

Policy DM20 Archaeology

Policy DM22 Residential Design

Policy DM44 Rights of Way

Policy DM46 Parking Standards

16.Forest Heath Core Strategy (2010):
e Policy CS1 Spatial Strategy
e Policy CS3 Landscape Character and the Historic Environment
e Policy CS5 Design and Local Distinctiveness
e Policy CS7 Overall Housing Provision

Other Planning Policy:
17. National Planning Policy Framework (2012)
Officer Comment:

18. The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application
are:

- Principle of development

- Impact on the character and appearance of the area
- Impact on trees

- Amenity

- Highway impact

Page 32



Principle of Development

19.The application site lies within the settlement boundary of Gazeley which
is classified under Core Strategy Policy CS1 as a ‘secondary village’. These
villages have limited services and can therefore accommodate limited
growth. The principle of a small scale development within the settlement
boundary is acceptable, and is in line with the existing outline permission
on the site for 4 new dwellings.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

20.The proposal differs from the previous consent on the site in that the
existing period building (50 the Street) is proposed to be demolished and
replaced with a pair of semi-detached dwellings of a scale and appearance
sympathetic to the existing building and that of the other more historic
dwellings in the area.

21.The proposal also involves the sub-division of rear garden land, and the
development of two 2-storey dwellings, again of a more traditional
appearance.

22.0n initial inspection of the existing dwelling to be demolished, it was
considered that the building merited retention as a non-designated
heritage asset, due to its age and its historical link to the village with its
former use as a public house. However, following further discussion with
Historic England, it was concluded that the building was not worthy of
preservation as a listed building. Whilst the applicants have agreed to
consider the possibility of retaining the existing building and converting it
into two dwellings, there is no mechanism available to prevent its
demolition, should that prove to be the most viable solution to developing
the site.

23.The concerns of the Parish Council in respect of the appearance of plot 2
are noted, and consideration has been given to facing both plots 1 and 2
with brick and flint as requested. However, the applicants consider that
the design of plot 1 & 2 seeks to suggest a chronology of architectural
styles and hierarchy, and that the proposal draws upon the simple modest
cottages adjacent (with red brick and flint infilling) and also that of the
larger gault brick dwellings directly opposite Plot 2 on the other side of the
road. Further street scene drawings and details of the distribution of
external facing and roofing materials around the proposal site has been
submitted to support this approach. Taking this into account, it is felt that
the proposed replacement dwellings are sympathetic to the scale, form
and materials of the existing building, and would maintain the character
and appearance of the street scene in accordance with Policy DM2.

24.The proposed dwellings to the rear of the site will be two-storey and of a
traditional form with a Georgian design influence. The overall scale and
appearance of the dwellings would not be out of keeping with the mixed
development in the village, and will have minimal impact on the street

Page 33



scene and the character of the area.

25.0verall, the design, layout and impacts on the character and appearance
of the area are acceptable and the development accords with Policies DM2
and DM22 in this regard.

Impact on Trees

26.The trees to the rear of the property are protected by TPO 002(2014). The
tree preservation order was made because the trees form an attractive
backdrop to the built development and as such contribute to the amenity
of the locality. The order was required to ensure that the trees were
retained and protected whilst the property is developed and into the
future.

27.The application proposals do include the removal of some of the protected
trees, however considering the condition of some of the trees and the
level of replacement planting proposed, the Ecologist, Landscape and Tree
Officer raises no objection to the proposals from a tree and landscape
perspective. The recommendations set out in the arboricultural report can
be required by condition. The application is considered to accord with
Policies CS3, DM2 and DM13 in this regard.

Amenity

28.The two dwellings to the street frontage maintain the residential amenity
currently afforded to no. 52 The Street. The dwellings to the rear of the
site maintain adequate separation distances to the neighbouring property
‘Tigh Willow’ to the north of the site. Additional section drawings have
been submitted indicating that the dwelling to dwelling distance will be
18.5 metres, and due to the orientation of Tigh Willow, there would be no
direct window to window impact, minimising any potential for overlooking
issues to arise. The adjacent land to the east of the site benefits from
planning permission (allowed at appeal) for 20 dwellings, however the
proposed dwellings would not directly overlook this site and would not
have an impact on the development of these dwellings.

29.0verall, the application is considered to have due regard to existing
amenity levels of adjoining dwellings and the design and layout of the
scheme accords with DM22 in this regard.

Highway Impact

30.The amended scheme proposes satisfactory off-street parking to serve the
dwellings, as well as on site turning and visibility splays. Whilst there
would be an increase in traffic movements within a residential
environment, this is not likely to be significant or detrimental to
residential amenity. The Local Highway Authority raises no objection to
the revised scheme which is not considered to give rise to highway safety
issues.

Page 34



Other Matters

31.In respect of ecology on the site, evidence of bats was found in the
existing dwelling, most likely Common Pipistrelles using the building as a
roost. A European Protected Species license will be required prior to the
implementation of any permission. Mitigation includes the provision of bat
boxes, and this can be required by condition.

32.The site is located within the historic core of Gazeley 100m northeast of
the medieval church. There is therefore high potential for encountering
medieval, and possibly earlier, occupation deposits at this location. The
proposed development would cause significant ground disturbance that
has potential to damage any archaeological deposits that exist. However,
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (Paragraph
141), any permission granted should be the subject of a planning
condition to record and advance understanding of the significance of any
heritage asset before it is damaged or destroyed. A suitable condition can
be applied in this instance.

Conclusion:

33.In conclusion, the principle and detail of the development is considered to
be acceptable and in compliance with relevant development plan policies
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation:

34.1t is recommended that planning permission be APPROVED subject to the
following conditions:

1. 3 year time limit

2. In accordance with approved plans (inc. Bat Survey and Arboricultural
survey)

3. Materials

4. Permitted Development rights removed - extensions / new openings
(plots 3 and 4)

5. Restrict construction hours

6. Archaeological investigation & Post Investigation Assessment

7. Details of footway across the frontage of the site to be submitted and
agreed (pre-commencement)

8. Vehicular access in accordance with approved plans

9. Access surface material to be agreed

10.Details of bin storage to be provided

11.Surface water drainage to be agreed

12.Parking, turning details and secure cycle storage areas to be submitted
and approved

13.Visibility splays in accordance with agreed details

14.Landscaping in accordance with submitted plans

15.Details of boundary treatment to be submitted and agreed

16.Implementation of recommendations of arboricultural report

Page 35



17.Implementation of recommendations of bat survey

Documents:
All background documents including application forms, drawings and other
supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed online:

https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=081Q00PD04Z
00

Page 36


https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=O81Q0OPD04Z00
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=O81Q0OPD04Z00
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=O81Q0OPD04Z00

DC/16/1145/FUL

50 The Street, Gazeley

Blossoms

O

Cherry Tree

Vicarage

The Coach

0 510 20 30 40

—

II___"—_ Metres

1:1,250

Date: 18/01/2017

Scale

r‘%?mitted to copy,
is data to third parties

o
o
in any form. Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions.

e

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2016 OS
P

100019675/100023282]
sub-license, distribute

- ——————————

West Suffolk

working together See www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/disclaimer.cfm.

Forest Heath « St Edmundsbury




This page is intentionally left blank



6¢ abed

SCHEDULE OF ACCOMMODATION

PLOT 1 -4 BEDROOM (TWO STOREY) — DOUBLE GARAGE/ BIKE STORE + 2 PARKING SPACES
PLOT 2 — 4 BEDROOM (TWO-STOREY) - DOUBLE GARAGE/ BIKE STORE + 2 PARKING SPACES
PLOT 3 — 4 BEDROOM (TWO-STOREY) — DOUBLE GARAGE/ BIKE STORE + 3 PARKING SPACES

PLOT 4 — 4 BEDROOM (TWO-STOREY) — DOUBLE GARAGE/ BIKE STORE + 3 PARKING SPACES

—-
S
W,

tNy S
— -
.—‘

e

+_
Moulfol |
\ NEW 1600 WID&
\PUBL{C FOOTPAT
\
| y
_l__

ACCESS

IMPROVED \

\

L |

ety

£

PROPOSED SITE PLAN 1/200

Om 20m

FOR SPECIFIC INFORMATION/ DETAILS OF EXISTING/ PROPOSED

TREE & HEDGE WORKS REFER TO MESSRS HAYDENS LTD REPORT

B-UPDATED - 10/09/16

A -INFO ADDED - 30/05/16

dean jay pearce

architectural design & planning Itd
2/ 3 Milestone, Hall Street, Long Melford
Sudbury, Suffolk, CO10 9HZ
T:01787-378797  E: dean.pearce@live.co.uk

Project:

Proposed residential development of 4 no. two-storey
dwellings (following demolition of existing dwelling),
associated ancillary out-buildings and alterations to
existing vehicular access.

Site Address:

50, The Street, Gazeley, Newmarket, CB8 8RB
Applicant:

Logan Homes Ltd

Drawing title:

Proposed Site Plan

scale: 1:200 drg no: rev:
date:  05/2016

heakads? 16/59/02 |B

Do not scale this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. Contractor to set out all of
the works prior to commencement and report any omissions / discrepancies
immediately. Scales shown on this drawing are at A1 sheet size.

This drawing & information are Copyright. ©




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

DEVELOPMENT
CONTROL
COMMITTEE

Forest Heath District Council

1 FEBRUARY 2017

DEV/FH/17/006

Report of the Head of Planning and Growth

PLANNING APPLICATION DC/15/2577/FUL - KENTFORD LODGE,
HERRINGSWELL ROAD, KENTFORD

Synopsis:

Application under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and associated matters.

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the Committee determine the attached application
and associated matters.

CONTACT OFFICER

Case Officer: Sarah Drane
Email: Sarah.Drane@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Telephone: (01638) 719432

Page 41



mailto:Sarah.Drane@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Committee Report

Date 13.01.2016 Expiry Date: 13.04.2016 (extended
Registered: to 6.2.2017)

Case Sarah Drane Recommendation: Approve

Officer:

Parish: Kentford Ward: South

Proposal: Planning Application DC/15/2577/FUL - (i) Proposed Development

of 22 no. dwellings (including 9 no. affordable dwellings) and
garages (ii) Creation of a new access onto Herringswell Road and
the upgrading of an existing access onto Herringswell Road (iii)
Provision of amenity space and associated infrastructure, following
the demolition of an office, residential annex and stables

Site: Kentford Lodge, Herringswell Road, Kentford
Applicant: Kentford Developments Ltd (Promoter)
Background:

This application is referred to the Development Control Committee as
it is a major application and the Parish Council object, contrary to the
Officer recommendation of APPROVAL.

A site visit is due to take place on Monday 30 January 2017.
Proposal:

1. This application, as submitted sought permission for 22 dwelling, 9 of
which would be affordable (40%). The affordable housing is positioned
where the previously approved (under F/2013/0061HYB) office space was
proposed to the north of the site, adjacent to the A14 and is a mix of 1, 2
and 3 bed units.

2. Access remains as previously approved under F/2013/0061HYB, off
Herringswell Road. In relation to the market housing, 6 of the 13 plots are
accessed from a separate access off Herringswell Rd which would also
serve Kentford Lodge. The other 7 are accessed off the main access into
the site (and adjoining site approved under F/2013/0061HYB). Plots 11,
12 and 13 immediately to the north of Kentford Lodge would replace the
existing estate office and stable buildings. The market dwellings are a mix
of 3, 4 and 5 bed units and have sufficient parking for at least 2 spaces.
Out of the 13 market homes, 4 of these were previously approved under
F/2013/0061HYB (as the site area overlaps).

Page 42



3. The scheme has been amended twice since submission.
Firstly as follows (August 2016):

Reduction in number of market homes by 1 (now 12 market and 9
affordable - 21 in total)

Only 1 plot in front of Kentford Lodge, creating a landscaped
approach to Kentford Lodge. This better separates Kentford Lodge
from the rest of the development. The remainder of the dwellings
are now served off the main access into the site

The stables and estate office buildings are now being retained and
converted/extended to create 2 separate dwellings (plots 11 and
12)

Plots 2 - 9 have been reconfigured in the style of converted
farmhouse, barns and rural cottages and are separated from plot 1
and Kentford Lodge by substantial new landscaping.

The design of affordable housing plot 7 has been amended, as well
as the related access to these units to improve security. The car
parking configuration has also been changed to gain an additional
space (18 spaces for 9 units).

Secondly as follows (December 2016):

Affordable housing plot A1 has been changed from 3 to 4 bed. One
additional parking space has also been added (19 spaces for 9
units).

The landscape plan and tree survey have been updated to reflect
the last lot of amendments

The Flood risk assessment and drainage assessment has also been
updated to reflect all changes.

Application Supporting Material:

4,

The following documents were submitted to support this application when
it was registered:

Forms and drawings

Planning, Design & Access Statement
Heritage report

Noise Assessment

Ecology report

Cannon Consulting Transport Strategy
Envirocheck report

Arboricultural Impact Assessment.
Landscape Strategy plan

Statement of Community Involvement
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Assessment
Draft Proposed Heads of Terms Document

Site Details:

. The site is located close to the centre of Kentford, to the north of Bury

Road and west of Herringswell Road and covers an area of approx. 1.6
hectares. It is currently land associated with Kentford Lodge (garden,

Page 43



paddocks etc) and lies outside of the defined settlement boundary for
Kentford.

6. The site is currently accessed off Herringswell Road. Kentford Lodge also
has a private access off Bury Road. To the north is the landscaped
embankment to the Al4. To the east is Herringswell Road and further
residential properties. To the south are various styles and ages of
property fronting onto Bury Road. Further to the west is the residential
redevelopment approved under F/2013/0061/HYB and is currently under
construction. The proposed development would share the access with the
adjoining site.

7. The site benefits from significant screening along all of its boundaries.
Kentford Lodge benefits from an extensive landscape setting with a mix of
open fields/paddocks as well as wooded areas.

8. Kentford has a range of basic local services and facilities, which is the
reason it has been designated as a Primary Village in Core Strategy Policy
CS1. These include a post office and convenience store, two public houses
(The Kentford and The Bell), St Marys Church and employment areas at
the eastern and western ends of the village.

Planning History:

9. F/2013/0061/HYB - Hybrid application: Full application - erection of 98
dwellings and garages (including 30 affordable dwellings), creation of a
new access onto Herringswell Road and upgrading of existing accesses
onto Herringswell Road and Bury Road, the provision of amenity space
and associated infrastructure. Outline application - erection of up to 579
square metres of B1 office employment space. (Major Development,
Departure from the Development Plan and Development Affecting the
Setting of a Listed Building) as amended by plans received on 05.09.2013
reducing the number of dwellings to 60 (inc. 18 affordable). - approved

Consultations:
10.Public Health & Housing - No objection subject to conditions

Environmental Health (Contamination) - No objection subject to
standard contaminated land condition

Suffolk Fire & Rescue - No objection - offer Building Regs advice and
request a condition to secure fire hydrant

Suffolk County Council Archaeological Service - No objection subject
to conditions

Strategic Housing Officer - initially raised concern over location of
affordable housing adjacent to adjoining site’s affordable housing
(approved under F/2013/0061/HYB) leading to a cluster of 27 such
homes. This is contrary to the advice contained with the Affordable
Housing SPD which seeks to create balanced and mixed communities.
Concern is also raised over lack of smaller market houses for first time

Page 44



buyers or those on lower incomes. However, following amendments to the
scheme, the following final comments were made:

'The Strategic Housing Team supports the above application in principle as
it exceeds our CS9 policy of delivering 30% affordable housing. The
affordable housing mix agreed will be delivered at our required tenure of
70% affordable rent and 30% shared ownership. The affordable housing
units also meet the required minimum space standards set by our local
Registered Providers.

This development will help contribute to the growing need for more
affordable housing within the district of Forest Heath.”’

Environment Agency - Site located above Principal Aquifer, but proposal
not considered to be high risk.

Historic England - recommend the application be determined in
accordance with national and local policy guidance and specialist
conservation advice

Highways England - No objection
Natural England - No objection
Anglian Water - No objection

Suffolk County Council Flood and Water Management - a nhumber of
queries raised in relation to original submission, however, following
submission of amended details, no objection subject to a condition to
secure a detailed surface water drainage scheme.

Suffolk County Council Highways - No objection subject to conditions

Conservation Officer - raised concerns about original submission -
backward step following amendments made and approval given under
F/2013/0061/HYB.

Suffolk County Council Development Contributions Manager - The
development triggers the following infrastructure requirements:

e Primary school provision (Moulton) - £60,905

e Pre-school provision - £12,182

Planning Policy -

23.02.2016:

‘The following key points can be taken from the above policy and
background evidence context;

- The Council has demonstrated an up to date five year supply of
housing land;

- The new application would increase the total number of homes on
the site from 60 to 78, which is at the higher range of the number of
dwellings that would be considered to have a ‘significant impact’ on the
village (ICEA study, 2009);

- If this application were to be approved, the 579sgm of office space

Page 45



approved under application F/2013/0061HYB would not be built, losing an
economically sustainable element of the scheme;

- The application site lies outside the settlement boundary and within
the countryside when assessed against the 1995 Local Plan. It falls partly
outside the settlement boundary when assessed against the emerging Site
Allocations Preferred Options Local Plan (although it is recognised that
while this plan indicates the council’s preferred direction of growth, this
plan is at Regulation 18 stage and therefore carries limited weight);

- The application extends into an area of open countryside which is
excluded from the settlement boundary in the 1995 Plan and in the
emerging 2016 Site Allocations Preferred Options Local Plan, to ensure the
continued protection of the setting of Kentford Lodge and the character
and setting of the landscape within which it lies;

- The application could be considered premature as it has been
submitted before the Core Strategy Single Issue Review and Site
Allocations Local Plan have determined final housing numbers and
distribution within the district.

To conclude, it will be for the case officer to balance the above planning
issues particularly the number of recent commitments and completions in
the village and the potential harm this may cause, with the requirement of
the NPPF to deliver sustainable development.’

14.11.2016:
Additional comments made:
‘- In the determination of F/2013/0061HYB the provision of

employment uses had a positive impact on the overall planning balance
and the application may not have been approved without it.

- The conversion of the estate office needs to be justified under
policies CS6 and DM30.

- Benefits include the delivery of 9 affordable houses, benefits to the
economy / construction industry from the development of new homes and
to local business from the new households.

To conclude, it will be for the case officer to balance the above planning
issues particularly the loss of employment land and buildings with the
suggested benefits of the scheme and requirement of the NPPF to deliver
sustainable development.’

13.01.2017:

‘The applicants reference an appeal decision at Breach Drove in Beck Row
in their letter dated 20th December 2016. Here the inspector concluded
that the Council had not demonstrated that it had a 5 year housing
supply. The Inspector has relied upon the Core Strategy housing
provision rather than the OAN in making the calculation, which the Council
do not consider is the appropriate approach. Neither does the Council
consider it necessary to address the shortfall from 2001, as the SHMA
takes a fresh assessment of need at 2011, thereby only shortfall from
2011 onwards would need to be addressed under the Sedgefield
approach. The SHMA 2016 has regard to previous housing delivery rates
and makes adjustments accordingly. The SHMA OAN for Forest Heath is
6800 dwellings, which is the appropriate figure to use in the 5 year supply

Page 46



calculation.

This appeal decision is inconsistent with two other appeal decisions which
accept that the 5 year supply has been demonstrated (March 2016);
Meddler Stud, Kentford and Hatchfield Farm, Newmarket. All three appeal
decisions cite the 5 year supply report dated March 2016.

A new 5 year supply report dated 22 December 2016 has since been
published, which is based on housing commitments and completions as at
31st March 2016. This demonstrates the Council has a 6.4 year supply of
housing land, including a 5% buffer (Liverpool approach) and 5.7 years
when addressing the under supply in the first five years (Sedgefield
approach).

The applicants also state ‘The presence of a five year supply is still not a
reason to object to this planning application when the development plan is
out of date’ however a recent case at the court of appeal (Gladman
Developments Limited v Daventry District Council & Anr. Case Number:
C1/2015/435) clarified that local plan policies are not "time-limited" and
were not necessarily out of date or inconsistent with the NPPF just
because they were adopted in the 1990's.’

Suffolk Constabulary - make design suggestions to improve overall
standard of security

Suffolk Wildlife Trust - No objection - request the recommendations
within the Ecology Report are implemented in full

Ecology Tree & Landscape Officer - ‘Trees: The proposals include the
removal of a number of B category trees to accommodate the
development; in particular the avenue of lime trees forming the entrance
to the site and a group of silver maples and plane tree. Given the already
significant reduction of trees on this site, retention would have been
beneficial given the contribution these trees could make to the amenity of
the new environment.

Tree protection measures implemented, tree surgery undertaken as
detailed in the Schedule of Trees and a detailed Arboricultural Method
Statement & Tree Protection Plan should be submitted all as
recommended in the arb report - secured by condition.

The landscape strategy shown on plan 1486A201C lacks detail and
substance. The open space is not indicated on the plan - there is no
informal supervision of this space and the intended use is questioned - it
would be better to leave some of the existing trees?

If the application is to be approved, a full soft landscaping scheme to be
provided prior to commencement.

Biodiversity - a condition is required in relation to the need for a bat
licence as follows:

Page 47



The following works: demolition of the Estate Office, and felling of
category 2 trees likely to cause harm to bats and as identified in figure
2.1, 2.3 and photo 1 of the biodiversity survey and as shown on the
demolition plan 012037SK01shall not in any circumstances commence
unless the local planning authority has been provided with either:

a) a licence issued by [the relevant licensing body] pursuant to Regulation
53 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
authorizing the specified activity/development to go ahead; or

b) a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body to the effect
that it does not consider that the specified activity/development will
require a licence.

The recommendations of the biodiversity report should also be
conditioned, details of integrated swift brick and bat boxes to be
submitted prior to commencement.

Natural England has confirmed in their letter of 26 January 2016 that
although the site is just over 1km away from Breckland Farmland SSSI, it
is separated by large transport links that would put residents off visiting
the site and we were satisfied with the conclusions of the 2013 HRA which
found that development in this location would not be likely to significantly
affect Breckland SPA.’

Economic Development - ‘Amended plans received on 15th August
2016 made changes to the above scheme including the loss of the
579sgm of office space approved under application F/2013/0061HYB. This
application would see both the loss of this employment land and the
existing estate office on a site identified in the Site Allocations Local Plan
Preferred Options (April 2016) as a mixed use allocation for 60 dwellings
and B1 office use.

The Forest Heath Employment Land Review, Final Report, October 2016
noted that:

o Office space within Forest Heath district is concentrated in and
around Newmarket, Mildenhall and Kentford, with Kentford providing
16.9% of the current office space within Forest Heath.

o At another site in Kenford [Site EM2(h) Land south of Bury Road,
Landwades Business Park] the ELR noted that:

The site is characterised by low vacancy rates and the wide range of
floorspace offering would appear to be meeting a local market demand.

o In regards to the site of the application, the ELR noted that, the
presence of a local bus stop also helps to increase the viability of the site
for office use.

The ELR estimated that there was around 0.1ha of extant planning
permission for B class development (comprising the planning permission
put forward in 2013 F/2013/0061HYB) which appeared proportionate to
the scale of demand that is likely to arise.

Therefore the loss of office use proposed in this application could create a
shortfall in supply and inability to meet local market demand. It will be
for the case officer to balance the above economic development issues,
particularly the loss of employment land, and the suggested benefits of
the scheme.’

Page 48



Representations:

11.Kentford Parish Council - having initially offered comments in support,
they then raised objections following amended plans:

'There must be no more houses approved in Kentford until the impact
of the already approved housing developments has been assessed. In
addition the change of plan removes the vital employment
opportunities which was part of the original plans. We are concerned
that this removal of employment opportunities is becoming a standard
ploy as in the Kennett Park development.

Following the latest amendments, they make the following comments:
'The PC repeats its concern that the recent approval of further local
developments has increased future pressures on the infrastructure of
the village. This makes it more challenging to support what has been a
very village friendly project. We do however remain respectful of the
way the developers are working with the village.

It is vital in the new plans that great regard is given to the landscaping
which impacts on the existing houses on Herringswell road. In
addition, there must be careful consideration given to the impact on
local roads, including the junction with Bury Road. The Parish Council
would like an opportunity to work with the developers in every way
possible to continue to enhance village life. These possibilities could
include helping to develop a woodland walk along the river, an
information board explaining the Anglo-Saxon finds, enhancing play
provision in the village, and supporting extra traffic calming.’

The only other comments received are from the owners of Regal
Cottage - they would like to be reassured that the tall trees at the end
of their garden would remain and a new taller fence installed to
prevent overlooking from the development.

Policy:

12.The Development Plan comprises the policies set out in the Joint
Development Management Policies document (adopted February 2015),
the Core Strategy Development Plan document (adopted May 2010) and
the saved policies of the Forest Heath Local Plan (adopted 1995) and
which have not been replaced by policies from the two later plans. The
following policies are applicable to the proposal:

Joint Development Management Policies Document (2015)

13.The following policies from the Joint Development Management Policies
document are considered relevant to this planning application:

DM1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
DM2 - Development Principles and Local Distinctiveness
DM5 - Development in the Countryside

DM6 - Flooding and Sustainable Drainage

DM7 - Sustainable Design and Construction

Page 49



e DM10 - Impact of Development on Sites of Biodiversity and
Geodiversity Importance.

e DM11 - Protected Species

e DM12 - Mitigation, Enhancement, Management and Monitoring of
Biodiversity.

e DM13 - Landscape Features

DM14 - Protecting and Enhancing Natural Resources, Minimising

Pollution and Safeguarding from Hazards.

DM20 - Archaeology

DM22 - Residential Design

DM27 - Housing in the Countryside

DM42 - Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities

DM46 - Parking Standards

Core Strategy (2010)

14.The Core Strategy was the subject of a successful legal challenge
following adoption. Various parts of the plan were affected by the High
Court decision, with Policies CS1 CS7 and CS13 being partially quashed
(sections deleted) and section 3.6 deleted in its entirety. Reference is
made to the following Core Strategy policies, in their rationalised form.

Visions

e Vision 1 - Forest Heath

Spatial Objectives

Spatial Objective H1 - Housing provision

e Spatial Objective H2 - Housing mix and design standard

Spatial Objective H3 - Suitable housing and facilities (life time
homes)

Spatial Objective C2 - Provision and maintenance of open space, play
& sports facilities and access to the countryside.

e Spatial Objective C4 - Historic built environment.

Spatial Objective ENV1 - Habitats and landscapes and improving

biodiversity.

Spatial Objective ENV2 - Climate change and reduction of carbon
emissions.

Spatial Objective ENV3 - Promotion of renewable energy and energy
efficiency.

Spatial Objective ENV4 - Design and architectural quality respecting
local distinctiveness.

Spatial Objective ENV5 - Designing out crime and anti-social
behavior

Spatial Objective ENV6 - Reduction of waste to landfill.

Spatial Objective ENV7 - Achieve sustainable communities by

ensuring services and infrastructure are commensurate with new
development.

Spatial Objective T1 - Location of new development where there are
opportunities for sustainable travel.

Page 50



Policies

¢ Policy CS1 - Spatial Strategy

e Policy CS2 - Natural Environment

e Policy CS3 - Landscape Character and the Historic Environment

e Policy CS4 - Reduce Emissions, Mitigate and Adapt to future Climate
Change.

e Policy CS5 - Design Quality and Local Distinctiveness

¢ Policy CS6 - Sustainable Economic Development and Tourism

e Policy CS7 - Overall Housing Provision (Sub-paragraph 1 only. Sub
paragraphs 2, 3, 4 and 5 were quashed by the High Court Order)

¢ Policy CS9 - Affordable Housing Provision

e Policy CS10 - Sustainable Rural Communities

e Policy CS13 - Infrastructure and Developer Contributions

Local Plan (1995)

15.A list of extant ‘saved’ policies is provided at Appendix A of the adopted
Core Strategy (2010) and of those ‘saved’ policies subsequently replaced
upon the Council’s adoption of the Joint Development Management
Policies Document (2015) are set out at Appendix B of that document.

e Policy 14.1 - Securing Infrastructure and Community Facilities from
Major New Developments.

e Inset Map 11 (Kentford Development Boundary)
Other Planning Policy:

Supplementary Planning Documents

16.The following Supplementary Planning Documents are relevant to this
planning application:

e Joint Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document
(September 2013)

e Open Space, Sport and Recreation Supplementary Planning
Document (August 2011)

Emerging Development Plan Policy

17.The Council is presently out to consultation on Proposed Submission
version for two Development Plan Documents (Single Issue Review of the
Core Strategy and Site Allocations Document). Following further
amendments to the document, informed in part by the outcome of public
consultation, draft plans will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for
examination and, ultimately, adoption. The plans, once adopted, will set
out policies for the distribution of housing development in the District
throughout the remainder of the plan period and positively allocate sites
for development, including for housing.

Page 51



18.With regard to the weight decision makers should afford to emerging
plans, The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) advises
(at Annex 1) from the day of publication, decision-takers may give weight
to relevant policies emerging plans (unless material indications indicate
otherwise) according to:

e The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced
the preparation, the greater weight that may be given)

e The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant
policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater
weight that may be given); and

e The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging
plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater weight that may
be given.

19.The emerging Single Issue Review and Site Allocations documents have
reached ‘Proposed Submission’ stage but, given the consultation period
has only just begun, these emerging documents can be attributed only
limited weight given the uncertainties that surround the content of the
‘final’ version of these documents. Members should note that, for the
purposes of public consultation for the Site Allocations Document, the
application site is not included as a Preferred Option for development.
However, the northern half of the site falls within the revised settlement
boundary within the Proposed Submission version (following the approval
and implementation of the residential part of F/2013/0061/HYB).

National Policy and Guidance

20.The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) sets out
government's planning policies for England and how these are expected to
be applied.

21.Paragraph 14 of the Framework identifies the principle objective:
“At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development, which should be
seen as a golden thread running through both plan-making and
decision-taking. For decision taking this means:

e Approving development proposals that accord with the development
plan without delay; and

e Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies
are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this framework taken as a whole;

- or specific policies in this framework indicate development should

Page 52



be restricted.”

22.This presumption in favour of sustainable development is further
reinforced by advice relating to decision-taking. Paragraph 186 of the
Framework requires Local Planning Authorities to "approach decision
taking in a positive way to foster the delivery of sustainable
development". Paragraph 187 states that Local Planning Authorities
"should look for solutions rather than problems, and decision takers at
every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable
development where possible".

23.The relevant policies of the Framework are discussed below in the officer
comment section of this report.

24.The Government released its National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
in March 2014 following a comprehensive exercise to review and
consolidate all existing planning guidance into one accessible, web-based
resource. The guidance (which is constantly updated on-line) assists with
interpretation about various planning issues and advises on best practice
and planning process.

Officer Comment:
Principle of Development

National Policy context and Forest Heath’s 5-year housing supply.

25.Paragraph 47 to the Framework states that to boost significantly the
supply of housing, local planning authorities should use their evidence
base to ensure that their Local Plan meets the full, objectively assessed
needs for market and affordable housing in the housing market area (as
far as is consistent with policy), including identifying key sites which are
critical to the delivery of the housing strategy over the plan period.

26.In addition, the Framework requires authorities to identify and update
annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide five-
years worth of housing against their housing requirements with an
additional buffer of 5% (or a 20% buffer if there is evidence of a
persistent under-delivery of new housing) to ensure choice and
competition in the market for land.

27.Paragraph 49 of the Framework states "Housing applications should be
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable
development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be
considered up to date if the Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate
a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites".

28.The surviving extant elements of Core Strategy policy CS7 requires the
provision of 6,400 new dwellings in the period 2001 - 2021 and a further
3,700 homes in the period 2021 - 2031. The housing numbers included in
the plan is presently the subject of review as part of the emerging Single
Issue Review document.

Page 53



29.The latest 5-year housing supply assessment confirms the Council is
presently able to demonstrate a 5-year supply of deliverable housing
sites. Members will note that 4 of the 21 dwellings proposed by this
planning application are included in current five-year supply forecasts as
these were previously approved under F/2013/0061/HYB.

What is sustainable development?

30.The policies in paragraphs 18 to 219 of the Framework, taken as a whole,
constitute the Government’s view of what sustainable development means
in practice for the planning system. It goes on to explain there are three
dimensions to sustainable development:

i) Economic (contributing to building a strong, responsive and
competitive economy),

ii) Social (supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities) and,

iii) Environmental (contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural,
built and historic environment;)

31.The Framework explains (paragraph 9) that in order to achieve
sustainable development, economic, social and environmental gains
should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning system.
It is Government policy that the planning system should play an active
role in guiding development to sustainable solutions.

32.Paragraph 9 of the Framework further explains that pursuing sustainable
development involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the
built, natural and historic environment, as well as in people’s quality of
life, including (but not limited to):
e making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages;

e moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for
nature;

e improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take
leisure; and

e widening the choice of high quality homes.

Development Plan policy context

33.The surviving elements of Core Strategy policy CS7 provides for 11,100
dwellings and associated infrastructure in the plan period (2001 - 2031)
and confirms development will be phased to ensure appropriate
infrastructure is provided. Policy CS13 confirms the release of land for
development will be dependent on there being sufficient capacity in the
existing local infrastructure to meet the additional requirements from
development.

34.Policy DM1 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document re-

Page 54



affirms the tests set out at paragraph 17 of the NPPF (balancing the
positives against the negatives). Policies DM5 and DM27 set out criteria
against which development (DM5) and housing (DM27) proposals in the
countryside will be considered.

Officer comment on the principle of development

35.The application site is situated outside the present settlement boundary of
the village and is thus situated in the Countryside for the purposes of
interpreting planning policy. The detailed settlement boundaries were set
out in the 1995 Local Plan as Inset Maps. Local Plan policies providing for
settlement boundaries (namely policies 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and, indirectly, the
Inset Maps of the 1995 Local Plan) were replaced by policy CS1 of the
Core Strategy upon adoption in 2010. Policy CS1 (and other Core Strategy
policies), refer to settlement boundaries, but the document itself does not
define them. Settlement boundaries are included on the Policies Map
accompanying the Joint Development Management Policies Document
(2015) and thus do have Development Plan status. The settlement
boundaries are illustrated at a large scale on the Policies Map such that it
is difficult to establish their detailed alignment. The settlement boundaries
included on the Policies Map were not reviewed prior to adoption of the
Joint Development Management Policies Document and thus have not
been altered from the 1995 Local Plan Inset Maps. Accordingly, it is
reasonable to read the Policies Map and Local Plan Inset Maps together to
establish the precise locations of the settlement boundaries.

36.Core Strategy policy CS10 confirms the settlement boundaries will be
reviewed as part of the emerging Site Allocations Development Plan
Document. That said, the ‘Proposed Submission’ version of the Site
Allocations Local Plan extends the settlement boundary at Kentford to
include part of the application site (following approval of F/2013/001/HYB)
but only limited weight can be attributed to this emerging position at the
present time. Officers consider the requirement in Core Strategy CS10,
combined with the fact that settlement boundaries and policies
underpinning them, have not been reviewed since the introduction of the
NPPF means the current settlement boundaries are to be afforded reduced
weight (but are not to be overlooked altogether) in considering planning
applications until the review within the Site Allocations Plan progresses
and can be attributed greater weight.

37.A key determining factor will be whether the proposed development can
be deemed ‘sustainable’ in the context of the policies contained in the
Framework (as a whole) and even if it is concluded the proposals would
not be ‘unsustainable’ following analysis, further consideration must be
given to whether the benefits of development are considered to outweigh
its dis-benefits, as required by the Framework. Appropriate weight should
be attributed to relevant policies in the Core Strategy, with greater weight
attributed to those policies consistent with national policies set out in the
Framework.

38.A balancing analysis is carried out towards the end of this section of the
report as part of concluding comments. An officer discussion to assist with

Page 55



Members consideration of whether the development proposed by this
planning application is ‘sustainable’ development is set out below on an
issue by issue basis.

Impact upon the countryside

39.The Framework confirms the planning system should (inter alia) protect
and enhance ‘valued landscapes’ and promotes development of previously
used land but other than continuing protection of formal Greenbelt
designations (of which there are none in Forest Heath) and recognising
the hierarchy of graded agricultural land, national policy stops short of
seeking to protect the ‘countryside’ from new development in a general
sense.

40.Core Strategy Policies CS2 and CS3 seek to protect, conserve and (where
possible) enhance the quality, character and local distinctiveness of the
landscape and refers to the Forest Heath Landscape Character
Assessment to inform detailed assessment of individual proposals.

41.Policy DM13 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
seeks to protect the landscape character (including sensitive landscapes)
from the potentially adverse impacts of development. The policy seeks
proportionate consideration of landscape impacts and calls for the
submission of new landscaping where appropriate.

42.The proposals for residential development in the countryside are thus
contrary to extant Development Plan policies which seek to direct such
development to locations within defined settlement boundaries or
allocated sites. As stated above, the settlement boundaries are to be
afforded reduced weight in considering this planning application.

43.The impact of the development proposals upon the landscape qualities
and character of the wider countryside is largely mitigated by existing
mature planting on site boundaries, including the roadside boundary to
Herringswell Road and the Al4. The impact of the proposed development
upon the landscape is, on balance, considered acceptable with any
significant adverse effects capable of mitigation via the introduction of
new landscaping. Details of proposals for the landscaping of the site are
shown on the Landscape Strategy plan, the details of which can be
secured by condition.

Sustainable transportation (accessibility) and impact upon the local
highway network (highway safety).

44.The Framework confirms that the transport system needs to be balanced
in favour of sustainable transport modes giving people a real choice about
how they travel. There is, however, recognition that opportunities to
maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary from urban to rural
areas.

45.1t is Government policy that planning decisions should ensure
developments that generate significant movement are located where the

Page 56



need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable modes of
transport can be maximised. However, the Framework confirms this policy
needs to take account of other policies in the document, particularly in
rural areas.

46.The Framework confirms that development should only be prevented or

refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of
development are severe. It goes on to state that planning decisions
should ensure developments that generate significant movement are
located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of
sustainable transport modes can be maximised recognising that this needs
to take account of policies set out elsewhere in the Framework,
particularly in rural areas.

47.Core Strategy Spatial Policy T1 aims to ensure that new development is

located where there are the best opportunities for sustainable travel and
the least dependency on car travel. This is reflected in Policies CS12 and
CS13 which confirms the District Council will work with the partners
(including developers) to secure necessary transport infrastructure and
sustainable transport measures and ensure that access and safety
concerns are resolved in all developments.

48.Policy DM46 sets out parking standards for new development proposals

(and links to Suffolk County Council’s adopted standards (November
2014)).

49.The Highways Authority have considered the Transport Strategy

submitted with the application. As amended, the development proposed
meets all the required standards. The main access into the site remains as
previously approved under F/2013/0061/HYB. No objections are therefore
raised, subject to a number of conditions. Whilst noting the comments of
the Parish Council in relation to traffic calming, the impact of the proposed
modest development of 21 dwellings upon the highways network is
considered acceptable.

Impact upon natural heritage

50.The Framework confirms the planning system should contribute to and

51

enhance the natural environment by (inter alia) minimising impacts on
biodiversity and providing net gains where possible. The Framework states
that protection of designated sites should be commensurate with the
status of the site, recognising the hierarchy of international, national and
local designations. The presumption in favour of sustainable development
set out at paragraph 14 of the Framework does not apply where
development requires appropriate assessment under the Birds or Habitats
Directives.

.Spatial Objective ENV1 of the Core Strategy aims to conserve and

enhance the habitats and landscapes of international, national and local
importance and improve the rich biodiversity of the District. This objective
forms the basis of Core Strategy policy CS2 which sets out in greater
detail how this objective will be implemented.

Page 57



52.

53.

54.

55.

Policy DM10 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
sets out more detailed provisions with respect to the impact of
development upon sites of biodiversity and geodiversity importance.
Among other things, the policy introduces (in a local policy sense) the
need to consider cumulative impacts upon these interests. Policy DM11
addresses proposals that would have an impact upon protected species.
Policy DM12 sets out requirements for mitigation, enhancement,
management and monitoring of biodiversity. The policy states that all new
development (excluding minor householder applications) shown to
contribute to recreational disturbance and visitor pressure within the
Breckland SPA and SAC will be required to make appropriate contributions
through S106 Agreements towards management projects and/or
monitoring of visitor pressure and urban effects on key biodiversity sites.

Policy DM44 states improvements to rights of way will be sought in
association with new development to enable new or improved links to be
created within the settlement, between settlements, and/or providing
access to the countryside or green infrastructure sites as appropriate.

Impact upon internationally designated sites

The site is just over 1km away from the Breckland Farmland SSSI,
however, it is separated from the site by the A14. Natural England
required a project level Habitats Regulations Assessment for the site
approved under F/2013/0061/HYB. This concluded that the development
would not have a significant adverse impact on Stone Curlew (the interest
feature the Breckland SPA). This was accepted by Natural England and
they have again confirmed that development in the proposed location
would not be likely to significantly affect the SPA.

Protected species.

The planning application was accompanied by an Ecology Report (dated
December 2015) which recommended;

e A Natural England European Protected Species (EPS) licence
should be obtained to legally enable the future demolition of the
Estate Office, and can only be obtained once full planning
permission is issued.

e Removal of any remaining Category 2 trees should take place
after they have been inspected from above ground by a licensed
bat worker working from a cherry picker. The remaining trees
and shrubs can be felled without restriction as they are not
considered to have potential to support roosting bats.

e Removal of the tall ruderal covered compost heap should take
place outside of the months of May to August to avoid potential
adverse impacts on egg-laying grass snake. Alternatively, a
reptile survey could be completed to verify grass snake absence
from the site.

e Any hedge or woodland clearance should take place outside of
the bird breeding season (March to August) to avoid adverse

Page 58



impacts on nesting birds and their dependant young, or
following a check by an experienced ornithologist that verifies
nesting bird absence from the site at other times.

e Consideration should be given to the incorporation of swift nest
bricks and enclosed bat boxes into new dwelling houses as a
biodiversity enhancement measure.

56.0fficers are satisfied that the development proposals would not adversely
affect important sites of ecological interest in the area and would not
harm populations or habitats of species which are of acknowledged
importance (protected or unprotected). The implementation of the
recommendations set out in the Ecology report could be secured by
planning condition.

Impact upon trees

57.The application site is bounded to the north, south and west by a belt of
mature trees which provides a distinctly rural character to the site. The
planting is an attractive feature, an important asset for the site and serves
to soften the visual impact of the existing village upon the countryside
beyond. The planting marks a transition between the countryside and the
urban form of the village. Officers consider it is vital that as much of the
vegetative cover as possible is retained along site boundaries as part of
these development proposals.

58.The application includes tree survey information identifying the tree
specimens that would need to be felled to make way for the development.
This information has been assessed and the loss of a number of category
B specimens is noted by the Ecology Tree & Landscape Officer. The
retention of these trees would be beneficial given the contribution these
trees could make to the amenity of the new environment. However,
substantial new landscaping is proposed within the site which would
mitigate the loss of trees. New planting can be secured by condition. The
impact of the development upon existing trees is therefore considered
acceptable.

Impact upon built heritage

59.The Framework recognises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable
resource which should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their
significance. When considering the impact of proposed development upon
the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be
given to the asset’s conservation. The term ‘heritage asset’ used in the
Framework includes designated assets such Listed buildings, Scheduled
Ancient Monuments, Registered Parks and Gardens and Conservation
Areas and also various undesignated assets including archaeological sites
and unlisted buildings which are of local historic interest.

60.The Framework advises that LPA’s should require an applicant to describe
the significance of any heritage assets affected, the level of detail being
proportionate to the importance of the asset and sufficient to understand
the potential impact upon their significance.

Page 59



61.Core Strategy Spatial Objective C4 aims to protect and enhance the
Historic Environment. This objective is implemented via Policy CS3.

62.Policy DM17 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
sets out detailed criteria against which proposals within, adjacent to or
visible from a Conservation Area will be considered. Policy DM20 sets out
criteria for development affecting Scheduled Ancient Monuments and/or
archaeological sites (including below ground sites).

63.The development proposals would not impact upon any listed buildings.
The Conservation Officer considered that the revised Heritage Statement
(2015) submitted with the current application continues to devalue the
merits of the Lodge and associated buildings (as it did at the time
application F/2013/0061/HYB was considered) and fails to recognise the
value of the rural nature of the setting of the Lodge on its eastern side.
This land was acquired in 1894 so is an established part of the curtilage
and setting of the building. Despite phases of alteration, the Lodge still
displays the characteristics of a traditional building. Whilst it may not
meet Historic England’s listing criteria, it is nevertheless an attractive
building and its architectural simplicity, which has been considered to be
detrimental to its significance, is in fact, typical of early 19" century
buildings of this type and part of its character. The fact that the stable
yard and Lodge have no inter-visibility does not diminish the significance
of the group - stable yards are frequently enclosed with no inter-visibility
with the main house.

64.The Conservation Officer goes on to note that the individual significance of
the buildings to the north of the Lodge have still not adequately assessed
in the Heritage Statement. Setting aside their individual merits, however,
the introduction of development into this part of the curtilage of the Lodge
would erode its separation from the proposed development and diminish
its established rural setting.
65.Following amendments to the scheme in order to maintain the ‘green’
approach to Kentford Lodge, the layout of the proposed development has
been changed to reduce its impact on the setting of the building. In
addition, the existing stable and office buildings which form a courtyard to
the north of Kentford Lodge are to be converted to residential use (and
not demolished as previously proposed).

66.The revised plans allow the access to Kentford Lodge from the east to still
reflect its rural location and setting. On this basis, the Conservation
Officer has no objection to the revised plans subject to a condition to
secure material details.

67.The Archaeological Service at Suffolk County Council has been consulted
on the planning application and raise no objections subject to conditions.
Further archaeological investigations and recordings can be secured by
means of appropriately worded planning conditions.

68.The development proposals would therefore have no significant impacts

Page 60



upon heritage assets.

Flood risk, drainage and pollution

69.Policies for flood risk set out in the Framework aim to steer new

development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding. The
Framework policies also seek to ensure that new development does not
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.

70.The Framework states that to prevent unacceptable risks from pollution

71

and land instability, planning decisions should ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location. It also confirms that where a
site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for
securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.

.Core Strategy Policy CS4 states the Council will support development

proposals that avoid areas of current and future flood risk and which do
not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. The policy confirms sites for
new development will be allocated in locations with the lowest risk of
flooding (Environment Agency Zone 1 flood category) and will seek the
implementation of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) into all
new development proposals, where technically feasible.

72.Policy DM6 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document

requires the submission of flood information, including SUDS drainage
where possible, to accompany planning applications for development.
Policy DM14 seeks to protect proposed development from existing
‘pollution” sources and existing development from proposed ‘pollution’
sources. This includes noise, light and air pollution. The policy also
requests the submission of information and sets out requirements for
remediation for development proposals of potentially contaminated land.

73.The application site is in Flood Zone 1 (low risk of flooding). The latest

surface water flood map does show a small area of the site to be
potentially liable to some surface water ponding. The areas of pooling
indicated within the site boundary are however relatively limited and not
considered to pose a notable threat to the proposals. The County Flood
and Water Management team raise no objection and recommend a
detailed surface water drainage scheme to be submitted and agreed which
can be secured by condition.

74.The planning application is accompanied by an Envirocheck Report. The

remediation strategy prepared for F/2013/0061/HYB by PBA dated Nov
2015 covers the main site and strongly recommends gas protection
measures to be installed at new properties in the north east of that site.
In order to be ensure that the protection to human health of future
residents on the proposed site, Environmental Health recommend a
standard contaminated land condition.

75.The Environment Agency (risk of flooding, contamination and pollution

control and drainage), Anglian Water Services (drainage and pollution

Page 61



control) Council’'s Environmental Health Team (contamination and
pollution control) and the Floods Team at Suffolk County Council have not
objected to or raised concerns about the application proposals. All have
recommended the imposition of reasonable conditions upon any planning
permission to secure appropriate mitigation.

76.The proposals are considered acceptable with regard to flood risk, surface
water drainage and pollution (contaminated Iland and potential
contamination of water supply and air quality) considerations.

Impact upon education

77.The County Council as Local Education Authority has confirmed a
contribution of £60,905 would be required to fund places at the catchment
primary school (Moulton). A further contribution of £12,182 is also sought
for 2 pre-school places.

78.The County Council has confirmed there is sufficient capacity at existing
secondary schools to accommodate pupil yields forecast to emerge from
these development proposals. These contributions would be secured
through a s106 agreement.

Design and Layout

79.The Framework states the Government attaches great importance to the
design of the built environment and confirms good design is a key aspect
of sustainable development and is indivisible from good planning. The
Framework goes on to reinforce these statements by confirming that
planning permission should be refused for development of poor design
that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character
and quality of an area and the way it functions.

80.Policies CS5 and CS13 require high quality designs which reinforce local
distinctiveness and take account of the need for stronger and safer
communities. Policy CS5 confirms design that does not demonstrate it has
had regard to local context and fails to enhance character will not be
acceptable.

81.Policy DM2 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document sets
out general design criteria to be applied to all forms of development
proposals. DM7 does the same, but is specific to proposals for residential
development.

82.The amended scheme allows for the conversion and extension of the
estate office and stable buildings to the north of Kentford Lodge to create
2 dwellings. This is a far more sympathetic solution than what was
originally submitted. The 9 affordable units are to the north of the site and
front onto the main access into the site. The units are split into 2 terraces,
with an access to the rear between the 2 serving a parking area for 19
cars. The design of the dwellings is simple, with varied roof heights and
gable details to break up the massing and add visual interest.

Page 62



83.To the south of the affordable units is a group of 8 dwellings; a mix of
detached, link detached and semi - detached dwellings also served off the
main access into the site. These units are again of a simple form designed
in a u-shape as converted farmhouse, barns and rural cottages. Each
dwelling has adequate private amenity space and off road parking which
meets the County Council’s required standards.

84.Plot 1 is separate from the remainder of the development, accessed from
another access off Herringswell road to the south of the main access. This
access also serves Kentford Lodge. Plot 1 is a large detached dwelling
within a much larger, spacious landscaped plot, fronting Herringswell
Road. It also has a large detached garage.

85.The designh and layout of the amended scheme proposed is considered
acceptable.

Impact upon residential amenity

86.The protection of residential amenity is a key component of ‘good design’.
The Framework states (as part of its design policies) good planning should
contribute positively to making places better for people. The Framework
also states that planning decisions should aim to (inter alia) avoid noise
from giving rise to significant adverse effects on health and quality of life
as a result of new development.

87.Vision 1 of the Core Strategy seeks to provide ‘a higher quality of life’ for
residents. The amended proposals ensure proposed dwellings relate
appropriately to all existing dwellings adjacent to the site.

88.The closest relationship to off site properties is to the south. The side
elevation of plot 1 stands approx. 40m away from the rear elevation of
Regal Cottage and Braeburn Cottage. There are first floor south facing
windows within the rear projection of plot 1, but the back to back stand
off distance to Regal Cottage is still 48m which is acceptable. There is also
a substantial belt of trees between the 2 which would be retained.
Appropriate boundary treatment can be secured by condition to ensure
privacy is maintained.

89.Environmental Health has recommended a number of conditions, including
the requirement for a construction method statement and restricted
construction hours, in order to minimise any potential noise and
disturbance to nearby residential properties during the construction of the
development. The proposals in this respect are acceptable.

Impact from the A14

90.The A14 runs along the northern boundary of the site. The air quality
assessment that has been carried out concludes that due to the set back
of houses from the edge of the site (by approx. 19m at the closest point)
which is also set back and elevated from the Al14, the potential exposure
of future occupants is unlikely to exceed the National Air Quality Strategy
Objectives for nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter, so is considered

Page 63



acceptable.

91.The other major impact to consider is noise. A noise report accompanied
the application. A 3.3m acoustic barrier fence is proposed along the
boundary with the Al14. This will also benefit existing residents in the
village. The majority of the site at present is classed as noise category B.
The new fence will result in the site being classed within categories A and
B. Details of the exact position and type of fence can be secured by
condition. The agent also notes that there are other houses in similar
proximity to the A14 which do not benefit from such attenuation measures
or boundary screening. They also note that there are other examples of
developments along the A14 which are much closer. The Affordable
Housing plots on the northern side of the site are relatively close to the
A1l4, however, this relationship is no different to that which was approved
on the site to the west (under F/2013/0061/HYB).

Sustainable construction and operation

92.Section 19 (1A) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
requires local planning authorities to include in their Local Plans “policies
designhed to secure that the development and use of land in the local
planning authority’s area contribute to the mitigation of, and adaptation
to, climate change”.

93.The Framework confirms planning has a key role in helping shape places
to (inter alia) secure radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and
supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon energy. The
Government places this central to the economic, social and environmental
dimensions of sustainable development.

94.The document expands on this role with the following policy:

In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should
expect new development to:

e comply with adopted Local Plan policies on local requirements for
decentralised energy supply unless it can be demonstrated by the
applicant, having regard to the type of development involved and its
design, that this is not feasible or viable; and

e take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and
landscaping to minimise energy consumption.

95.The importance the Government places on addressing climate change is
reflected in the Core Strategy Visions (Vision 1) and Spatial Objectives
(ENV2 and ENV3). Core Strategy Policies CS4 and CS5 set out
requirements for sustainable construction methods.

96.Policy DM7 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
reflects the up-to-date national planning policy on sustainable
construction and places lesser requirements upon developers than Core
Strategy Policy CS4. Policy DM7 requires adherence to the broad

Page 64



principles of sustainable design and construction (design, layout,
orientation, materials, insulation and construction techniques), but in
particular (for residential schemes) requires that new residential proposals
to demonstrate that appropriate water efficiency measures will be
employed (standards for water use or standards for internal water
fittings).

97.The documentation submitted in support of this planning application
includes an Energy Statement within the Design & Access statement. This
sets out how the scheme has been designed to accord with DM7. This
includes water efficiency measures that would be implemented.

98.The Building Regulations allow for more stringent standards to be applied
to water use in new development (matching the 110 litres use per person
requirement set out in Policy DM7) on the proviso there is a planning
condition that also requires those more stringent measures to be
achieved. It is no co-incidence that policy DM7 of the Joint Development
Management Policies Document requires more stringent water use
requirements to match those applied by the Building Regulations. The
evidence and justification for the application of tougher water use
measures forms part of the evidence base of the Development Plan and,
with respect to the requirements of Policy DM7, has recently been the
subject of examination. Accordingly, it is appropriate to impose a planning
condition requiring the more stringent Building Control (and Policy DM7)
water use measures to be incorporated into the construction and fitting
out of this development.

Other Matters

99.The affordable housing located to the north of the site is where the
previously approved Bl Office accommodation was proposed and
approved under F/2013/0061/HYB. This enhanced the sustainability
credentials of the site when it was assessed. The applicant argues that
rents that can be obtained locally for offices are not at a sufficient level to
fund the build. During the progress of the Site Allocations Local Plan
document, at Preferred Options stage the Kentford Lodge site was
allocated as a preferred mixed use site. The document is now at
submission stage and shows only the settlement boundary extended to
include the Kentford Lodge site (as approved under F/2013/0061/HYB and
now under construction). Economic Development have also noted in their
response that the loss of the office use approved could create a shortfall
in supply and inability to meet local market demand. Whilst these
concerns are noted, there are no policy grounds to require the delivery of
the approved B1 office use on the site. There is nho employment allocation
on the site within either the existing or the emerging local plan.

100. In relation to the existing estate office on the site and whether
consideration should be given to its loss as an employment use, the agent
argues that this office is used as a home office for Kentford Lodge, not as
a commercial office (although it was once used as the farm office to house
the farm records), so the employment protection policies do not apply as
the building is not in employment use. This is accepted by Officers.

Page 65



Planning Obligations

101. The Framework repeats the tests of lawfulness for planning
obligations which are derived from Regulation 122 of The Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010. The tests are that planning
obligations should:

e be necessary to make the development acceptable in planning
terms.

e be directly related to the development, and

e be fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the
development.

102. The Framework also states that pursuing sustainable development
requires careful attention to viability and costs, such that sites should not
be subject to a scale of obligations that their ability to be developed viably
is threatened.

103. The Framework advises that in order to ensure viability, the costs of
any requirements likely to be applied to development, such as
requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure
contributions or other requirements should, when taking account of the
normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to
a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to
be deliverable.

104. Core Strategy Spatial Objective ENV7 seeks to achieve more
sustainable communities by ensuring facilities, services and infrastructure
are commensurate with development. Core Strategy Policy CS13 sets out
requirements for securing infrastructure and developer contributions from
new developments.

105. No claim to reduce the level of contributions on viability grounds
has so far been claimed by the applicants and a viability assessment has
not been submitted. The recommendation (at the end of this report)
therefore assumes the development will appropriately mitigate its impact
and provide a fully policy compliant package of measures.

106. The following developer contributions are required from these
proposals:

Affordable Housing

107. The Framework states that local planning authorities should use
their evidence base to ensure that their Local Plan meets the full
objectively assessed needs for market and affordable housing. It also
states that policies should be set for meeting the identified need for
affordable housing, although such policies should be sufficiently flexible to
take account of changing market conditions.

Page 66



108. Core Strategy Spatial Objective H2 seeks to provide a sufficient and
appropriate mix of housing that is affordable, accessible and designed to a
high standard. Core Strategy policy CS9 requires 30% of the proposed
dwellings (6.3 dwellings in this case) to be ‘affordable’. The policy is
supported by Supplementary Planning Guidance which sets out the
procedures for considering and securing affordable housing provision
(including mix, tenure, viability and S106). The scheme provides for 9
affordable homes on site which is 42.9% of the total. Considering 4 of the
dwellings were essentially already approved under F/2013/0061/HYB (and
therefore an affordable housing contribution already made in relation to
these), the applicant argues that this scheme actually provides 52.9% (9
of the net gain of 17 units).

109. The provision is supported by the Strategic Housing Officer and the
mix and tenure have been agreed. The provision of affordable housing on
the site represents a benefit, weighing in favour of the scheme.

Education

110. The Framework states the Government attaches great importance
to ensuring that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet
the needs of existing and new communities. It advises that Local planning
authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to
meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen choice in
education.

111. Core Strategy Policy CS13 (b) considers educational requirements
as a key infrastructure requirement. This is built upon, in a general sense,
in Policy DM41 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
which states (inter alia) the provision of community facilities and services
will be permitted where they contribute to the quality of community life
and sustainable communities. The policy confirms, where necessary to the
acceptability of the development, the local planning authority will require
developers of residential schemes to enhance existing community
buildings, provide new facilities or provide land and financial contributions
towards the costs of these developments, proportional to the impact of
the proposed development in that area (through conditions and/or S106
Agreements).

112. The Local Education Authority (Suffolk County Council) has
confirmed there is no capacity at the existing primary school to
accommodate the additional pupils forecast to be resident at the proposed
development and has requested financial contributions from this
development. It has also confirmed a need for the development to provide
a contribution to be used towards pre-school provision in the area to cater
for the educational needs of pre-school children (aged 2-5) that are
forecast to emerge from the development. The Authority has confirmed
there is no requirement for a contribution to be secured for secondary
school provision. The justification for these requests for financial
contributions and the amounts are set out at paragraphs 101 and 102
above.

Page 67



Public Open Space

113. The Framework confirms that access to high quality open spaces
and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.

114. Core Strategy Spatial Objective CS2 seeks to promote an
improvement in the health of people in the District by maintaining and
providing quality open spaces, play and sports facilities and better access
to the countryside. Policy CS13 (g) considers provision of open space,
sport and recreation as a key infrastructure requirement.

115. Policy DM42 of the Joint Development Management Policies
Document states proposals for the provision, enhancement and/or
expansion of amenity, sport or recreation open space or facilities will be
permitted subject to compliance with other policies in the Development
Plan. It goes on to state where necessary to the acceptability of
development, developers will be required to provide open space and other
facilities or to provide land and financial contributions towards the cost
and maintenance of existing or new facilities, as appropriate (via
conditions and/or S106 Agreements).

116. These Development Plan policies are expanded upon via the
adopted Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for public open space,
sport and recreation. This document sets out the requirements for on-site
and off-site provision and maintenance. Whilst this is a major
development of 21 units (a significant proportion of which delivers
affordable housing on site), it relates well to the adjoining site to the west
which delivered more than what was required by the SPD. On this basis,
no further on site provision is required. The landscaped area to the north
of plot 1 will essentially be garden and privately owned. There is a small
area at the main site entrance which will be an informal area of open
space managed by a management company. This can be secured by
condition. The proposals in this respect are acceptable.

Summary

117. With these provisions in place the effects of the proposal on local
infrastructure, including affordable housing and education would be
acceptable. The proposal would comply with Core Strategy Policy CS13 by
which the provision or payment is sought for services, facilities and other
improvements directly related to development.

Conclusions and Planning Balance:
118. Saved 1995 Local Plan policies for new housing developments,
including the settlement boundaries contained in the document are to be

attributed reduced weight in the decision making process (for reasons set
out at paragraphs 35 and 36 above). Relevant housing policies set out in

Page 68



the Core Strategy are consistent with the NPPF and, in your officers view,
carry full weight in the decision making process. Latest evidence confirms
the Council is able to demonstrate an up-to-date 5 year supply of
deliverable housing sites which means policies in the Core Strategy
relating to the supply of housing are not automatically deemed out of
date. This proposal is for housing in the countryside as defined by the
existing settlement boundary on the village. The emerging site allocations
Local Plan document extends the settlement boundary to include the
northern part of the site. On this basis, the proposals are in conflict with
the development plan which is a factor which weighs against the scheme.

119. The proposed development is considered broadly compliant with the
provisions of the adopted Core Strategy insofar as it proposes new
residential development in a Primary Village as defined by Core Strategy
Policy CS1. Furthermore, the proposals must be considered in the light of
the surviving requirements of Core Strategy policy CS7 which sets a
target of delivering just over 11,000 new homes in the District between
2001 and 2031. Further weight is added to the acceptability in principle of
the proposed development in the light of national planning policies set out
in the Framework. Of particular reference is the desire to boost
significantly the supply of housing and approve development proposals
that accord with the development plan without delay.

120. With this background in mind, and in particular in the absence of a
fully adopted Development Plan document identifying sites to deliver the
housing targets of Core Strategy Policy CS7, national planning policy is
clear that permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts of
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits,
when assessed against the policies in the Framework as a whole. There
are no specific policies in the Framework that direct that this development
should be restricted. Officers consider that national planning policies set
out in the Framework should be accorded significant weight as a material
consideration in the assessment of this planning application, especially the
presumption in favour of sustainable development.

121. In relation to the economic role of sustainable development, the
proposal would generate direct and indirect economic benefits, as housing
has an effect on economic output both in terms of construction
employment and the longer term availability of housing for workers and
increased population which leads to higher local spend and general
economic growth.

122. In terms of the social role of sustainability the development would
enhance the local community and provide a level of much needed market
and affordable housing to meet the needs of present and future
generations. The development could result in a built environment of high
quality. The proposal would rely on, and to an extent support and
enhance, the viability and accessibility of existing local services, both
within Kentford and further afield.

123. In relation to the environmental role Officers are satisfied the
proposed development would have no significant effects on European

Page 69



designated sites. It is self-evident that the landscape would be changed as
a result of the proposal albeit this would only be perceptible at the
immediate location of the application site and its close surroundings. This
would be the case for any development on a greenfield site - which will
inevitably have to happen in order to meet the housing needs of the
District. Good design and the retention of existing vegetation and
provision of new planting to sensitive parts of the site would satisfactorily
mitigate these effects.

124. The progress of the LDF has been slow to date owing largely to the

successful challenge of the Core Strategy (CS7) in the High Court, and the
content of the final documents (including the location of sites allocated for
development) remains uncertain, given that the Single Issue Review and
Site Allocation documents are yet to be adopted or submitted for
adoption. In any event, there is no evidence to suggest approval of the
proposals would be premature to or prejudice emerging Development Plan
documents.

125. To the limited extent that the evidence demonstrates material

considerations against the proposal - essentially relating to the location of
the site outside the settlement boundary and the limited local landscape
effects, the benefits of development; the delivery of a number of new
homes, including a policy compliant proportion of affordable homes would
outweigh those concerns (dis-benefits) and on balance, points towards the
grant of planning permission.

Recommendation:

126. Full planning permission be GRANTED subject to:

1) The completion of a S106 agreement to secure:

(@) Policy compliant affordable housing (30%).
(b) Pre-school contribution (£12,182).
(¢) Primary school contribution (£60,905)

And
2) subject to conditions, including:

Time limit (3 years for commencement)

Materials to be submitted and agreed

Acoustic barrier to northern boundary

Sound attenuation

Restrict demolition and construction times
Construction and site management programme to be submitted
and agreed

Fire Hydrant provision

Archaeological Investigation

Archaeological post investigation assessment

10 Standard contaminated land condition

11.Details of access to be submitted and agreed (AL2)

oL

© 0 N

Page 70



12.Details of bin storage and collection areas (B2)

13.Details of estate roads and footpaths (ER1)

14.No occupation until roads and footpaths constructed to at least
binder course level (ER2)

15.Parking to be provided and retained (P1)

16.Details of secure cycle storage to be submitted and agreed (P2)

17.Provision of visibility splays (V2)

18.Details of boundary treatment

19.Hard and Soft landscaping to be agreed

20.Landscape management plan to be submitted and agreed

21.Tree protection measures implemented, tree surgery undertaken
as detailed in the Schedule of Trees and a detailed
Arboricultural Method Statement & Tree Protection Plan to be
submitted (as recommended in the arb report)

22.Recommendations of the biodiversity report to be implemented,
including details of integrated swift brick and bat boxes to be
submitted and agreed prior to commencement.

23.Water efficiency (DM7)

24 .Detailed surface water drainage scheme to be submitted and
agreed

25.Compliance with approved plans

Documents:

All background documents including application forms, drawings and other
supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed
online:

https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NZR
5YNPDM6F00

Page 71


https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NZR5YNPDM6F00
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NZR5YNPDM6F00
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NZR5YNPDM6F00

This page is intentionally left blank



DC/15/2577/FUL
Kentford Lodge, Herringswell Road, Kentford

Hain's Beit

- egal Lodge | \{
1 : % .
Garden Jlm?ga ¥ 3 a Al —
: : .0 15 30 60 a0 120
/\ — h North B [TU 1 N lM?trLe\S\'

F »
i Heath_h SR @& Crown Copyright and database rights 2016 0S

1000_19675f1(_)00_23282. You are not permitted to copy, S(:ale: 1 2!500
West S uffo I k sub-license, distribute or sellp (¥ to third partes
in any form, Use of this data is subg' ctto terms and conditions, Date: 17/01/2017

WOI’kirIg together See ww westsuffolk. gov.uk /disclaimer.cfim.




This page is intentionally left blank



1200m 1100m lsom | 0 1:2500
| 1100m 1 50m 125m ! 0 1:1250
140m 120m 110m 15m 0 1:500
i12m 18m 14m i2m 0 1:200
38m 34m 32m 31m 0 1:100
| 14m 12m imm 10.5m 0 1:50
Open Market Housing
E Ref Type Floor Area (sq.ft) Number
3A1 3 bed. semi-detached 1538 1
= 3A2 3 bed. semi-detached 1538 1
3A3 3 bed. semi-detached 1610 1
3B 3 bed. semi-detached 1263 1
B 4A 4 bed. detached 2717 1
4B 4 bed. detached 1860 1
| 4C 4 bed. detached 1842 1
4D 4 bed. detached 1922 1
4E 4 bed. detached 1860 1
§ 2A 2 bed. detached bungalow 1619 1
2B 1 bed. detached 1297 1
= 3BC 3 bed. detached 1906 1
i sub-total 12
Affordable Housing
= Ref Type Floor Area (sq.ft) Number
AH1 1 bed. Ground Floor Apartment 553 1
1 bed. First Floor Apartment 602 1
§ AH2/AH2i 2 bed. terraced 836 3
AH3 3 bed. terraced 940 3
= AH4 4 bed. terraced 1103 1
i sub-total 9
Total 21
i / . |
IR
\ J7 V|
| 7 |
7 |
< \
..... e |
e \
- \
B — \
|
|
|
|
| D |
— |
IR WY e |
::::-ff.-*- ‘\\\ |
B 3 Q “\
N P CROSSING
3A1
i 3A2
0
—
c
\
| \
\
\
\ m]
\
B ue
\
\
| \
B _ =
\ CROSSING

4A

—

\

\

o

7 . . . ’ * . * JE . u ) | . . B - /\ )(
| | : e e - \ | \
. | N ﬂ~~f~«~~~~ e
| Red House
B |

Church

The White
House

St Johns
St Michael

The Gables

BURY ROAD

St Helier

Regal Cottage

B

Braeburn
Cottage

Flint Cottages

.

CROSSING

B -

[EEEEEE
88R= S
[EEEEEE
QWO TN —
0N —
777777 EEEE

O N — 0

o

Kentford Paddocks

The Cock

885933 ) Fox and Ball
SRBRER Hillcrest Cottage
o _
it
note notes ste , , drawn checked r DESIGN ™ One, Newton House
© This drawing is the copyright of Parc Design Solutions Ltd. and may Sketch proposals are for illustrative purposes only and as such are Proposed ReS|denT|O| DevelopmenT SC SC SOLUTIONS Northampton Science Park
not be reproduced or amended without written permission. No liability subject to detailed site investigation. Sketch proposals may be based ) ) Northampton
will be accepted for amendments made by other persons. on enlargements of OS Sheets and estimations of existing site features KENTFORD LODGE/ SUFFOLK scale date m architecture and urban design NN3 6LG
The contractor is o check and verify all dimensions and levels prior to and will therefore need to be verified by survey. - - 1:500 @ Al March 2016
work commencing. The contractor is fo comply with all current drawing ftitle arawi 5 —
Building Legislation whether or not specifically stated on this drawing. Do not scale. Only figured dimensions to be worked to. Any . rawing numper revision e info@parcdesign.co.uk )
This drawing must be read with and checked against all relevant discrepancies are to be reported to Parc Design Solutions Ltd. S|'|'e L(]yOU'I' W WWV? porc desi gn .CO .uk T: 01604 652040
Engineers and Architects drawings and all other specialist information O] 5 - 020 - ] O] H ' P gn.co. f. 01604 654110
provided.




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

DEVELOPMENT
CONTROL
COMMITTEE

Forest Heath District Council

1 FEBRUARY 2017

Report of the Head of Planning and Growth DEV/FH/17/007

PLANNING APPLICATION DC/14/2042/FUL — LAND NORTH OF BROOM ROAD,
COVEY WAY AND MAIDSCROSS HILL, LAKENHEATH

Synopsis:

Application under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and associated matters.

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the Committee determine the attached application
and associated matters.

CONTACT OFFICER

Case Officer: Gareth Durrant
Email: Gareth.durrant@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Telephone: 01284 757345

Page 77



mailto:Gareth.durrant@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Committee Report

Date 27" October Expiry Date: 29" February 2016
Registered: 2014 (with extension).

Case Gareth Durrant Recommendation: Refuse planning

Officer: permission

Parish: Lakenheath Ward: Lakenheath

Proposal: Planning Application DC/14/2042/FUL - Residential development of

up to 110 dwellings, as amended.

Site: Land North of Broom Road, Covey Way and Maidscross Hill,
Lakenheath.
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Rutterford, Mr & Mrs Allsop & Mrs Reeve
Background:

This application is referred to the Development Control Committee
as it is a proposal for ‘major’ development. The proposal also
raises complex planning issues of national and international
importance.

The planning application has been advertised as a departure from
the Development Plan.

A Member site visit is due to take place on 30 January 2017.

Proposal:

1.

Outline planning permission is sought for the erection of up to 110
dwellings. Whilst vehicular access is a reserved matter, the illustrative
plans show the development could be served by two vehicular
accesses from Covey Way and The Firs.

Amendments were made to the application (received August 2016)
involving a reduction in the total number of dwellings proposed, from
up to 132 (as originally submitted) to up to 110 units in the revised
scheme. A number of additional/amended reports were submitted at
this stage alongside an amended illustrative layout plan. The amended
proposals were the subject of full re-consultation. The outcome of both
consultations is reported below.

Given the scale of development proposed and its proximity to sensitive

areas (as defined by the Regulations) the proposals were screened
under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental

Page 78



Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011. The Secretary of State
considered the project, in isolation and in combination with other
projects, and concluded it would not give rise to significant
environmental effects. He confirmed an Environmental Impact
Assessment was not required to accompany the planning application.

Application Supporting Material:

4,

The following documents were submitted to support this application
when it was registered in October 2014:

e Forms and drawings (site location plan, existing site plan
illustrative layout plan and tree survey plan)

¢ Planning Statement

e Design and Access Statement

e Various ecological surveys and reports (Reptile Surveys,

confidential Badger survey, Habitats Regulations Assessment,

Invertebrate Assessment, Extended Phase I Habitat Survey,

Breeding Bird Survey, Bat Activity Survey

Transport Assessment

Phase I Desk Study (Contamination and ground conditions)

Archaeological Reports

Noise Assessment

Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Arboricultural Impact

Assessment, Preliminary Arboricultural Method Statement and

Tree Protection Plan.

¢ Flood Risk Assessment

The planning application was amended in August 2016. The following
amended plans and documents were received at this time:

Amended Design and Access Statement
Addendum to the Habitats Regulations Assessment
Ecological Masterplan

Noise Impact Assessment

Transport Assessment Addendum

Amended Illustrative Layout Plan

In December 2016, amended planning application forms were received
to reflect the fact that some of the previous applicants had withdrawn
from the planning application. The Council also received revised
ownership certification to address this change (and the consequential
changes to the application site area).

Site Details:

7.

The site is situated on the eastern side of Lakenheath. It is
approximately 4.3 hectares in size. The proposals for the erection of
up to 110 dwellings on the land equates to a gross development
density of around 25.5 units per hectare. The majority of the land is
unused and to a large extent is covered by woodland. The site picks
up parts of existing rear gardens to dwellings in Maidscross Hill and

Page 79



10.

the unmade section of Broom Road. A number of the trees on site (but
not the woodland) are subject to individual or group Tree Preservation
Orders. No works can be undertaken on these protected trees without
the prior consent of the Council. There is a public footpath running
along (outside) the east site boundary.

The application site is situated outside but abuts the settlement
boundary of Lakenheath. The settlement boundary runs along the
west and part north boundaries. The site is situated in the countryside
for the purposes of applying relevant Development Plan policies.

The site does not have a frontage onto an adopted highway. Vehicular
access is available from two points in Covey Way and The Firs, with
opportunities to link pedestrian and cycle access onto the unmade
section of Broom Road to the south of the site. The east boundary
abuts a public footpath, The Maidscross Hill SSSI and Nature Reserve
is situated close to the eastern boundary of the site and the RAF
Lakenheath airbase is located further east beyond the SSSI. The north
and west site boundaries abut residential areas and, to the north, a
disused reservoir. The aforementioned potential vehicular access
points would connect from the eastern side. The southern boundary
buts up to the unmade Broom Road. The bulk of the village settlement
and all key village facilities, save for the Maidscross Hill SSSI which
has public access, are located to the east of the site.

There are no landscape or heritage asset designations at the site. The
Lakenheath Conservation Area designation, which covers the more
historic core of the village, is distant from the site.

Planning History:

11.

12.

13.

In 1977, planning permission was refused for the erection of a 2-bed
bungalow and garage on part of the site. Application F/77/195 refers.

In 1999, planning permission was granted for the erection of a
telecommunications mast in the south eastern corner of the
application site. Application F/99/602/FUL refers.

There are six other proposals for large scale residential development
around or close to the village, none of which have been determined.
The proposals are considered relevant to the consideration and
determination of this appeal application particularly insofar as the
combined (or cumulative) impacts require consideration. The
proposals are set out in the table below:

Page 80



Project | Application | Address. No. of Current Status (n.b. all
Ref. Reference. dwellings. | remain undetermined)
A DC/14/2096/ | Land at Station Up to 375 Approved by the Committee
HYB Road, Lakenheath + school in August 2016. The
Secretary of State is presently
considering a ‘call in’ request.
S106 negotiations are on-
going.
B F/2013/0345 | Land at Rabbit Hill Up to 81 Committee resolved to grant
/OUT Covert, in Sept 2014. Requires
Lakenheath further consideration by
Committee before decision.
C F/2013/0394 | Land west of Up to 140 Committee resolved to grant
/OUT Eriswell Road, in Sept 2014. Requires
Lakenheath further consideration by
Committee before decision.
D DC/13/0660/ | Land at Briscoe 67 Committee resolved to grant
FUL Way, Lakenheath in Sept 2014. The application
has been subject to
amendment in the meantime
and requires further
consideration by Committee
before decision.
E DC/13/918/ Land e. of Eriswell | Up to 750 Application withdrawn in
ouTt Road and south of | + school February 2016.
Broom Road, | etc.
Lakenheath
F DC/14/2042/ | Land North Of Up to 132 This is the planning
ouT Broom Road, application which is the
Covey Way and subject of this report and
Maids Cross Hill recommendation.
Lakenheath
G DC/14/2073/ | Land adj. 34| 120 The applicants submitted a
FUL Broom Road, ‘non-determination’ appeal. A
Lakenheath Public Inquiry is programmed
to commence on 28"
February 2017. In July 2016,
Committee resolved it would
have resolved to refuse
planning permission had it
retained decision  making
powers. The Council will
request appeal is dismissed.
H DC/16/0670/ | Land west of the | Up to 550 | The applicant has requested
HYB B1112 (opposite | + school + | time to make amendments to
Lords Walk), Little | retail unit | the planning application. The
Eriswell etc. application will be reported to

DC Committee for decision in
due course.

Page 81




Consultations:

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

The planning application has been the subject of two separate rounds
of consultation; i) October 2014 and, following the receipt of
amendments, ii) August 2016. The following is a summary of the
responses received from both consultations.

Environment Agency (November 2014) - submit no objections.
The Agency comments the site is above a Principal/Secondary Aquifer,
WFD groundwater body, WFD drinking water protected area and within
30 metres of a surface water course (drain). The Agency considers the
previous farm/pig rearing land use and demolition of former buildings
to be potentially contaminative. The Agency notes the site is of high
sensitivity and could present potential pollutant/contaminant linkages.

The Agency recommends any planning permission granted is subject
to 3 (no.) conditions with respect to remediation of any contamination
present (including any additional previously unknown contamination
found later) and surface water drainage. The Agency also set out
advisory comments for the benefit of the applicant/landowner.

The Environment Agency wrote again in September 2016, following
re-consultation, to confirm they did not wish to add to previous
comments made.

Natural England (December 2014) - objected to the planning
application. Further information was required with respect to the
Special Protection Area, in particular Stone Curlew nesting records at
locations outside the Special Protection Area (and within 1.5km of the
site). Natural England noted the close proximity of the site to the
Maidscross Hill SSSI and confirmed there is insufficient detail as to
how impacts to the SSSI will be avoided. Natural England agrees with
the applicants conclusions that the development would result in
additional recreational pressure at Maidscross Hill SSSI and Local
Nature Reserve and that this could be addressed through a developer
contribution to its management. However, the scope of necessary
management works and associated contribution has not yet been
agreed or discussed.

In addition the proposed housing backs on to Unit 2 of the SSSI (the
covered reservoir) and may present a risk from activities such as
encroachment of gardens and dumping of garden rubbish. This risk
will depend on the type of fencing between the development and SSSI
(both existing and proposed). Although this type of impact is
recognised by the ecological report it is not discussed in enough detail
for us to be confident that this impact would be avoided.

Subject to these issues being resolved Natural England would be able
to withdraw its objection in relation to Maidscross Hill SSSI.

Further comments were received in June 2015 after Natural England
have given further consideration to potential ‘in-combination’ impacts

Page 82



22.

23.

24,

of the developments listed in the table at paragraph 15 above. Natural
England raised further concerns and objections to the planning
application given that the Habitats Regulations Assessment prepared
in support of the adopted Core Strategy had only scoped potential
impacts of 670 dwellings, but the combined total of the planning
applications proposes more than 670 dwellings. Natural England
advised that further consideration was required with respect to
potential ‘in-combination’ effects along with a strategy for providing
additional greenspace around the village, whilst protecting the SPA
and Maidscross Hill SSSI from further damage caused by further
(increased) recreational pressure arising from the proposed
developments.

In March 2016 Natural England wrote to the Council to advise as
follows:

e We would like to review the nest records again as our bird
specialist has been reviewing all the cases in the east of
Lakenheath following further information on the two Broom Road
sites. Since there is still so much uncertainty concerning the
reduction in stone curlew nesting density near built development
we haven’t yet reached a conclusion on those proposals. With this
in mind the bird specialist team, with Footprint Ecology, have been
working on a planning tool to calculate whether a development is
likely to have an effect on stone curlews associated with Breckland
SPA and if so whether mitigation may be appropriate. We think it
would be beneficial to put all three applications, including this
application, through the model to make sure that our advice is
consistent between the three applications and so we can provide
advice on the potential for cumulative and in-combination effects in
Lakenheath.

In May 2016, Natural England confirmed “we’ve looked at all the
sites again and have come to the conclusion that none of the
applications on the east side of Lakenheath will significantly affect
stone curlew associated with Breckland SPA. The Broom road sites
have not addressed their Maidscross Hill issues yet however.”

In October 2016, Natural England wrote to formally confirm their
position with respect to the SPA, as set out above. With respect to the
Maidscross Hill SSSI, Natural England noted that mitigation is
required, and provided the following comments about the SSSI:

e In our previous response we noted that Maidscross Hill SSSI/LNR is
adjacent to the application site and that therefore the proposed
development is likely to result in an increase in recreational
pressure on the SSSI, with most of the damage caused by dog
walking and visitors walking off the main path. These activities
often result in the trampling of habitats and rare plants and the
eutrophication of the soil. Other activities that result in pressure to
the site include increased litter on site (and potentially fires) due to
picnics and barbeques. In addition, we noted that the proposed

Page 83



housing development backs on to Unit 2 of the SSSI (the covered
reservoir) and may present a risk from activities such as the
encroachment of gardens and the dumping of garden rubbish.

We noted that this could potentially be addressed through a
developer contribution to its management (which would need to be
agreed between the applicant, the local authority and Natural
England).

Natural England welcomes the reduction in housing, which is likely
to reduce the number of residents in this location by approximately
70 people. However following discussion with our land
management team and FHDC, we consider that without mitigation
it is still not possible to rule out that this application will lead to
significant effects on the interest features of the SSSI, either alone
or cumulatively with other developments within Lakenheath. Due to
the location of the application site it would not be possible to
prevent or discourage the c.240+ new residents from accessing the
site. The population of Lakenheath is also increasing due to recent
residential development, and since Maidscross Hill is currently the
main greenspace in the area for recreation, we can therefore
expect a rise in visitors at Maidscross Hill SSSI/LNR from across
the whole settlement, particularly if further development on the
east side of Lakenheath is granted permission.

Taking all this into account, we consider that it would only be
possible to mitigate for the recreational effects of an application
site this close to the SSSI by contributing to a wardening service to
oversee Maidscross Hill SSSI/LNR. We welcome the proposals put
forward by your authority for the wardening scheme earlier this
year and would be happy to discuss this further if you have any
queries. We advise that this is the only mitigation that is likely to
sufficiently address recreational effects as it would not be possible
to prevent residents associated with this application from accessing
the site and we consider that no improvement works or other
measures on site could entirely prevent access. We also welcome
measures to contribute to the management of the site and to
encourage visitors to stay on the paths (eg. path and sign
improvements, and information boards).

Although not mentioned in our previous response, discussions
between Natural England and the LNR manager and ecology officer
at FHDC has highlighted a further issue which we consider has to
be taken into account. The application is likely to lead to an
increase in cats on site, which are likely to predate rabbits and
ground nesting birds. The habitats of Maidscross Hill rely on rabbit
grazing to keep them in good condition. In recent years, the lack of
sufficient grazing has allowed bracken and considerable amounts of
gorse and hawthorn scrub to invade the site. It is possible that an
increase in cats will reduce the effectiveness of the rabbits to
maintain the site. Also note that loss of some grassland the scrub
has provided additional nesting habitat for birds, which may in turn

Page 84



25.

26.

27.

28.

be predated by cats. In our view there is no way to mitigate for
this as cats also cannot be prevented from entering the site.
However note that we consider that the effect due to cats is
unlikely to be significant alone, but is likely to contribute to loss of
condition of the interest features of Maidscross Hill SSSI.

In terms of green infrastructure and ecological management, the
following advice was provided:

¢ We note that due to the reduction in housing, there has been a
small increase in onsite green infrastructure and the site now
includes a cycle/footpath to the site from Broom Road. Whilst we
welcome this increase in GI and all the measures set out in the
Ecological Mitigation Plan we are not clear what measures are
being provided to support residents after reviewing the submitted
documentation. For this reason we recommend that if the
application receives planning permission, a green infrastructure
strategy should be secured by planning condition.

¢ In terms of the Ecological Management Plan, the measures set out
to encourage species on site, to increase ecological connectivity
between the site and SSSI/LNR and to provide priority habitat on
site are all welcome. We also consider that the provision of the
buffer to separate the site from the SSSI will help block direct
access and prevent urban effects such as the encroachment of
gardens and the dumping of garden rubbish. However we would
also expect that the plan should also include more emphasis on
walking and cycling routes, in particular dog walking routes. We
appreciate that this site is not large enough to incorporate a whole
dog walking route (usually around 2.4km) but it could certainly
provide a circular walking route within the site which would join up
to paths outside the site and divert at least some walks away from
the SSSI/LNR.

Defence Infrastructure Organisation (Ministry of Defence)
(November 2014) - no objections, and confirmed that the Ministry of
Defence has no safeguarding objections to the proposal.

NHS Property Services (November 2014) - no objections and
commented that no healthcare contribution would be required based
on their being overall sufficient GP capacity within the catchment
surgeries that would serve the proposed development.

NHS Property Services (February 2016) - submitted holding
objections, subject to a developer contribution being secured to
secure financial contributions to be used towards health infrastructure
provision serving the development. The following comments were
received (summarised):

e The proposal comprises a residential development of up to 132

dwellings, which is likely to have an impact of the NHS funding
programme for the delivery of primary healthcare provision within

Page 85



29.

30.

31.

32.

this area and specifically within the health catchment of the
development. NHS England would therefore expect these impacts
to be fully assessed and mitigated by way of a developer
contribution secured through a Section 106 planning obligation.

e The planning application does not include a Healthcare Impact
Assessment (HIA) of the proposed development or propose any
mitigation of the healthcare impacts arising from the proposed
development. Therefore a HIA has been prepared by NHS England
to provide the basis for a developer contribution towards capital
funding to increase capacity within the GP Catchment Area.

¢ NHS England has recently carried out a review of GP services to
identify capacity issues. This development is likely to have an
impact on the services of 1 GP surgery within the Lakenheath
locality. This GP practice does not have capacity for the additional
growth as a result of this development.

e The development would give rise to a need for improvements to
capacity by way of extension, refurbishment, reconfiguration or
relocation at the existing practice, a proportion of which would
need to be met by the developer.

e There is a capacity deficit in the catchment practice and a
developer contribution of £43,480 is required to mitigate the
‘capital cost’ to NHS England for the High quality care for all, now
and for future generations provision of additional healthcare
services arising directly as a result of the development proposal.

e NHS England, therefore requests that this sum be secured through
a planning obligation linked to any grant of planning permission, in
the form of a Section 106 Agreement.

Suffolk Constabulary (September 2016) - set out advisory
comments for the benefit of the applicant/developer.

Lakenheath Internal Drainage Board - In November 2014
confirmed they had no objections to the proposals on the basis that
the use of soakaways was deemed to be an appropriate method of
surface water disposal for the site. If this was not an acceptable
method, the Board requested to be consulted further.

Forestry Commission - In December 2014 raised no objections
against the proposals. The Commission noted the loss of individual
trees and a plantation of approximately 1.9 hecatres (albeit not
ancient or semi-natural woodland). The Commission summarised
relevant national policies relating to woodlands to assist with
determination of the planning application.

FHDC (Environmental Health) (November 2014) - no objections

- subject to the imposition of conditions to ensure i) the site is
adequately investigated for contamination and any contaminants

Page 86



33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

remediated, and ii) to investigate and mitigate potential cumulative
impacts upon air quality.

FHDC (Public Health and Housing) (November 2014) - no
objections, subject to conditions to secure, hours of construction and
construction management.

In September 2016, the Public Health and Housing team raised no
objections to the amended proposals.

FHDC (Leisure, Culture and Communities) (November 2014) -
commented and suggested a number of improvements that could be
made to the design and layout of the illustrative proposals with
respect to public open spaces and children’s play facilities.

FHDC (Strategic Housing) (November 2014) - supports the
proposals on the condition the scheme meets Core Strategy policy CS9
requirements for 30% affordable housing provision.

In September 2016, the Strategic Housing team considered the
amended details and re-affirmed their support for the proposal. They
also commented upon the likely mix requirements for the affordable
housing.

In October 2015, the Council's Tree, Landscape and Ecology
Officer commented on the proposals and revised those comments
following submission of the amendments in August 2016. The
following sets out the revised comments:

Habitats Requlations Assessment

e The application site is in close proximity to a European designated
site, Breckland Special Protection Area (SPA), and has the potential
to affect its interest features. European sites are afforded
protection under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2010, as amended (the ‘Habitats Regulations’).

e In considering the European site interest, as the competent
authority under the provisions of the Habitats Regulations, the local
planning authority must have regard for any potential impacts that
the proposals may have.

e The proposed development is outside of the 1500m buffer around
units of Breckland SPA capable of supporting stone curlew but is
within the 1500m stone curlew ‘nest attempts’ buffer as revised
(2016) and referred to in Forest Heath District Council’s Core
Strategy Policy CS2. Therefore stone curlews nesting outside of the
SPA should be considered.

e Natural England has advised that having reviewed the locations of

the nest records, the application is not likely to lead to a significant
effect on the qualifying species of Breckland SPA, or lead to an

Page 87



effect on the integrity of the site. This is due to the fact that the
nest records are not close enough to the application site to lead to
direct effects, such as those due to lighting or noise. Furthermore
as the proposal is situated at some distance from Breckland SPA
and screened from the SPA and the sites where nests were found
to be present by Maidscross Hill, the proposal is not likely to lead to
visual disturbance to birds nesting within or outside Breckland SPA.

Recreational effects also appear unlikely to lead to a significant
effect as the majority of records are within non accessible areas
(such as RAF Lakenheath) and there are no obvious routes towards
other nest sites. It is also around 2km from Breckland SPA which
we consider is sufficiently far to discourage the majority of
residents from walking to the SPA on a regular basis, particularly
for the purposes of dog walking. Therefore, taking all the above
into account, we have been able to conclude that the site, alone, is
not likely to significantly affect the qualifying species or integrity of
Breckland SPA.

In terms of the in-combination effect, should all proposals on the
east side proceed we assess that there is likely to be a minor effect
on the nesting density of stone curlew, but due to the distance of
Lakenheath from the SPA and the position of all the nest records
(which were similar for all applications), we have concluded that
the in-combination effect is also not likely to be significant.

Recreational In-combination effects

There is the potential for in-combination effects to arise in relation
recreational pressure.

Planning applications registered with the local planning authority
and being considered in Lakenheath at the current time including
projects published for consultation but prior to application:

a) Rabbit Hill Covert, (81 dwellings)

b) Land West of Eriswell Road, Lakenheath(140 dwellings)
C) Land off Briscow Way(67 dwellings)

e) Land North of Broom Road (132 dwellings)

f) Land adjacent to 34 Broom Road (120 dwellings)

g) Land North of Station Road(375 dwellings and a school)
h) Land at Little Eriswell (550 dwellings and a school)

The total number of dwellings currently being considered
significantly exceeds the total which was tested in the FHDC Core
Strategy Habitats Regulation Assessment which for Lakenheath
was 670 homes. The concern is that whilst alone each of the
applications may not have an impact; for this number of dwellings
within the settlement (totalling 1492 dwellings), in-combination
likely significant effects cannot be screened out.

In 2010 a visitor survey of Breckland SPA was commissioned by

Page 88



Forest Heath District and St. Edmundsbury Borough Councils to
explore the consequences of development on Annex 1 bird species
associated with Breckland SPA. An important finding of the study
was that Thetford Forest is a large area, surrounded by relatively
low levels of housing, and at present it seems apparent that
recreational pressure may be adequately absorbed by the Forest.
The Annex I heathland bird interest features are not yet indicating
that they are negatively affected by recreational disturbance.
However there are still some gaps in our understanding of the
Thetford Forest populations of Annex 1 birds, their current status
and potential changes that may be occurring. It is not currently
understood whether distribution is affected by recreation, for
example.

The recreation study went on to advise that provision of alternative
greenspaces could be provided to potentially divert some of the
recreational pressure away from the SPA. These would need to be
at least equally, if not more attractive than the European sites.
Such an approach could link into any green infrastructure initiatives
as part of the local plan. Important factors to consider in the design
of such spaces are the distance to travel to the site, the facilities at
the site, and experience and feel of the site. The visitor survey
identified that people are travelling up to 10km to use the SPA as
their local greenspace. The provision of an attractive alternative in
closer proximity to a new development would increase its likelihood
of use.

A Natural Green Space Study has been prepared to support Forest
Heath District Councils Single Issue Review of Core Strategy Policy
CS7 and separate Site Allocations Local Plan. The purpose of the
study is to provide evidence on appropriate accessible open space
that will support the planned growth in the district. The study is
required because there is concern that increased development in
the district has the potential to contribute to recreational pressure
on Breckland Special Protection Area (SPA) and Breckland Special
Area of Conservation (SAC).

The study found that in Lakenheath there is an absence of natural
greenspace between 2-20ha in size, except in the vicinity of
Maidscross Hill. It concluded that additional provision of natural
open space is required as part of any developments in particular
provision of new natural green space to divert pressure away from
the SPA and existing Maidscross Hill SSSI. In addition new access
routes are required which could potentially focus on the Cut-Off
Channel. A number of opportunities were identified for the village
to develop suitable alternative green space for both new and
existing residents to use.

This application does not include any measure that would
contribute to this strategic approach to mitigation of potential in-
combination recreational effects. This point is also noted by Natural
England in their letter of 6.10.16

Page 89



Ecology - Designated sites

This application is in close proximity to Maidscross Hill Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Local Nature reserve (LNR).
The applicant has submitted a document entitled Addendum to the
HRA that deals with the impacts of the scheme on Maidscross Hill
SSSI, which forms part of the planning application for comment
during consultation.

Natural England has commented that the proposed development is
likely to result in an increase in recreational pressure on the SSSI,
with most of the damage caused by dog walking and visitors
walking off the main path. These activities can result in the
trampling of habitats and rare plants and the eutrophication of the
soil. Other activities that result in pressure to the site include
increased litter on site (and potentially fires) due to picnics and
barbeques. In addition, the proposed housing development backs
on to Unit 2 of the SSSI (the covered reservoir) and may present a
risk from activities such as the encroachment of gardens and the
dumping of garden rubbish.

Natural England has confirmed that without mitigation it is not
possible to rule out that this application will lead to significant
effects on the interest features of the SSSI, either alone or
cumulatively with other developments within Lakenheath. Due to
the location of the application site it would not be possible to
prevent or discourage the c.240+ new residents from accessing the
site.

Natural England has further advised that it would only be possible
to mitigate for the recreational effects of an application site this
close to the SSSI by contributing to a wardening service to oversee
Maidscross Hill SSSI/LNR. They go on to confirm that no
improvement works or other measures on site could entirely
prevent access. Natural England in their letter went on to state
measures to contribute to the management of the site and to
encourage visitors to stay on the paths (eg. path and sign
improvements, and information boards) would be welcomed.

Discussions between Natural England and Forest Heath Council has
highlighted that the application is likely to lead to an increase in
cats on site, which are likely to predate rabbits and ground nesting
birds. The habitats of Maidscross Hill rely on rabbit grazing to keep
them in good condition. In recent years, the lack of sufficient
grazing has allowed bracken and considerable amounts of gorse
and hawthorn scrub to invade the site. It is possible that an
increase in cats will reduce the effectiveness of the rabbits to
maintain the site. Also note that loss of some grassland the scrub
has provided additional nesting habitat for birds, which may in turn
be predated by cats. Natural England has confirmed that there is
no way to mitigate for this as cats also cannot be prevented from

Page 90



entering the site. However note that we consider that the effect
due to cats is unlikely to be significant alone, but is likely to
contribute to loss of condition of the interest features of Maidscross
Hill SSSI.

Ecology - Habitats

The site has an interesting and varied range of habitats and
although its history suggests that these habitats (other than the
woodlands and scattered mature trees) are relatively new, the site
is developing a diverse range of wildlife. There is evidence of acid
grassland developing, particularly where the grassland has been
managed regularly. Structural diversity across the site is excellent
with trees, scrub, tall ruderal species, short grassland, bare ground
and gardens all providing a range of habitats for wildlife. The site
borders the open grasslands of Maidscross Hill SSSI and has
excellent connectivity. The proposals include for the clearance of
large parts of the site vegetation and trees.

The site currently acts as a physical buffer between existing
residential development and Maidscross Hill SSSI. Any
development must retain a suitably wide buffering habitat along
the boundary with the SSSI and LNR and a buffer of 11m is now
set out in the indicative plan and this would need to be secured if
the application were to be granted permission.

The Forestry commission has noted that the proposals would lead
the loss of some individual trees and plantation woodland of
approximately 1.9 hectares, although this does not appear to be
ancient and/or semi-natural woodland. The UK Forestry Standard
(“the government's approach to sustainable forest management”,
Forestry Commission 2011) states that, “the overarching policy for
the sustainable management of forests, woodlands and trees at a
UK level is a presumption against the conversion of forest land to
other land uses - unless there are compelling reasons in the public
interest for doing so.

Ecology - Protected species

A badger survey report has been submitted to support the planning
application. This reported that no evidence of badgers was found
on the site. Resurvey for badgers would be required prior to any
development if permission were granted.

A bat survey was also undertaken at the site. This concluded that
woodland edge, hedgerow and tree habitats on the eastern and
western boundaries are considered to be important for foraging
bats. The report goes on to state that the loss of these features of
value (through removal or loss of functionality via light pollution)
may confer significant effects (habitat loss/fragmentation) to the
local bat populations utilising the site without mitigation. The
indicative layout does not show any retained trees or vegetation

Page 91



although the tree survey plan indicates that those trees on the
boundary but outside the site would be retained along with a row
of trees on the southern boundary. A significant impact on bats as
a result of the proposals cannot be ruled out.

A breeding bird survey was also undertaken. A total of 42 species
of bird was recorded. Of these, 30 species are considered to be
potentially breeding at the site or have territories which regularly
encompass part of the site. The report recommended the retention
of dense scrub at the eastern side of the site, which is contiguous
with the scrub at Maids Cross Hill LNR/SSSI, should be
incorporated in the development. Provision of scrub on-site
(through retention or planting)or nearby should be implemented to
enhance nightingale habitat. A minimum buffer on the eastern side
of the site has now been retained although it is unclear what will be
retained as the arboricultural report and plan is not updated.

Invertebrate survey was also undertaken on the site. This found
the site supports a small area of recently created bare earth
habitat relevant to the species of conservation concern on
Maidscross Hill SSSI, with two of the species of concern on
Maidscross Hill SSSI occurring on the project site (the bee Osmia
bicolor, and also the common cinnabar moth). The third species on
the project site is not known from Maidscross Hill SSSI and may be
absent as it requires aphids on umbellifers as prey. The scrub on
the project site has the potential to be used for hunting and
foraging by species otherwise present on Maidscross Hill SSSI, but
no such species were recorded. The role of the project site as
supporting habitat for Maidscross Hill SSSI was assessed to be
minor.

Impacts on invertebrates are associated with habitat loss but also
with site lighting. Mitigation recommended in the report includes
provision and management of soft landscaping - however the
current application includes limited provision. It is also
recommended that any site compounds are located away from the
SSSI with lighting orientated away from the SSSI. The lighting
scheme for the whole site, and in particular the south and eastern
boundaries, should also be designed to Ilimit impacts on
invertebrates within the Maidscross Hill SSSI. The report includes
enhancement measures which would need to be incorporated. The
main failings of the proposal are the loss of habitat and the lack of
provision of open space to provide suitable mitigation.

Supporting information also includes a reptile survey report which
reports the presence of a population of lizards and grass snakes on
the site. The site would require a reptile mitigation strategy to be
implemented with animals translocated to a receptor site. No
details of this are given and no receptor site is proposed;
preparation of a receptor site would require a significant lead in
time.

Page 92



Landscape

The amendment to the layout to include a green buffer to the east
of the development is welcomed. However the remainder of the
site and the fragmented distribution of open space through the
development remains. The layout is poor, and of particular concern
is permeability for pedestrians. In addition the proposals do not
seek to retain any of the existing site features which would be of
benefit in providing a mature landscape setting.

I note that the tree plan has not been updated in light of the new
layout. A number of the trees on the site are protected by tree
preservation order TPO4/2016. The tree preservation order was
made because the trees within this site form a buffer to the eastern
edge of Lakenheath and a visual separation between the built
development and the adjacent Maidscross Hill Site of Special
Scientific Interest and Local Nature Reserve. The trees are an
important visual amenity and contribute to the character of the
adjacent open space which is used by the community. This tree
preservation order has been made to protect the most significant
trees on the site which are potentially threatened by proposed
development.

The layout of the site does not provide meaningful and useable
open space to serve the new community. Neither does the
landscaping seek to provide well connected and attractive open
space that could be used by residents for recreational activities
such as dog walking as an alternative to visiting the adjacent
sensitive nature reserves. The response from SCC Flood and Water
Engineer suggests that the layout has not given sufficient
consideration to the provision of SUDs and I would be concerned
that the requirement for SUDs would further compromise the open
space indicated. Given the issues that have been identified in
relation to potential recreational pressure on both the adjacent
SSSI and the SPA it is important that the full amount of POS is
included within the site, and this should if possible be distributed to
allow access from all parts of the development.

Natural England has commented in relation to green infrastructure
that:

We note that due to the reduction in housing, there has been a
small increase in onsite green infrastructure and the site now
includes a cycle/footpath to the site from Broom Road. Whilst we
welcome this increase in GI and all the measures set out in the
Ecological Mitigation Plan we are not clear what measures are
being provided to support residents after reviewing the submitted
documentation. Ecological mitigation is proposed in all the areas of
open space in preference to amenity open space.

Whilst the buffer to the eastern side of the site and the measures
proposed to encourage species on site are welcomed, measures to

Page 93



39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

provide for onsite recreational space, including a dog walking route
on site are not included.

Suffolk County Council (Highways - Development
Management) (November 2014 - note these comments were
received to the original planning application which included vehicular
access onto the unmade Broom Road. Amendments have
subsequently been made to the access strategy) - The Highway
Authority raised no objections and commented that Broom Road
would need to be made up to adoptable standards with a footway.
Given that stretch of Broom Road is a footpath, Rights of Way
permission would need to be sought. The Highway Authority also
confirmed that a Transport Assessment would need to be provided
which scopes this site and all approved development and any
mitigation required.

A number of conditions were recommended in the event that planning
permission was to be granted. It was indicated that details of the
developer contributions required to be provided towards highway
improvements for pedestrians, cycles and bus provision was to follow.

Suffolk County Council (Highways - Public Rights of Way)
(November 2014) - objected to the application and commented as
follows:

e The site has Public Footpath No. 7 to the west, Public Footpath
No. 12 to the east and Restricted Byway No. 6 (RB6) to the
south.

e The application proposes to use RB6 as one of three vehicular
access points for the development; the restricted byway is not
suitable for vehicular traffic of that extent at the eastern end.
Therefore we would not support a vehicular access at this point
but a pedestrian access should be considered as opposite is an
entrance in to Maidscross Hill Open Access Land. We would also
suggest a pedestrian access is provided from the development
to Public Footpath No. 12. Improved pedestrian access will
encourage walking for recreation and health benefits.

In September 2016, the Rights of Way Team responded to the re-
consultation to confirm they held no objections to the amended
scheme and welcomed the replacement of the previously proposed
vehicular access onto the Restricted Byway (the unmade part of
Broom Road).

Suffolk County Council (Highways - Travel Planning) -
(November 2014) noted the application should have been
accompanied by a travel plan given its size. The submission of a travel
plan was requested prior to the determination of the planning
application and its subsequent implementation and monitoring
enforced by a S106 obligation or planning condition.

Page 94



44,

45,

46.

47.

Suffolk County Council (Archaeology) (November 2014) - No
objections and comments this large site lies within an area of
archaeological potential. It lies adjacent to a major, regionally
significant Lower Palaeolithic site associated with the ancient
watercourse, the Bytham River. The area is extremely rich in
archaeological remains, with multiple Prehistoric, Roman, Saxon and
medieval findspots recorded within 250m to the north. A review of the
historic maps also identified the potential presence of a post medieval
or earlier cemetery in the southern half of the site.

The preliminary programme of archaeological assessment has
adequately demonstrated there are no grounds to consider refusal of
permission in order to achieve preservation in situ of any nationally
important below ground heritage assets. However, the character and
full extent of these assets requires closer definition by a second phase
of field evaluation and mitigation as necessary. Two conditions are
recommended.

These comments and requirements were repeated in October 2016
when the Archaeological team responded to the consultation in
relation to the amended plans.

Suffolk County Council (Development Contributions) -
(December 2014) - raised no objections and provided the following
comments and requests for S106 contributions:

e Forest Heath is currently undertaking a Single Issue Review looking
at housing numbers and distribution across the district. In this
connection we will greatly welcome the early conclusion of this
review to enable a proper plan-led approach to development with
the necessary supporting infrastructure provision.

Education (Primary).

e Continued uncertainty about the scale and location of growth in
Lakenheath in the absence of a site allocation document and the
relatively recent removal from consideration of the possible site on
the Elveden Estates land for 750 dwellings which included a
primary school site has presented considerable difficulty for the
county council in determining how the appropriate education
strategy for Lakenheath can now be delivered i.e. where can an
alternative school site be located to best serve the local
community. This has been compounded by the recent decision by
the US authorities to relinquish housing at Lord’s Walk in Eriswell
and release these houses back into civilian use, thereby potentially
adding greater numbers of school children to the existing upward
trends. The existing primary school site in the village is almost at
capacity and it is clear that the constrained nature of the site does
not allow this to be used as a long term solution for additional
accommodation requirements.

e There are two areas of uncertainty - the permanent location of any

Page 95



new school site and meeting short term needs pending the
construction and opening of a new primary school. On the
permanent location of a new school, which is likely to be 1.5 forms
of entry (315 places) but could be up to 2 forms of entry (420
pupils) and requiring a minimum of 2 hectares of land, the county
council has commissioned its consultants, Concertus, to identify
options for possible sites but these have yet to be carefully tested.
It is noted that application reference DC/14/2096/HYB on land to
the north of the village contains a proposal for a primary school
site. However, at present, a number of uncertainties remain:

» The size and configuration of the sites in relation to the school
requirements;

> Whether the sites are likely to be available in the next couple of
years;

» Their relationship to access and services;

» Environmental, flooding, aircraft noise and other constraints on
the site;

» Their location within the village in relation to the spread of
development identified in any site allocation document proposed
by the district council and, if it is to accommodate children from
Lord’s Walk, its distance from that site.

> Whether the sites offered come as part of a wider planning
proposal and what the view of the district council is of the likely
acceptability of such a scheme.

» Furthermore, there is the uncertainty about the willingness of
the landowners to release their sites and the question of
whether compulsory purchase procedures will be needed.

» An assessment of highway impacts on the village, both in terms
of the new school site location but also from cumulative impacts
from village-wide development.

All of this means that it is not possible at this point for the county
council to be clear about which site, if any, might be suitable for
development and exactly when it would be deliverable.
Furthermore, the pace at which this work has had to be done
militates against effective engagement with the local community.

In the short term, the capacity of the existing primary school will
be exceeded in the next year or so and temporary arrangements
will need to be put in place to accommodate additional children.
This will be driven in part, if not wholly, by any housing schemes
granted permission in the village. It is not clear that a plan can be
developed that will allow for temporary accommodation on the
existing constrained site, pending completion of the new school. If

Page 96



not, then school children will need to be transported to schools in
surrounding villages or towns, which in themselves may well
require temporary extensions. Clearly, for an uncertain period of
time, this could result in an unsustainable pattern of school
provision.

It is recognised that the district council faces an issue about
identifying adequate housing land. The county council considers
that it is a matter for the district council to balance the needs for
the release of new housing sites with the risks associated with the
emergence of a possibly unsustainable pattern of school provision.
In this context it is left to the district council to draw the planning
balance considering these and all other relevant matters.

If the district council considers that it should approve the planning
application, this should be on the basis that sufficient funding is
made available for a proportionate share of the costs of the school
site together with the costs of providing temporary classrooms at
an existing primary school and/or the costs of school transport
pending the construction of a permanent school.

On this basis we would request the following contributions in
respect of education mitigation from this particular scheme of 132
dwellings.

The estimated cost of providing a new 315 place primary school
(excluding land costs) is £17,778 for each school place. It is
forecast that this development would generate 33 pupils of primary
school age. The contribution to be secured from this development
is therefore £586,674 (33 places x £17,778 per place).

The pro-rata contribution towards the acquisition costs of a new 2
hectare site assuming a maximum alternative residential value of
£864,850 per hectare is £181,203.

Temporary classroom costs if required. The cost to purchase a
single temporary classroom with toilet and accessible toilet is
currently estimated to be £106,000, the cost of which would need
to be secured from this development on a pro-rata basis. The
annual transport cost per pupil if required is assumed to be £750
(2015/16 costs).

Education (Secondary and VIth form)

There are currently forecast to be surplus places available at the
catchment secondary schools serving the proposed development,
so we will not be seeking secondary school contributions.

Education (pre-school)

In Lakenheath census data shows there is an existing shortfall of
places in the area. From these development proposals we would

Page 97



anticipate up to 13 pre-school pupils at a cost of £6,091 per place.
We would request a capital contribution of £79,183 (2015/16
costs). This contribution will be spent to provide a collocated early
years setting with the new primary school.

Play space provision.

Consideration will need to be given to adequate play space
provision.

Transport issues

A comprehensive assessment of highways and transport issues will
be required as part of the planning application. This will include
travel plan, pedestrian & cycle provision, public transport, rights of
way, air quality and highway provision (both on-site and off-site).
Requirements will be dealt with via planning conditions and Section
106 as appropriate, and infrastructure delivered to adoptable
standards via Section 38 and Section 278.

An important element to address is connectivity with the
development to services & facilities in Lakenheath, such as a safe
walking/cycling route to the schools.

Libraries.

A capital contribution of £28,512 to be used towards libraries is
requested. The contribution would be available to spend in
Lakenheath to enhance local provision.

Waste.

A waste minimisation and recycling strategy needs to be agreed
and implemented by planning conditions.

Supported Housing.

Supported Housing provision, including Extra Care/Very Sheltered
Housing providing accommodation for those in need of care,
including the elderly and people with learning disabilities, may
need to be considered as part of the overall affordable housing
requirement. We would also encourage all homes to be built to
‘Lifetime Homes’ standards.

Sustainable Drainage Systems.

Developers are urged to utilise sustainable drainage systems
(SuDS) wherever possible, with the aim of reducing flood risk to
surrounding areas, improving water quality entering rivers and also
providing biodiversity and amenity benefits. Under certain
circumstances the County Council may consider adopting SuDS
ahead of October 2013 and if this is the case would expect the cost

Page 98



48.

49,

of ongoing maintenance to be part of the Section 106 negotiation.
Fire Service.

e Any fire hydrant issues will need to be covered by appropriate
planning conditions. We would strongly recommend the installation
of automatic fire sprinklers.

Superfast broadband.

e SCC would recommend that all development is equipped with
superfast broadband (fibre optic).

In January 2017, the Development Contributions Manager wrote
to update earlier requests in order to reflect changes in circumstances.
The updated position required developer contributions to be used
towards the delivery of a 420 place school (as opposed to 315
previously requested), at a cost of £16,429 per pupil emerging
(£443,583 in total from the scheme) and £34,938 towards the land
cost. An wupdated pre-school contribution was also requested
(£108,330) to reflect increase build costs and a slightly reduced
libraries contribution of £23,760 was also requested.

Suffolk County Council (Floods Team) (September 2016) objects
to the planning application and provides the following comments:

e SCC have reviewed the FRA by Canham Consulting - Land North Of
Broom Road and Land Way and Maids Cross Hill, Lakenheath Flood
Risk Assessment (ref 203421 and dated Dec 2013). In principle the
outline drainage strategy is on the right track but due to issues
with the site layout we cannot approve the applications at this
time.

e The basis of the drainage strategy is to use infiltration SuDS at the
site, in line with national and local hierarchies on discharge
locations. Some outline soakage tests have been undertaken which
show good infiltration at the site, although no borehole logs have
been submitted with the application. SCC require borehole logs to
indicate the depths of the different stratigraphy.

e The main issue with the site is the building layout, there should be
at least 12m between houses to allow for a 5m distance between
the soakaways and any foundations. This currently is not the case
and the density of the site is unacceptable and the gardens need to
be extended.

e SCC will only allow shallow soakaways no more than 2m deep and
will be at least 1m above groundwater table. Currently some of the
soakaways proposed to drain the adoptable highway are deeper
than 2 metres.

e There is no assessment of how highway water will be treated - this

Page 99



is critical to protect local aquifers especially as soakaways are to be
used.

To alleviate any exceedance flows in excess of drainage design or
due to blockage exiting the site; a green corridor along the western
boundary which houses an infiltration trench or similar should be
included.

Representations:

50.

51.

The planning application has been the subject of two separate rounds
of consultation; i) October 2014 and ii) August 2016. The following is
a summary of the representations received.

Lakenheath Parish Council - (December 2014) objected to the
planning application on the following grounds:

This area is considered as development in the Countryside as
outside the defined development boundary. This is as defined by
the local plan (1995). It is also contrary to FHDC Policy CS2. The
NPPF indicates that care should be exercised to prevent
development sprawling into the countryside and that the planning
system should aim to conserve and enhance the natural and local
environment. The adjacent land, The Warren, includes a nature
reserve (SSSI) and is frequently used by walkers etc. The visual
impact of the development will be adversely affected by the loss of
the Trees and the sight of houses.

It is agreed that the initial 800 houses originally allocated are
expected in Lakenheath between now and 2031. But this needs to
be arranged with a Master Plan for collective development and
infrastructure which must happen simultaneously - not years later
as in the case of Red Lodge Developments. This must take into
account the 321 dwellings for which permission for development
has been granted and the further 674 for which permission is now
being sought.

The single issue review has not been addressed yet therefore all
developments now should be plan led not developer led, especially
as the 5 year land supply for FHDC issue is presently resolved with
the required 5% buffer. Therefore until the single issue review is
completed all planning cases should be considered as premature.
At the end of the day we are now shaping the village for the next
100 years.

There are no plans to increase or improve public transport, indeed
it was only in September 2014 that a direct link to Bury St
Edmunds was lost, and as no new roads or road improvements are
envisaged, residents from the proposed site will use ultimately
Broom Road to enter the High Street. This junction is now often
congested and with further development of other sites off Broom
road this can only be exacerbated. This is contrary to Policy CS4

Page 100



not encouraging additional car usage. This policy provides for safe
and attractive footpaths and cycle linkages to be kept or created to
link any new development into nearby areas. Where are they?

Education. How will schooling now cope? There is no extra
capacity bearing in mind the current approval for an extra 321
dwellings including infill. The attitude at FHDC is that it is SCC
obligation to educate they have to find a solution whether it is
bussing to available schools with places or provide temporary
classes at other schools till our second school is available. On this
point alone any approval should be delayed until the new school is
provided. Indeed Sir Michael Wilshaw, head of Ofsted on TV
Wednesday 8th October evening totally slammed the education
system in Norfolk and Suffolk. He said; "Some of the unluckiest
children live here in Ofsted’s East of England region and in this
county. Despite some recent improvement, they still have among
the lowest chances in the country of attending a good or better
school.

Primary schools fare worse here than in almost every other region
and secondary schools also lag behind."Our educational problems
cannot be resolved whilst we have SCC as the provider messing
about with children's education to this level of incompetence.

Sewerage. Anglian water will always say sufficient capacity they
want the extra customers. They are a commercial concern. It will
only be when new problems arise that they will be dealt with.
Additionally the surface drains do not cope presently at the bottom
of Mill Road, Broom Road and Avenue Road as it meets Eriswell
Road. There have also been problems at the end of Roughlands
where it meets Broom Road, Eriswell Drive where it meets Broom
Road and occasionally in Highfields. This needs to be addressed
before any problem is created with the additional capacity.

Roadways will be strained with the additional traffic from all 3
proposed locations entering the estate. The High Street is
already congested at various times of the day. The proposed site
is a great distance from the centre of the village and it is likely that
there will be at least 2 cars per family. As a bus route it will not
be possible to slow traffic down. A solution will have to be found
elsewhere.

Part of the proposed site L21 is adjacent to a site of special
scientific interest (SSSI)/local Nature reserve. This should be
considered as a wildlife "buffer" zone and the natural boundary of
the village. The Breeding bird survey (page 6) suggests that there
are 42 Species of birds using the area and 30 found to be breeding
on the site. 9 of which have notable conservation status.

The proposed site allows for the majority (possibly 70) mature

trees to be removed. None have TPO’s. There is no suggested new
planting. When the trees are removed the noise buffer of the old

Page 101



Covey will mean that the surrounding areas will have a nuisance by
noise emanating from RAF Lakenheath because of the loss of the
shielding effect from the belt of trees. This will also contribute to
more adverse weather conditions to the area ie more wind etc (no
tree protection).

Contrary to policy CS3 the landscape is proposed to be dramatically
altered by the removal of countryside and introduction of
residential dwellings. L15 area is included for development within
the site allocations designated for Lakenheath but L21 is not and
should not be so considered.

The density and layout of the proposed dwellings is out of
character and certainly does not reinforce local distinctiveness of
the area (contrary to CS3 and CS5). Dwellings in surrounding
areas sit in spacious grounds a setting more amenable and
pleasing when located, on the outskirts of the village; the design is
unimaginative bearing in mind the loss of natural heath land and
visitor parking totally inadequate given the poor level of public
transport within the village, thus contrary to FHDC Policy 4.14,
Policy CS3, more importantly, Policy CS5 and Policy CS6.

Since when does the mix of affordable homes with those privately
owned work. Affordable homes should be kept together in one part
of the estate only as has been done on other sites in the village
(Briscoe Way as an example). It is suggested that the mixes of
affordable homes suggested are reassessed. At the moment there
is on the current waiting list for affordable homes with Lakenheath
as their chosen home 209 applicants. Of this 119 want a 1 bed
home, 60 a 2 bed home, 23 a 3 bed home and 7 a 4+ bedroom
property. Of the 209 applicants 5 only want Lakenheath, 51 have
Lakenheath mentioned as a possible choice of home and 153 were
not worried where they were provided with a home. The developer
proposes to build 42 2 bed affordable homes. A mix of 1 bed and 2
bed properties would better match the villages needs in affordable
homes.

The proposed site at L21 is too close to the flight path for the
nearby base at RAF Lakenheath which sees the arrival and
departure of many NATO aircraft. Those houses on the outer edge
will be worst effected as they will overlook the Base.

A single nightingale territory was present according to the Breeding
Bird report and this contributes to a local population that is likely to
be of District or possibly County importance. This territory is
dependent on the presence of dense scrub and loss of this habitat
is likely to adversely affect them. According to the RSPB there were
5 nesting pairs this summer on the SSSI reserve adjacent to the
proposed development. Almost all of the breeding bird community,
including the species of Conservation Concern, is largely associated
with the habitat provided by scrub and the small patches of broad-
leaved trees. All of the notable species, except nightingale, are still

Page 102



52.

53.

widespread and common in Britain and Suffolk, albeit in decline
nationally (Bird Atlas 2007-11 and Suffolk Bird Atlas 2007-11).
Nightingale is widespread in Suffolk and the single territory in the
survey area contributes to a local breeding population, centred on
the adjacent Maids Cross Hill LNR, which is considered here to be
of District Importance and may be of County Importance.

If you are mindful to agree to a development in this area it should
be considered only on the area of L15 and not include L21. To
include L21 is against Policy CS2 which seeks to protect areas of
landscape biodiversity geo-diversity but more importantly local
distinctiveness. Policy CS3 says to preserve and where possible
enhance the landscape character of the local area. To remove the
trees and scrubland certainly would not achieve this. It is
considered that developers should be asked to provide dog waste
bins.

The key principle of the core Strategy is to ensure the efficient use
of land by balancing the competing demands within the context of
sustainable development. This is not the case with this proposal.

Lakenheath Parish Council - (January 2015) submitted further
representations with respect to all of the ‘live’ planning applications
set out in the table below paragraph 15 of this report above. The
representations were received via Solicitors representing the Parish
Council. The following matters were raised:

The cumulative traffic impact assessment undertaken is flawed and
should not be relied upon insofar as it does not consider all
applications submitted and should be updated.

Up-to-date EIA screening opinions should be carried out before any
of the planning applications are determined. In the opinion of the
Parish Council all the planning applications require Environmental
Statements, particularly with regard to cumulative impacts (a joint
Environmental Statement).

The Parish Council refer to objections received from Natural
England received in June 2015 (paragraph 23 above) as reasons to
refuse planning permission and thus concludes the LPA is
compelled in law to carry out an Appropriate Assessment of the
scheme prior to consenting to the scheme [members will note
Natural England’s June 2015 objections were subsequently
withdrawn following receipt of further information - paragraph 25
above].

The Parish Council raises concerns regarding noise, vibration and
risks of accidents from civil aviation activities in the vicinity of the
planning application and is particularly concerned in this respect
with regard to the location of the primary school.

In September 2016, following re-consultation, the Lakenheath

Page 103



Parish Council maintained its objections to the planning application
and provided the following comments:

This area is still considered as development in the Countryside as
outside the defined development boundary. This is as defined by
the local plan (1995) and contravenes your policy DM5. The NPPF
indicates that care should be exercised to prevent development
sprawling into the countryside and that the planning system should
aim to conserve and enhance the natural and local environment.
The adjacent land, The Warren, includes a nature reserve (SSSI)
and is frequently used by walkers etc. The visual impact of the
development will be adversely affected by the loss of the Trees and
the sight of houses. DM13 applies here too.

Good design is important for all development types in all locations.
The NPPF makes it clear in paragraph 56 that ‘good design is a key
aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good
planning, and should contribute positively to making places better
for people’. New development should achieve a high quality design
that enhances the unique characteristics of an area and ensures a
better quality of life for people within that area. Contrary to DM2
This new plan detail is still a cramped development even though it
is reduced in dwelling provision. The site area 4.61 hectares has
the potential capacity for 83 dwellings based on 30 dwellings per
hectare on 60% of developable area per FHDC core strategy. The
dwellings themselves will be adjacent to spacious bungalows yet
they are in the main 2 storey properties.

Grade 3 agricultural land lost

The proposed site at L21 is too close to the flight path for the
nearby base at RAF Lakenheath which sees the arrival and
departure of many NATO aircraft. Part of the new estate is directly
under the flight path of the returning jets therefore a nuisance by
noise will affect the new properties.

Removal of trees will increase noise and wind for the whole Village
as the current trees must act as a wind break. Part of the land is
one of the last remaining woods in the Village.

There are no plans to increase or improve public transport. It was
September 2014 that the direct link (bar the college bus early
morning to Bury St Edmunds and evening bus from the College) to
Bury St Edmunds was lost, and as no new roads or road
improvements are envisaged, residents from the proposed site will
use ultimately Broom Road to enter the High Street. Roadways will
be strained with the additional traffic from both locations entering
the new estate. The road access from Covey Way and The Firs is
too narrow to serve the entire proposed estate. These feed
eventually into Broom Road and then High Street which junction is
now often congested and with further development of other sites
off Broom road this can only be exacerbated. This is contrary to

Page 104



Policy CS4 not encouraging additional car usage. This policy also
provides for safe and attractive footpaths and cycle linkages to be
kept or created to link any new development into nearby areas.
Where are they other than the short entrance to Broom Road? In
addition DM9 states: Consideration will be given as to whether
development will impact on the use of the highway, with particular
attention paid to the potential for restrictions on the width of the
highway, to the detriment of safety, amenity and/or accessibility.

We would refer you to DM45, the Parish Council has previously
raised concerns about the potential impact of the level of new
traffic on local junctions and the cumulative impact of the level of
new housing that is being promoted in and around Lakenheath
already. This proposed estate if far too large providing for too
many cars as previously stated to make use of the entrances
proposed at The Firs and Covey Way. The Parish Council retains
these concerns and suggests that until a solution is found as to
how to mitigate the choke points (particularly Broom Road with the
High Street, Lords Walk Roundabout and the junction at Eriswell of
the A1065 and B1112 this case should not proceed.

The proposed site is a great distance from the centre of the village
and it is likely that there will be at least 2 cars per family.
Insufficient parking facilities appear to have been considered
bearing in mind services and visitors too.

The density and layout of the proposed dwellings is out of
character and certainly does not reinforce local distinctiveness of
the area (contrary to CS3 and CS5). Dwellings in surrounding
areas are in the main bungalows not two storey buildings. They
generally sit in spacious grounds a setting more amenable and
pleasing when located, on the outskirts of the village; the design is
unimaginative bearing in mind the loss of natural heath land and
visitor parking totally inadequate given the poor level of public
transport within the village, thus contrary to FHDC Policy 4.14,
Policy CS3, more importantly, Policy CS5 and Policy CSé6.

The mixes of affordable homes suggested need to be reassessed as
not enough variety as to size.

I would remind you that DM9 states: in the case of proposals in
nature conservation sites, or within or visible from Conservation
Areas or other heritage assets, the developer or operator can
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority that
the proposal represents the highest standards of siting and design
appropriate to the location. This does not appear to have been
taken into account on this occasion.

DM10 suggests When considering development proposals which
may have an adverse impact on nature conservation sites or
interests, the local planning authority will have regard to the expert
nature conservation advice provided by Natural England, the

Page 105



Suffolk Wildlife Trust and other specialist sources. The Ecological
Mitigation Masterplan does not appear to go far enough to
safeguard the Nature reserve, SSSI site. In fact, it encourages
leisure to the area not safeguard the habitats within the area. 1
would remind you that a single nightingale territory was present
according to the Breeding Bird report (2 years old and out of date)
however, and this contributes to a local population that is likely to
be of District or possibly County importance. This territory is
dependent on the presence of dense scrub and loss of this habitat
is likely to adversely affect them. We understand that there were 5
nesting pairs this summer on the SSSI reserve adjacent to the
proposed development on the site of the ROC camp. Almost all of
the breeding bird community, including the species of Conservation
Concern, is largely associated with the habitat provided by scrub or
dense scrub and the small patches of broad-leaved trees. All of the
notable species, except nightingale, are still widespread and
common in Britain and Suffolk, albeit in decline nationally (Bird
Atlas 2007-11 and Suffolk Bird Atlas 2007-11). Nightingale is
widespread in Suffolk and the single territory in the survey area
contributes to a local breeding population, centred on the adjacent
Maids Cross Hill LNR, which is considered here to be of District
Importance and may be of County Importance. We await detail
from the RSPB and the British Trust for ornithology for confirmation
of this. We would remind you of the continuing wording for policy
DM9 says: Proposed development likely to result in adverse effects
to a SSSI will not be permitted unless the benefits of the
development, at this site, clearly outweigh both the impacts that it
is likely to have on the features of the site that make it of special
scientific interest and any broader impacts on the national network
of SSSIs. Proposals which would result in significant harm to
biodiversity, having appropriate regard to the ‘mitigation
hierarchy’, will not be permitted. DM11 also applies to this site,
protecting the species residing in the SSSI without sufficient
mitigation in rehoming.

NHS no mention of extra Doctors facilities for the Village. The NHS
letter of 17.2.16 for this site suggested then that our current
practice has a list size of 5325 patients whereas current capacity at
the time was 3946. This is covered by 4 Doctors, 2 full time and 2-
part time. Bear in mind the development Land North of Station
Road (375 dwellings) has now been granted consent for outline
planning. In addition, it is expected that further consent will be
provided for Eriswell Road site (up to 140 dwellings) Briscoe Way
(65 dwellings) and Rabbit Hill (up to 81) dwellings. The doctors’
surgery is now over stretched and there has been NO suggestion
for an additional site to be provided. This cannot be right as the
surgery will not be able to cope with the patients expected from
the above suggested 661 dwellings yet alone the additional
possible 110 from this application. We know that it is a national
problem to obtain locum cover. Mitigation measures need to be
put in place to overcome this and provide additional facilities for
the Village.

Page 106



We suggest that new proposals should be provided taking into
account our comments and bear in mind the provision of DM22
contents as this proposal does not.

54. Twenty one letters were received from local residents objecting to
the proposed development across the two consultations. The issues
and objections raised are summarised as follows (in no particular
order);

Policy:

Object to access onto the narrow Covey Way and Firs.

Too much traffic would be generated making the local road system
much worse.

Safety concerns to children in the area including around the
primary school (from traffic)

Too many homes are requested (132)

The school should not be enlarged again.

Access should be via Broom Road only.

A buffer should be provided between the development and the
SSSI

The mature trees should be retained and protected for future
generations.

Desecration of the wildlife using the site.

There are better development sites.

Loss of privacy and light to existing dwellings.

Devaluation of existing properties

Noise from the new residents.

Bungalows should be provided close to site boundaries.

Adverse visual and physical impacts upon the SSSI, being proposed
so close to it.

The development is dreary and unimaginative

There would be no buffer between the proposed buildings and the
base.

There would be very few employment opportunities for the
residents of the scheme.

Adverse impact from aircraft noise.

Doctors’ surgery and the school would not cope.

The intensification of RAF Lakenheath is bound to impact.

There are so many empty properties in the village that have been
empty for months.

Why build houses when the adjacent estate is bungalows?

Extra sewer and drainage capacity is required.

The density of development is far greater than the existing
development. There are too many houses proposed (110).

It is a major departure from the Development Plan

Is there evidence of need for this development?

The development would lead to surface water drainage issues.

55. The Development Plan comprises the policies set out in the Joint
Development Management Policies document (adopted February

Page 107



56.

2015), the Core Strategy Development Plan document (adopted May
2010) and the saved policies of the Forest Heath Local Plan (adopted
1995) which have not been replaced by policies from the two later
plans.

The following policies are relevant to the proposals:

Joint Development Management Policies Document (2015)

57.

The following policies from the Joint Development Management
Policies document are considered relevant to this planning application:

DM1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

DM2 - Development Principles and Local Distinctiveness

DM5 - Development in the Countryside

DM6 - Flooding and Sustainable Drainage

DM7 - Sustainable Design and Construction

DM10 - Impact of Development on Sites of Biodiversity and

Geodiversity Importance.

DM11 - Protected Species

e DM12 - Mitigation, Enhancement, Management and Monitoring of
Biodiversity.

e DM13 - Landscape Features

DM14 - Protecting and Enhancing Natural Resources, Minimising

Pollution and Safeguarding from Hazards.

DM20 - Archaeology

DM22 - Residential Design.

DM27 - Housing in the Countryside

DM41 - Community Facilities and Services

DM42 - Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities

DM44 - Rights of Way

DM45 - Transport Assessments and Travel Plans

DM46 - Parking Standards

Core Strategy (2010)

58. The Core Strategy was the subject of a successful legal challenge
following adoption. Various parts of the plan were affected by the High
Court decision, with Policies CS1 CS7 and CS13 being partially
quashed (sections deleted) and section 3.6 deleted in its entirety.
Reference is made to the following Core Strategy policies, in their
rationalised form.

Visions
Vision 1 - Forest Heath
Vision 5 - Lakenheath

Spatial Objectives

Spatial Objective H1 - Housing provision
Spatial Objective H2 - Housing mix and design standard

Page 108



Spatial Objective H3 - Suitable housing and facilities (life time
homes)

Spatial Objective C1 - Retention and enhancement of key
community facilities.

Spatial Objective C2 - Provision and maintenance of open space,
play & sports facilities and access to the countryside.

Spatial Objective C4 - Historic built environment.

Spatial Objective ENV1 - Habitats and landscapes and improving
biodiversity.

Spatial Objective ENV2 - Climate change and reduction of carbon
emissions.

Spatial Objective ENV3 - Promotion of renewable energy and
energy efficiency.

Spatial Objective ENV4 - Design and architectural quality respecting
local distinctiveness.

Spatial Objective ENV5 - Designhing out crime and anti-social
behavior

Spatial Objective ENV6 - Reduction of waste to landfill.

Spatial Objective ENV7 - Achieve sustainable communities by
ensuring services and infrastructure are commensurate with new
development.

Spatial Objective T1 - Location of new development where there are
opportunities for sustainable travel.

Policies

Policy CS1 - Spatial Strategy

Policy CS2 - Natural Environment

Policy CS3 - Landscape Character and the Historic Environment
Policy CS4 - Reduce Emissions, Mitigate and Adapt to future Climate
Change.

Policy CS5 - Design Quality and Local Distinctiveness

Policy CS6 - Sustainable Economic Development and Tourism

Policy CS7 - Overall Housing Provision (Sub-paragraph 1 only. Sub
paragraphs 2, 3, 4 and 5 were quashed by the High Court Order)
Policy CS9 - Affordable Housing Provision

Policy CS10 - Sustainable Rural Communities

Policy CS12 - Strategic Transport Improvement and Sustainable
Transport

Policy CS13 - Infrastructure and Developer Contributions

Local Plan (1995)

59.

A list of extant ‘saved’ policies is provided at Appendix A of the
adopted Core Strategy (2010) and those ‘saved’ policies subsequently
replaced upon the Council’'s adoption of the Joint Development
Management Policies Document (2015) are set out at Appendix B of
that document. The following saved Local Plan policy is relevant to
these proposals;

Policy 14.1 - Securing Infrastructure and Community Facilities from
Major New Developments.

Page 109



Other Planning Policy:

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

Supplementary Planning Documents

The following Supplementary Planning Documents are relevant to this
planning application:

e Joint Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document
(September 2013)

e Open Space, Sport and Recreation Supplementary Planning
Document (August 2011)

Emerging Development Plan Policy

The Council is presently consulting on submission versions the
following emerging Development Plan Documents:

e Proposed Submission Single Issue Review (SIR) of Core Strategy
Policy CS7 Overall Housing Provision and Distribution

e Proposed Submissions Site Allocations Local Plan

These documents are accompanied by a Policies Map Book which
illustrates key constraints, including planning policy based constraints.

At the meeting of Full Council on 21st December 2016 the submission
versions of the Single Issue Review and Site Allocations documents
were approved for public consultation. Authorisation was also afforded
to officers to submit the documents (along with any responses to the
consultation) to the Planning Inspectorate for examination. The
commitment to submit the plans was subject to no material issues
being raised from the consultation which would require further
consideration or major modifications to the documents.

This resolution effectively commits the Council to a submission of the
Regulation 19 consultation documents to the Planning Inspectorate for
examination, barring any major changes required as a consequence of
the current consultation. Any minor or other changes required would
be addressed by means of modifications to the documents through the
normal examination process. The present consultation about these
documents runs from 10th January to 21st February 2017.

The following emerging Development Plan policies are relevant to
these proposals:

Proposed Submission Single Issue Review (SIR) of Core Strategy
Policy CS7 Overall Housing Provision and Distribution

e Policy CS7: Overall housing provision and distribution

Page 110



66.

67.

68.

69.

Proposed Submission Site Allocations Local Plan (2107)

e Policy SA1l: Settlement boundaries
e Policy SA7: Housing and mixed use allocations in Lakenheath
e Policy SA8: Focus of growth — North Lakenheath

Policies Map Book

e Inset Map 12 (Policies Map Book)

With regard to the weight decision makers should afford to emerging
plans, The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework)
advises (at Annex 1) from the day of publication, decision-takers may
give weight to relevant policies emerging plans (unless material
indications indicate otherwise) according to:

e The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced
the preparation, the greater weight that may be given)

e The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant
policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater
weight that may be given); and

e The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging
plan to the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework, the
greater weight that may be given.

The emerging Single Issue Review and Site Allocations documents
have almost reached formal submission stage but are the subject of
prior consultation (the results of which will be addressed as part of the
examination procedures). It is not anticipated the Council will be
seeking to make any further changes to the documents in advance of
formal submission to the Planning Inspectorate. Accordingly, whilst
these policies cannot yet be attributed full weight in the decision
making process given they have not yet been the subject of formal
examination, they are clearly well advanced. Officers consider the
emerging policies can be attributed significant weight in reaching
planning decisions.

National Policy and Guidance

The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) sets out
government's planning policies for England and how these are
expected to be applied.

Paragraph 14 of the Framework identifies the principle objective:
“At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a

presumption in favour of sustainable development, which should be
seen as a golden thread running through both plan-making and

Page 111



70.

71.

72.

73.

decision-taking. For decision taking this means:

e Approving development proposals that accord with the
development plan without delay; and

e Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies
are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against
the policies in this framework taken as a whole;

- or specific policies in this framework indicate development
should be restricted.”

The Committee will be aware of the obligation set out in section 38(6)
of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 for decision makers
to determine planning applications in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The Framework does not displace this statutory duty and in fact seeks
to re-inforce it. However, the policies in the Framework are
themselves material considerations which need to be brought into
account when determining planning applications. NPPF policies may
support a decision in line with the Development Plan or they may
provide reasons which ‘indicate otherwise’. A key aspect of the
judgment to be reached on this matter is whether the relevant
Development Plan policies are ‘up to date’, ‘out of date’ or ‘silent’.

Relevant housing policies set out in the Core Strategy and
Development Management Policies Document are consistent with the
NPPF and, in your officers view, carry full weight in the decision
making process. The Council is able to demonstrate an up-to-date 5
year supply of deliverable housing sites which means policies in the
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies Document that
relate to the supply of housing carry full weight in determining this
planning application.

The importance of these issues has been heightened by recent Court
cases. First, it is now clear from the Court of Appeal judgment in
Daventry District Council v SSCLG (23 November 2016) that simply
demonstrating that there is a 5 year housing land supply does not
automatically mean that Development Plan policies relating to the
supply of housing are ‘up-to-date’ and should carry full weight. The
existence of a 5 year supply means that the guidance in paragraph 49
of the Framework (which deems policies to be ‘out-of-date’ where
there is no 5 year supply) does not apply. However, policies can be
out-of-date for other reasons, and this could be because of material
inconsistency with the relevant policies in the Framework or because
of some other change of circumstance since the policies were adopted.

The Daventry case also confirmed that the fact that a development

Page 112



74.

75.

76.

77.

plan policy was chronologically old was irrelevant for the purpose of
assessing its consistency with the policies in the Framework. In the
Daventry case the only development plan policies that applied to the
proposal were saved policies from a local plan prepared in the 1990s,
adopted in 1997, and with a plan period that ended in 2006. Those
policies had then been saved as part of the development plan by the
Secretary of State in 2007. The appeal was decided in June 2015. The
Court of Appeal said that the Inspector was obliged to test the
relevant policies against the advice in para 215 of the Framework
(concerning their degree of consistency with the Framework’s policies)
before he could properly conclude that the policies were not ‘up-to-
date’.

The Court of Appeal also said that where there was a demonstrated 5
year housing land supply, that would tend to show that there was no
compelling pressure by reason of unmet housing need which would
require the development plan’s housing policies to be over-ridden. It
also found that it was only the advice in the second bullet point of
paragraph 47 of the NPPF (which requires the 5 year supply) that was
relevant to decision taking and that all of the other bullet points were
concerned with plan-making (including the advice on the provision of a
supply for years 6 -10 and 11 - 15). The Court of Appeal said:

“But if the standard set out in the second bullet point of para 47 is
being complied with, as it was in this case, then in my view para 47
has no implications for decision-taking by a planning authority.”

Two other recent cases have held that the presumption in favour of
sustainable development, as expressed in the Framework, is only
applicable in the circumstances set out in para 14 of the Framework.
These cases are East Staffordshire Borough Council v SSCLG (decided
on 22 November 2016) and Trustees of the Barker Mill Estate v Test
Valley Borough Council & SSCLG (decided on 25 November 2016).
Both High Court judgments disagreed with an earlier High Court
decision, Wychavon District Council v SSCLG (decided on 16 March
2016), which had found there was a general presumption in favour of
sustainable development even when the presumption in para 14 did
not apply. It is understood that the East Staffordshire case is now to
be considered by the Court of Appeal.

In relation to decision taking, para 14 of the Framework covers the
following cases:

Cases where a proposal accords with the development plan;
Cases where the development plan is absent;

Cases where the development plan is silent;

Cases where relevant policies of the development plan are out-
of-date.

The relevant policies of the Framework are discussed below in the
officer comment section of this report.

Page 113



78.

The Government released its National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG) in March 2014 following a comprehensive exercise to review
and consolidate all existing planning guidance into one accessible,
web-based resource. The guidance (which is regularly updated on-
line) assists with interpretation about various planning issues and
advises on planning policy, best practice and planning process.

Officer Comment:

79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

This section of the report enters into discussion about whether the
proposed development can be considered acceptable in principle in the
light of extant national and local planning policies. It then goes on to
analyse other relevant material planning considerations (including site
specific considerations) before reaching conclusions.

Principle of Development

National Policy context and Forest Heath’s 5-year housing supply.

Paragraph 47 to the Framework states that to boost significantly the
supply of housing, local planning authorities should use their evidence
base to ensure that their Local Plan meets the full, objectively
assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the housing
market area (as far as is consistent with policy), including identifying
key sites which are critical to the delivery of the housing strategy over
the plan period.

In addition, the Framework requires authorities to identify and update
annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide five-
years worth of housing against their housing requirements with an
additional buffer of 5% (or a 20% buffer if there is evidence of a
persistent under-delivery of new housing) to ensure choice and
competition in the market for land.

Paragraph 49 of the Framework states "Housing applications should be
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable
development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be
considered up to date if the Local Planning Authority cannot
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites".

The latest 5-year housing supply assessment (considered by Members
of Full Council on the evening of 21 December 2016) confirms the
Council is presently able to demonstrate a 5-year supply of deliverable
housing sites. In light of the discussion about the recent High Court
judgements set out above, general Development Plan policies relating
to the supply of housing are considered up to date.

What is sustainable development?

The policies in paragraphs 18 to 219 of the Framework, taken as a
whole, constitute the Government’'s view of what sustainable
development means in practice for the planning system. It goes on to

Page 114



85.

86.

87.

88.

explain there are three dimensions to sustainable development:

i) economic (contributing to building a strong, responsive and
competitive economy),

i) social (supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities) and,

iii) environmental (contributing to protecting and enhancing our
natural, built and historic environment;)

The Framework explains (paragraph 9) that in order to achieve
sustainable development, economic, social and environmental gains
should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning
system. It is Government policy that the planning system should play
an active role in guiding development to sustainable solutions.

Paragraph 9 of the Framework further explains that pursuing
sustainable development involves seeking positive improvements in
the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in
people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to):

o making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and
villages;

o moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for
nature;

o improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and

take leisure; and

o widening the choice of high quality homes.

Prematurity

The NPPF does not address ‘prematurity’ directly, but advice about the
approach the decision maker should take is set out in the National
Planning Practice Guide. It states:

Annex 1 of the National Planning Policy Framework explains how
weight may be given to policies in emerging plans. However in the
context of the Framework and in particular the presumption in favour
of sustainable development - arguments that an application is
premature are unlikely to justify a refusal of planning permission other
than where it is clear that the adverse impacts of granting permission
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, taking the
policies in the Framework and any other material considerations into
account. Such circumstances are likely, but not exclusively, to be
limited to situations where both:

(a) the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative

effect would be so significant, that to grant permission would
undermine the plan-making process by predetermining decisions

Page 115



89.

90.

91.

92.

93.

94.

about the scale, location or phasing of new development that are
central to an emerging Local Plan or Neighbourhood Planning; and

(b) the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally
part of the development plan for the area.

Refusal of planning permission on grounds of prematurity will seldom
be justified where a draft Local Plan has yet to be submitted for
examination. Where planning permission is refused on grounds of
prematurity, the local planning authority will need to indicate clearly
how the grant of permission for the development concerned would
prejudice the outcome of the plan-making process.

In this case the application site is not included in the Council’s
‘preferred options’ version of the emerging Local Plan Site Allocations
Document and has been ‘deferred’ from that document.

The decision maker’s consideration of potential prematurity and
prejudicial impact upon the plan making process needs to be
undertaken in the light of the evidence to hand and following
assessment of the key contributing factors, including potential
cumulative effects. These are discussed below. The potential for the
appeal proposals to be premature and prejudicial to the local plan
process is considered later in this section of the report.

Development Plan policy context

Vision 1 of the Core Strategy confirms development will be focussed in
the towns and key service centres. Vision 5 (and policy CS1) confirms
Lakenheath as a key service centre. Spatial Objective H1 seeks to
provide sufficient homes in the most sustainable locations to meet the
needs of communities. Policy CS10 confirms the Towns and Key
Service Centres will be the focus of new development (providing
service to surrounding rural areas).

The surviving elements of Core Strategy policy CS7 provides for
11,100 dwellings and associated infrastructure in the plan period
(2001 - 2031) and confirms development will be phased to ensure
appropriate infrastructure is provided. Policy CS13 confirms the
release of land for development will be dependent on there being
sufficient capacity in the existing local infrastructure to meet the
additional requirements from development.

Policy CS1 states (in Lakenheath) commercial uses such as shops or
offices will be expected to be allocated within any major residential
development near the High Street and that sites for 70 new dwellings
will be allocated within the existing development boundary. A further
part of the policy which confirmed greenfield urban extension sites
would be allocated for at least 600 dwellings was quashed by the High
Court decision and carries no weight in determining this planning
application.

Page 116



95.

96.

97.

98.

99.

100.

101.

Core Strategy policy CS6 states that economic and tourism growth at
Lakenheath will be in broad alignment with the scale of housing
development to discourage commuting and achieve a homes / jobs
balance.

Policy DM1 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
re-affirms the tests set out at paragraph 17 of the NPPF (balancing the
positives against the negatives). Policies DM5 and DM27 set out
criteria against which development (DM5) and housing (DM27)
proposals in the countryside will be considered.

Emerging Policies

Policy CS7 of the emerging Single Issue Review (Submission version)
identifies an objectively assessed housing need of at least 6800
dwellings in the plan cycle 2011 to 2031. For Lakenheath, this includes
provision of 828 new homes on top of the 95 dwellings completed or
committed in the period 2011 to 2016 (923 dwellings overall).

Policy SA1 of the Site Allocations Local Plan (SALP) (Submission
version) introduces new settlement boundaries. These have been
reviewed from those last published in the 1995 Local Plan and which
were reproduced on the Proposals Map accompanying the Joint
Development Management Policies Document. The reviewed
settlement boundaries are included throughout the SALP document,
including for Lakenheath. The application site is not included within
the new Lakenheath settlement boundaries.

Policies SA7 and SA8 of the SALP allocate sites to accommodate the
828 new homes allocated to it by policy CS7 of the SIR. The bulk of
these are situated to the north of the village (policy SA8). The
application site is not allocated for housing development and retains
its status as a ‘countryside’ location. Policy SA8 requires provision for
a new primary school on one of the allocated sites.

Impact of the announced closure of Mildenhall airbase

In January 2015 the Ministry of Defence announced the United States
Air Force is planning to leave the Mildenhall airbase over an extended
period whilst at the same time increasing its operations at the
Lakenheath airbase. The announcement has only very limited impact
upon the consideration of this planning application given any
development opportunities which may arise at the base are not likely
to occur in the short term (i.e. within the 5-year housing supply
period) and may need to be planned for during the next Local Plan
cycle or as part of a mid-plan review.

Officer comment on the principle of development

The principle of a housing development at this site is clearly contrary
to relevant (and up to date) settlement policies of the Development
Plan. It is also contrary to the strategy for allocating sites set out in

Page 117



102.

103.

104.

105.

106.

107.

the emerging Site Allocations Local Plan (Submission version). The
presumption is therefore against granting planning permission for the
development. However before dismissing the proposals out of hand,
the Committee must consider whether there are any material
considerations, including policies set out in the NPPF, which should
lead them to a different view. This prospect is discussed in detail
below in a number of sub-sections.

Impact upon the landscape and trees

Impact upon landscape

The Framework confirms the planning system should (inter alia)
protect and enhance ‘valued landscapes’ and promotes development
of previously used land. Other than continuing protection of formal
Greenbelt designations (of which there are none in Forest Heath) and
recognising the hierarchy of graded agricultural land, national policy
stops short of seeking to protect the ‘countryside’ from new
development in a general ‘in principle’ sense.

Vision 5 of the Core Strategy recognises the fen and heathland
qualities of the countryside surrounding Lakenheath and seeks to
protect and enhance these landscapes. Some elements of the
countryside surrounding Lakenheath could therefore be viewed as
being ‘valued landscapes’ as cited in the Framework, albeit these are
not protected by a local ‘Special Landscape Area’ designation which
weakens that potential significantly.

Core Strategy Policies CS2 and CS3 seek to protect, conserve and
(where possible) enhance the quality, character and Ilocal
distinctiveness of the landscape and refers to the Forest Heath
Landscape Character Assessment to inform detailed assessment of
individual proposals.

Policy DM13 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
seeks to protect the Ilandscape character (including sensitive
landscapes) from the potentially adverse impacts of development. The
policy seeks proportionate consideration of landscape impacts and
calls for the submission of new landscaping where appropriate. It also
calls for landscape mitigation and compensation measures so there is
no net loss of characteristic features.

Lakenheath sits on the lower slopes of the chalky and sandy Maids
Cross Hill on the edge of the fens. The application site is agricultural
land outside the Lakenheath settlement boundary and is situated in
the countryside for the purposes of applying planning policies,
including those set out in the Framework.

The proposals for residential development in the countryside are thus
contrary to extant Development Plan policies which seek to direct such
development to locations within defined settlement boundaries or
allocated sites.

Page 118



108.

109.

110.

111.

112.

113.

The application site is categorised as ‘Settled Chalkland’ by the Suffolk
Landscape Character Assessment (SLCA). The Assessment recognises
the presence of the two air bases are important drivers for economic
activity and settlement expansion and states the Settled Chalkland
landscapes are under pressure from expansion of settlements and
other developments. The document considers it important to minimise
the impact of development upon the countryside of the settled
chalklands and landscape of the Settled Fenlands.

The SLCA comments, in a general sense, that the characteristic
pattern of planting found in chalkland landscapes, means it is possible
to design effective and locally appropriate boundary planting that will
minimise the impact of settlement expansion on the surrounding
landscape.

The development would be harmful to the immediate local landscape
as a matter of principle given that it would ultimately change its
character from undeveloped, wooded land to a developed housing
estate.

The impact of the development proposals upon the landscape qualities
and character of the wider countryside could be significant given the
village edge location of the site. However, the likelihood is tempered
somewhat by the presence of significant existing development in the
village which abuts two of the four site boundaries, leaving the eastern
and southern boundaries abutting the countryside. That said, the
semi-mature woodland and a number of protected trees about the site
are a key local landscape features. In the case of the woodland, it is
considered to act as a physical and emotional barrier between this
part of the village and the airfields of the RAF Lakenheath airbase
beyond.

The arboricultural information submitted with the planning application
indicates the site is to be cleared of all trees, except for specimens on
site boundaries, in order to make way for development. This strategy
has not been amended from the outset of the planning application
despite many specimens having been protected by means of Tree
Preservation Orders in the meantime. The loss of the majority of the
unprotected plantation woodland and the likely or curtailment of the
protected trees about the site would be harmful to the character of the
area and the local landscape and would be contrary to the policies
discussed above.

Sustainable transportation (accessibility) and impact upon the
local highway network (highway safety).

The Framework confirms that the transport system needs to be
balanced in favour of sustainable transport modes giving people a real
choice about how they travel. There is, however, recognition that
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary
from urban to rural areas.

Page 119



114.

115.

116.

117.

118.

119.

It is Government policy that planning decisions should ensure
developments that generate significant movement are located where
the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable modes
of transport can be maximised. However, the Framework confirms this
policy needs to take account of other policies in the document,
particularly in rural areas.

The Framework confirms that development should only be prevented
or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative
impacts of development are severe. It goes on to state that planning
decisions should ensure developments that generate significant
movement are located where the need to travel will be minimised and
the use of sustainable transport modes can be maximised recognising
that this needs to take account of policies set out elsewhere in the
Framework, particularly in rural areas.

Core Strategy Spatial Policy T1 aims to ensure that new development
is located where there are the best opportunities for sustainable travel
and the least dependency on car travel. This is reflected in Policies
CS12 and CS13 which confirm the District Council will work with
partners (including developers) to secure necessary transport
infrastructure and sustainable transport measures and ensure that
access and safety concerns are resolved in all developments.

Policy DM44 of the Joint Development Management Policies document
states improvements to rights of way will be sought in association with
new development to enable new or improved links to be created within
the settlement, between settlements, and/or providing access to the
countryside or green infrastructure sites as appropriate.

Policy DM45 requires the submission of a Transport Assessment to
accompany planning applications that are likely to have significant
transport implications (including preparation and implementation of a
Travel Plan). The policy states where it is necessary to negate the
transport impacts of development, developers will be required to make
a financial contribution, appropriate to the scale of the development,
towards the delivery of improvements to transport infrastructure or to
facilitate access to more sustainable modes of transport. Policy DM46
sets out parking standards for new development proposals (and links
to Suffolk County Council’s adopted standards (November 2014)).

The Core Strategy categorises Lakenheath as a Key Service Centre
and is thus regarded as a ‘sustainable’ location which could support
growth. Local employment opportunities are restricted with the air
base being a key provider of local employment. People living in
Lakenheath, not employed at the base, are likely to need to travel
away from the village to their place of work. There is a range of
community facilities in the village, including some shops, services, a
school, churches and other meeting rooms which serve to contain a
number of trips within the village. The village does not have a large
grocery supermarket (there is a small Co-Operative in the High

Page 120



120.

121.

122.

123.

124,

Street), although planning permission is extant for a new grocery shop
off the High Street, close to the village centre.

Information submitted with the planning application

The planning application was accompanied by a Transport Assessment
(TA). The application was subsequently amended with the number of
dwellings reduced to (up to) 110 with an accompanying change to the
access strategy (deletion of the previously proposed vehicular access
onto the unmade section of Broom Road.

The amended TA document examines the local highway network,
including existing facilities for pedestrians, cycling, public transport
and the local road network before assessing accident records on
relevant routes within the confines of the village. It also appraises
relevant local and national planning policies for transport.

In assessing the traffic impact of the development proposals, the TA
document predicts (for a scheme of 110 dwellings) an average of 73
additional motorised trips during the am peak (12 arrivals and 61
departures) growing to 80 additional movements by 2023. It also
predicts 66 additional motorised trips during the pm peak (45 arrivals
and 21 departures) growing to 72 additional movements by 2023. It
then goes on to assess traffic flows and distribution, using 2014
baseline data. The TA considers this level of additional traffic
movement is well within the capacity of the local road network and
considers the development would comply with National and Local
capacity.

It is likely that potential occupiers of the dwellings proposed in this
planning application would need to travel to meet their employment,
retail and entertainment needs. Indeed, of all the trips forecast during
the am and pm peaks, the TA predicts only low numbers of bus
passengers, car sharers, cyclists and walkers. Some of the regular car
journeys emanating from the site could be lengthy (non-airbase
employees in particular). However, it must also be acknowledged
there are a range of services and facilities in the village that will
prevent the need for travel to access some destinations. Furthermore,
the proposals accord with the ‘settlement hierarchy’ set out at Policy
CS1 of the Core Strategy and the village is likely to accommodate
future growth (828 dwellings from 2016 to 2031) as part of the
emerging site allocations Local Plan document. Having due regard to
the village scale of Lakenheath and its relatively isolated and self-
contained situation in a rural area, the development proposals are
considered to accord with relevant accessibility policies in the
Framework and are considered locationally sustainable in transport
terms.

Whilst reserving its final judgement until the outcome of a cumulative
highways impact assessment is known, the Highway Authority has not
so far objected to the proposals including site-specific considerations,
subject to further relatively minor amendments being made to the

Page 121



125.

126.

127.

128.

129.

proposals. They have, however, not responded to the second
consultation, although it is not anticipated that objections will be
received given the reduced number of dwellings proposed (taking into
account the reduction in access points into the site from 3 to 2). The
Committee will be updated verbally of any further representations
received from the Highway Authority at the meeting.

The TA does not propose highways mitigation above the normal site
management and design led features (linked up footpaths within the
site, construction management, and travel planning measures -
although the latter are suggested, but are not formally offered).

Subject to final clarification being received from the Local Highway
Authority in due course the proposed development, in isolation from
other developments in the village, is considered safe and suitable and
the development (again, in isolation from other developments in the
village) would not lead to significant highway safety issues or hazards.
Having considered the evidence and comments received so far from
the Highway Authority, your officers are content the proposed
development (without consideration of potential cumulative impacts
with other developments currently proposed/approved in the village)
would not lead to traffic danger or congestion of the highway network,
including during am and pm peak hours.

Impact upon natural heritage

The Framework confirms the planning system should contribute to and
enhance the natural environment by (inter alia) minimising impacts on
biodiversity and providing net gains where possible. The Framework
states that protection of designated sites should be commensurate
with the status of the site, recognising the hierarchy of international,
national and local designations. The presumption in favour of
sustainable development set out at paragraph 14 of the Framework
does not apply where development requires appropriate assessment
under the Birds or Habitats Directives.

Spatial Objective ENV1 of the Core Strategy aims to conserve and
enhance the habitats and landscapes of international, national and
local importance and improve the rich biodiversity of the District. This
objective forms the basis of Core Strategy policy CS2 which sets out in
greater detail how this objective will be implemented.

Policy DM10 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
sets out more detailed provisions with respect to the impact of
development upon sites of biodiversity and geodiversity importance.
Among other things, the policy introduces (in a local policy sense) the
need to consider cumulative impacts upon these interests. Policy
DM11 addresses proposals that would have an impact upon protected
species. Policy DM12 sets out requirements for mitigation,
enhancement, management and monitoring of biodiversity. The policy
states that all new development (excluding minor householder
applications) shown to contribute to recreational disturbance and

Page 122



130.

131.

132.

133.

134.

135.

visitor pressure within the Breckland SPA and SAC will be required to
make appropriate contributions through S106 Agreements towards
management projects and/or monitoring of visitor pressure and urban
effects on key biodiversity sites.

Policy DM44 states improvements to rights of way will be sought in
association with new development to enable new or improved links to
be created within the settlement, between settlements, and/or
providing access to the countryside or green infrastructure sites as
appropriate.

Impact upon internationally designated sites

The designated Special Protection Area (SPA) is situated to the east of
Lakenheath. Its qualifying features include the Stone Curlew
(breeding), the European Nightjar (breeding) and the Woodlark
(breeding). It comprises a number of SSSI’'s which are designated for
similar reasons. The application site is outside the SPA boundaries
such that no direct significant impacts upon the SPA are anticipated as
a consequence of the proposed development.

The site is within the 1.5km buffers to Stone Curlew nesting sites that
have been recorded outside the Special Protection Area. Natural
England initially objected to the planning application on grounds that
up to date records of nesting attempts within 1.5km of the application
site had not been submitted or analysed as part of the applicant’s
ecological assessment. Upon later consideration of the information,
when submitted to them (via the Amended Habitats Regulations
Assessment), Natural England confirmed, in their view, the species
would not be directly affected by the proposals.

The SPA is also vulnerable to increased recreation visitor pressure
(indirect impact) arising as a consequence of new housing
developments, including those located at distances greater than 1.5km
from the SPA boundaries. Indirect impacts upon the conservation
interests of the SPA can not automatically be ruled out and further
consideration of potential indirect recreational impacts is required.

The ecological information submitted with the planning application
does not consider the potential for recreational impacts upon the SPA
arising from the occupation of the proposed development. The scheme
apparently contains no measures to mitigate, off-set or avoid potential
recreational impacts upon the SPA. If the applicant had considered
the point, it is likely the public open space provision would have been
enlarged and/or improved on the illustrative layout drawing and the
‘Ecological Masterplan’ in order to attract dog walkers to use the
development site for day-to-day recreational activities in order to
reduce the number of recreational trips into the SPA.

It is highly likely any occupants of this scheme would use the adjacent

Maidscross Hill SSSI for day to day recreation (dog walking in
particular) as opposed to the application site and the more distant SPA

Page 123



136.

137.

138.

139.

140.

given i) the anticipated absence of alternative suitable provision within
the development proposals, ii) the SSSI is a large and attractive ‘open
space’ with public access and iii) the SSSI is in close proximity and
conveniently accessible from the application site. The SSSI already
suffers from recreational pressures and as a consequence is presently
in an unfavourable condition. The impact of development upon the
SSSI is discussed below.

It is considered that the proposed development, in isolation, is unlikely
to have a significant impact upon the SPA and the requirement for the
decision maker to carry out Appropriate Assessment of the project
under Regulation 61 of the Habitats Regulations is not triggered.
Notwithstanding this conclusion, it is likely the development would
lead to minor adverse harm to the interests of the SPA, owing to the
increased human population in the area of influence for visitor
pressure. These minor adverse impacts which, whilst tolerable on their
own in the context of this planning application, would still qualify as a
harm arising from the proposed development’. This *harm’ will also
need to be carefully considered alongside the potential impacts arising
from other developments, particularly those at and close to
Lakenheath, including those in the emerging Site Allocations Local
Plan. The potential for cumulative or, ‘in-combination’ recreational
impacts upon the SPA are considered later in the report.

Maidscross Hill SSSI

The Maidscross Hill SSSI is situated a short distance (around 200m) to
the east of the application site. The designation supports nationally
rare plant species associated with the open calcareous grassland. The
SSSI is currently in an unfavourable condition owing largely to the
impacts of its use for recreation (excessive trampling under foot and
enrichment of soil from dog walking).

Natural England has advised the introduction of an increased
population of domestic cats into the area as a direct consequence of
these proposals is likely to harm the condition of the SSSI. They
consider this factor, in isolation, would not lead to significant impacts
arising, but is likely to contribute to loss of condition of the interest
features of the Maidscross Hill SSSI.

The SSSI is particularly vulnerable to the impacts of recreational use
and the application proposals would, if approved and implemented,
increase pressures on the facility. These pressures would arise given
the increase in human population in close proximity to the facility
combined with the absence of suitable alternative provision of
recreational facilities (attractive and convenient dog walking routes, in
particular) as part of the development proposals, or conveniently
located elsewhere, away from the SSSI.

The development of the site would also serve to erode the buffer it
presently provides in-between the village and the SSSI.

Page 124



141.

142.

143.

144,

145.

146.

147.

The planning application material acknowledges the likely adverse
recreational impacts of the development upon the Maidscross Hill
SSSI, but does not assess the potential impact of development upon
the SSSI in detail. The applicant has, however, agreed to fund
wardening of the SSSI for 6 hours per week over a 10-year period.

Officers’ understand the applicant is willing to provide a contribution
towards wardening of the SSSI and considers the intention to
positively manage the SSSI and avoid the adverse impacts of
inappropriate use, or over-use of, the SSSI site would go some way to
mitigate the harmful impacts of the development to the designation.

Despite the offer of a contribution, officers’ remain of the view that,
the SSSI would still face increased pressure from additional
recreational demands as a direct consequence of the development.
With the warden in place, the harm would not be avoided altogether,
but it is conceded that the wardening contribution would allow for
improved management of the SSSI overall over a defined (and
relatively short) period of time.

It is of particular relevance that the responsibility for mitigation of the
impact of the proposed development would pass on to the public purse
once the 10 year period has passed and the funds provided by the
development for wardening of the Maidsross Hill SSSI have been fully
expended. The Appellant’s strategy to mitigate the recreational
impacts of their proposals upon the SSSI has a defined shelf life and
will not fully mitigate the impacts arising over the lifetime of the
development. There will remain a significant risk that, in 10 or so
years time, the degradation of the SSSI could (without public subsidy)
accelerate even in comparison to current deterioration rates if a
warden is not able to carry on managing the site.

Recreational impacts upon the SSSI arising as a direct consequence of
the development cannot be ruled out at this time and is likely to lead
to significant impacts arising. With respect to the appeal case at land
adjacent 34 Broom Road (Register Reference DC/14/2073/FUL)
Natural England has been clear in its advice that it is vital that those
development proposals provide wardening in perpetuity. That appears
not to be the case with this proposed development.

Other ecological issues.

The application material includes a range of survey information to
scope and assess the site for important biodiversity species. Whilst
there would be limited or no impact upon some species identified, the
impacts upon others are far less certain. Of principal concern is the
destruction in the extent of habitat the illustrative proposals are
showing. The proposals would be harmful to species it they were to be
undertaken in the manner illustrated.

The principal concern is the lack of public open space illustrated in the
application maters both in quantity and a coherent strategy to provide

Page 125



148.

149.

150.

linked green corridors which many species would favour. Furthermore,
there is wholesale proposed clearance of trees and shrub from the site
(other than, it seems, towards the site boundaries) and limited
opportunity for new landscaping and other green infrastructure. Whilst
it may not be the applicants intention to develop the site in this way, it
does serve to illustrate that the impact of the proposed development
upon its acknowledge ecological interests has not been properly
considered. The proposals lack a clear and salient ecological strategy
and, for this reason in particular, are considered contrary to relevant
planning policies which seek to safeguard ecological interests.

Impact upon the RAF Lakenheath base.

The Ministry of Defence (MoD) has confirmed there are no
safeguarding concerns relating to this development. However, with
respect to the current non-determination appeal for a development of
land north of 34 Broom Road, the MOD has advised that increases in
use of the Maidscross Hill SSSI for recreation as a consequence of
development is of concern to them. In particular the MoD has
expressed the following concerns about the application those
proposals which are located further away from the boundaries of and
entrances into the SSSI than the application site;

e ..the MOD is concerned that the development may have an indirect
impact upon our management of explosives safeguarding zones
surrounding explosives storage facilities at RAF Lakenheath.

e The application site abuts the inner explosives safeqguarding zone
known as the inhabited building distance (IBD). In this zone the
MOD monitors land use changes and the associated level of
occupation to maintain explosives licensing standards.

e There is the potential for the new development to increase user
demand upon the public open space in the nearby Maids Cross Hill
nature reserve which occupies the inner explosives safeguarding
zone. If the development increased the number of people using the
reserve this could impact upon defence requirements. Accordingly
the MOD considers that the development proposed should make
provision for public open space and leisure areas needed to support
the new housing without relying on the open space at Maids Cross
Hill to provide such facilities.

The provision of public open space at the application site as illustrated
on the plans submitted with the planning application, would not by
itself divert or fully mitigate the impact of the development upon the
Maidscross Hill SSSI. Natural England is firmly of the view the
development proposals would, if approved, lead to a direct increase in
recreational activity within the SSSI, following occupation.

The mitigation proposed so far as part of the application materials

seeks to manage the impact of increased recreational activity within
the SSSI, rather that avoid that activity occurring within the SSSI.

Page 126



151.

152.

153.

154.

155.

156.

157.

158.

Whilst the implications of increased recreational use of the SSSI upon
the viability of the explosives handling operations of the airbase is not
entirely clear from correspondence received from the MOD in
connection with application DC/14/2073/FUL (at land north of 34
Broom Road) it would, it seems, potentially lead to harmful impacts
arising to the operations of the airbase.

The apparent conflict also lends support to the prematurity arguments
cited against the development elsewhere in this report and adds
further weight to the Local Plan (Site Allocations) strategy of providing
new housing development at locations away from the Maidscross Hill
SSSI and the RAF Lakenheath airbase.

Impact upon built heritage

The Framework recognises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable
resource which should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their
significance. The term ‘heritage asset’ used in the Framework includes
designated assets such Listed buildings, Scheduled Ancient
Monuments, Registered Parks and Gardens and Conservation Areas
and also various undesignated assets including archaeological sites
and unlisted buildings which are of local historic interest.

The Framework advises that LPA’s should require an applicant to
describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, the level of
detail being proportionate to the importance of the asset and sufficient
to understand the potential impact upon their significance.

Core Strategy Spatial Objective C4 aims to protect and enhance the
Historic Environment. This objective is implemented via Policy CS3.

Policy DM17 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
sets out detailed criteria against which proposals within, adjacent to or
visible from a Conservation Area will be considered. Policy DM20 sets
out criteria for development affecting Scheduled Ancient Monuments
and/or archaeological sites (including below ground sites).

The development proposals would not impact upon any listed
buildings, (including their settings) and is suitably distant and
separated from the village conservation area such that it would have
no direct impacts upon it. If the development is approved there is
likely to be a small increase in traffic using the main road through the
Conservation Area following occupation, but this is not considered to
lead to significant impacts arising with respect to its character or
appearance.

An archaeological evaluation of the site was carried out prior to the
submission of the planning application. This consisted of a Geophysical
Survey and trench evaluation.

The Archaeological Service at Suffolk County Council has been
consulted of the planning application and their advice is set out in the

Page 127



159.

160.

161.

162.

163.

164.

165.

‘Consultations’ section of this report. The further archaeological
investigations and recordings requested by the Archaeological Service
could be secured by means of appropriately worded conditions in the
event that planning permission is subsequently granted.

The development proposals would have no significant impacts upon
heritage assets.

Impact upon local infrastructure (utilities)

The ‘economic’ dimension of the definition of sustainable development
set out in the Framework confirms the planning system should (inter
alia) identify and co-ordinate development requirements, including
infrastructure. Furthermore, one of the core planning principles set out
in the document states that planning should “proactively drive and
support sustainable economic development to deliver the homes,
business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places
that the country needs.”

Core Strategy Policy CS13 sets out infrastructure requirements and
developer contributions. The policy opens with the following
statement:

"The release of land for development will be dependent on there being
sufficient capacity in the existing local infrastructure to meet the
additional requirements arising from new development”.

The policy lists the main areas as health and social care facilities,
educational requirements, strategic transport improvements, waste
water treatment capacity, energy supply (electricity), access and
safety, open space, sport and recreation. The policy confirms
arrangements for the provision or improvement of infrastructure will
be secured by planning obligation or (where appropriate) conditions
attached to planning permission to ensure infrastructure is provided at
the appropriate time.

The policy concludes that all development will be accompanied by
appropriate infrastructure to meet site specific requirements and
create sustainable communities.

Matters pertaining to highways, education, health and open space
infrastructure are addressed elsewhere in this report. This particular
section assesses the impact of the proposals upon utilities
infrastructure (waste water treatment, water supply and energy

supply).

Infrastructure and Environmental Capacity Appraisal

The ‘original’ growth strategy in respect of the District’'s settlement
hierarchy set out in the adopted Core Strategy was found to be sound.
This would suggest that Lakenheath has the environmental capacity to
deliver the 110 dwellings proposed by this planning application.

Page 128



166.

167.

168.

169.

170.

171.

172.

In terms of the potential environmental capacity of infrastructure in
Lakenheath, it has been held at planning appeal that the 2009
Infrastructure and Environmental Capacity Assessment (‘IECA report’)
represents the best available evidence, albeit regard should be had to
more up-to-date evidence that may be available, including comments
and evidence received from relevant infrastructure providers.

The IECA report considers the environmental capacity of settlements
in the District, and recognises the need for a mechanism to provide
social, physical and environmental infrastructure to support growth.
The report also considers settlement infrastructure tipping points
which are utilised to evaluate potential impacts on infrastructure.

The IECA report identifies a range of theoretical capacity in
Lakenheath of some 2660-4660 new dwellings in the plan period to
2031 (although these levels of growth would be subject to significant
infrastructure improvements).

The IECA report suggests there is environmental capacity to facilitate
not only the dwellings that are proposed by this planning application,
but also other major residential developments in Lakenheath that the
planning authority is presently considering in the village. In
combination, these represent up to 915 additional residential units
(the proposals for 550 dwellings at Eriswell would be served by
different treatment works and are thus not included in this
calculation).

Waste water treatment infrastructure

Details submitted with the planning application confirm the proposed
development would connect to existing foul water systems in the
village. The village is served by Lakenheath Wastewater Treatment
Works. IECA comments that the Water Cycle Study identifies that the
location of the Treatment Works makes north and west sites
preferable otherwise upgrades to the network may be required,
although the Treatment Works has severely constrained headroom.

The IECA report refers to the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and
Water Cycle Study which identifies that up to 169 new dwellings could
be provided in the village within the headroom of the Treatment
Works. It does, however, identify that there are only minor constraints
to upgrading the works which will need to be completed before
significant new development.

Anglian Water Services has not objected to any of the currently live
planning applications listed in the table at paragraph 13 above and for
these developments confirmed there is adequate capacity within the
system to accommodate the increased flows from development. Upon
further questioning about the capacity of the Lakenheath treatment
works in the light of the findings of the IECA study, Anglian Water
Services (in 2014) confirmed the following;

Page 129



173.

174.

175.

176.

177.

e MCert Flow Monitor was installed at the Lakenheath Water
Recycling Centre on 28 October 2010 which is after the
Infrastructure and Environmental Capacity Assessment (IECA)
Study and the Water Cycle Study. Please note that both of these
studies were high level and were utilising best available data.

e Based on the MCert flow monitor data over the past four years, it
has been established that up to 1000 properties could be
accommodated at the Lakenheath Water Recycling Centre.
Therefore, the proposed 288 dwellings in total for the three
planning applications stated in your email dated 10 July 2014 could
be accommodated at the Lakenheath Water Recycling Centre.

There has not been significant new housing development realised at
Lakenheath since the publication of the evidence base contained in the
IECA report and the advice received from Anglian Water Services
above. Accordingly, the available evidence concludes this development
is acceptable with regard to waste water infrastructure.

Water supply

IECA comments that the Water Cycle Study identifies that Lakenheath
has a large diameter main running along the eastern edge which
should allow development, although development away from the
eastern edge may require upgraded mains. It concludes that the
potable water supply network should not be a major constraint to
development around Lakenheath (no tipping points are identified).

Energy supply

The village is served by Lakenheath major substation. The IECA report
states that EDF Energy has identified that the substation is operating
comfortably within capacity and should not constrain growth. The
report estimates that some 2,500+ new dwellings could be served
from the substation which is way in excess of this proposed
development.

Flood risk, drainage and pollution

Policies for flood risk set out in the Framework aim to steer new
development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding. The
Framework policies also seek to ensure that new development does
not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.

The Framework states that to prevent unacceptable risks from
pollution and land instability, planning decisions should ensure that
new development is appropriate for its location. It also confirms that
where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues,
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer
and/or landowner.

Page 130



178.

179.

180.

181.

182.

183.

184.

Core Strategy Policy CS4 states the Council will support development
proposals that avoid areas of current and future flood risk and which
do not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. The policy confirms
sites for new development will be allocated in locations with the lowest
risk of flooding (Environment Agency Zone 1 flood category) and will
seek the implementation of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems
(SUDS) into all new development proposals, where technically
feasible.

Policy DM6 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
requires the submission of flood information, including SUDS drainage
where possible, to accompany planning applications for development.
Policy DM14 seeks to protect proposed development from existing
‘pollution’ sources and existing development from proposed ‘pollution’
sources. This includes noise, light and air pollution. The policy also
requests the submission of information and sets out requirements for
remediation for development proposals of potentially contaminated
land.

The application site is in Flood Zone 1 (low risk of flooding). The
proposed dwellings would not therefore be at risk from fluvial flooding.
The drainage strategy included as part of the Flood Risk Assessment
prepared for the development proposes an infiltration drainage system
using soakaways.

Suffolk County Council’s Flooding Team has approved the drainage
strategy in principle, but has requested further technical details. The
officer has also expressed concerns about the density of the layout of
the proposed development noting from the illustrative layout that
insufficient roof has been left between buildings to allow for
appropriate separation of soakaways from dwelling foundations.

The planning application is accompanied by a Phase I Desk Study
Ground Contamination Report. The study has found some ‘anecdotal’
potential sources of contamination at the site but considered the risks
to be low.

The Council’s Environmental Health team has requested the imposition
of a condition requiring the submission of a detailed scheme of
investigation into potential contamination from agricultural sources,
including measures to secure any remediation necessary. The
contamination report has identified there is a Principal Aquifer beneath
the site which is particularly vulnerable to potential contaminants. The
Environment Agency also recognises potential contaminants from the
previous agricultural use of the site and recommends a similar
condition to ensure further investigations and remediation works are
carried out at the site.

The application proposals, in isolation, would not give rise to any
concerns about potential impacts arising upon air quality at the site or
wider village/transport routes. Further discussion about the potential
cumulative impacts of development upon air quality is included later in

Page 131



185.

186.

187.

188.

189.

190.

the report under the sub-heading of ‘cumulative impacts’.

The Environment Agency (risk of flooding, contamination and pollution
control and drainage), the Council’s Environment Team (contamination
and pollution control) and the Floods Team at Suffolk County Council
(SW drainage) have not objected to the proposals (subject to the
Floods Team being satisfied of further technical detail, including the
density of the development).

The proposals are considered acceptable with regard to pollution
(contaminated land and potential contamination of water supply and
air quality). Further work needs to be undertaken with respect to
surface water drainage, but given the recommendation to refuse
planning permission for this development for other reasons, this has
not been pursued by the applicants.

Impact upon education

The County Council as Local Education Authority has confirmed the
village school has reached its 315 place capacity. This means that the
primary school aged pupils emerging from these development
proposals would need to be accommodated in a new primary school
facility which is yet to be built in the village or pupils would need to be
diverted to alternative primary schools outside of the village.

It is unlikely that the Local Education Authority would be able to cater
for the educational needs of the primary school pupils forecast to
emerge from this development at the existing village school. The
County Council has confirmed, following consideration of other
potentially available sites in the village, that a site for a new primary
school currently proposed by an alternative planning application is
their ‘preferred option’ for delivery. The County Council remain intent
on securing the land and building a new primary school for opening in
September 2018. However, at the time of writing the District Council
has not determined the planning application such there can be no
planning certainty (let alone education provider certainty) that a new
primary school will be available in the village to accommodate pupils
emerging from this development.

This situation is likely to develop in the run up to the public inquiry
but, assuming a worst-case scenario, the pupils emerging from this
development may need to be schooled at locations away from the
village, certainly in the short term. This is likely to be the case unless
the position surrounding delivery of a new school crystallises in the
meantime and enables the Local Education Authority to open a new
school by September 2018. Suffolk County Council has acknowledged
that school children may need to travel out of Lakenheath if new
developments in the village are occupied in advance of a new school
opening. SCC has expressed concerns that such arrangements would
not represent sustainable development or good planning.

If primary school pupils (as young as four years old) are forced to

Page 132



191.

192.

193.

194.

195.

196.

197.

leave the village in order to gain primary education as a consequence
of these development proposals it would be an unfortunate
consequence of the development proposals. That said, if the applicant
is willing to commit their ‘pro-rata’ share of the reasonable land and
construction costs of the new primary school infrastructure that will be
required to facilitate new development in the village, they will have
done all they reasonably can to mitigate the impact of their
development with respect to primary education provision.

The County Council has confirmed there is sufficient capacity at
existing secondary schools to accommodate pupil yields forecast to
emerge from these development proposals.

Further discussions regarding the cumulative impacts of development
at Lakenheath upon education provision is set out later in this report.

It is likely that an early year’s facility would be provided alongside the
new school, funded (in part) by contributions secured from
developments in the village that may be consented and built out.

Design and Layout

The Framework states the Government attaches great importance to
the design of the built environment and confirms good design is a key
aspect of sustainable development and is indivisible from good
planning. The Framework goes on to reinforce these statements by
confirming that planning permission should be refused for
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities
available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way it functions.

Core Strategy Spatial Objective H2 aims to provide a sufficient and
appropriate mix of housing that is ... designed to a high standard.
Design aspirations are also included in Spatial Objectives ENV4 (high
standard of design) and ENV5 (community safety and crime reduction
through design). The Objectives are supported by policies CS5 and
CS13 which require high quality designs which reinforce local
distinctiveness and take account of the need for stronger and safer
communities. Policy CS5 confirms design that does not demonstrate it
has had regard to local context and fails to enhance character will not
be acceptable.

Policy DM2 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
sets out general design criteria to be applied to all forms of
development proposals. DM7 does the same, but is specific to
proposals for residential development.

The planning application is submitted in outline form with all matters,
except means of access, reserved to a later date. Accordingly matters
of design are not normally particularly relevant to the outcome of this
planning application. Applicants proposing developments in outline
form should be able to satisfactorily demonstrate their proposals are

Page 133



198.

199.

200.

201.

suitable for the site in question. This is hormally achieved through the
submission of illustrative material, including a good quality design and
access statement.

In this case the illustrative material (a single layout plan) does not
demonstrate an acceptable layout. The design approach adopted is
poor and illustrates a dull, regimented and car dominated layout. A
good quality development would make efficient use of the site and be
able to demonstrate good connections and how it could accommodate
vital infrastructure. In this case, officers consider the application fails
to demonstrate the site could be developed with the quantum of
development proposed. Not only is the illustrative scheme
aesthetically poor, but it also lacks good quality open space and
ecological provision and cannot accommodate the type of SUDS
infrastructure the applicants Flood Risk Assessment proposes.
Accordingly, the scheme fails against the requirements of the
aforementioned national and local policies which demand good quality
design.

Impact upon residential amenity

The protection of residential amenity is a key component of ‘good
design’. The Framework states (as part of its design policies) good
planning should contribute positively to making places better for
people. The Framework also states that planning decisions should aim
to (inter alia) avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse effects
on health and quality of life as a result of new development.

Vision 1 of the Core Strategy seeks to provide ‘a higher quality of life’
for residents. Policy DM2 of the Joint Development Management
Policies Document seeks to safeguard (inter alia) residential amenity
from potentially adverse effects of new development.

The application is accompanied by a noise assessment, dated April
2016. The assessment considered, in particular, the impact upon the
proposed development of noise from the Lakenheath RAF airbase
which is situated relatively close to the east of the application site and
background road noise. The assessment draws the following
conclusions:

e The Noise Impact Assessment has identified that the key noise
sources within the vicinity of the Site are aircraft using the RAF
Lakenheath Airbase to the south east.

e Accordingly appropriate mitigation has been specified in order to
reduce these impacts for internal habitable areas. This includes for
higher specification glazing and alternative ventilation to opening a
window for certain dwellings and habitable rooms.

e As the Site is “slotting into” an area afforded by the existing

residential development off Eriswell Road and the fact that
dwellings will be located no closer to RAF Lakenheath than existing

Page 134



202.

203.

204.

205.

206.

dwellings, it is considered reasonable to achieve the lowest
practicable outdoor noise levels for garden areas.

e Subject to the incorporation of the identified mitigation measures,
it is considered that in principle, the Site is suitable for the
promotion of residential development.

The report confirms the internal spaces of the proposed dwellings
could be mitigated against noise impacts arising from military aircraft.
It also acknowledges, however, that the external spaces, including
domestic gardens, could not be mitigated against the effects of aircraft
noise. The Council’'s Public Health and Housing Officers do not object
to the planning application and a condition could be imposed if
planning permission were to be granted in order to ensure maximum
noise levels are achieved in living rooms, bedrooms and attic rooms.
Whilst the impact of unmitigated aircraft noise upon the external areas
of the application site is not fatal such that it renders the scheme
unacceptable on this ground alone, it would represent harm and, given
the ‘sealed box’ requirement (with mechanical ventilation) for day
time living areas, does add weight to any recommendation to refuse
planning permission.

In January 2015 the Ministry of Defence announced a package of
structural changes to the sites presently in use by the US air force. For
RAF Lakenheath it was announced that operations at would be
increased via the arrival of two squadrons of F35 fighter jets. No
further specific detail has been released (i.e. how many planes there
will be, how often they will take off and land and their flight paths to
and from the base, noise information etc.).

The introduction of the F35’s into RAF Lakenheath may change the
noise climate of the village, although it is understood the type of F35’s
that will operate from the base will have similar noise outputs to the
existing F15’s. Given that i) the Environmental Impacts of introducing
the F35 jets onto RAF Lakenheath will need to be considered and
mitigated/avoided in advance, and ii) it is impossible to understand
the full implications of the ‘announcement’, it follows that the
announced introduction of the F35 squadrons into RAF Lakenheath
cannot fully be taken into account in the determination of this planning
application.

In October 2015, The Ministry of Defence updated the information
underpinning its Military Noise Amelioration Scheme, but given the
location of the site close to the runways of RAF Lakenheath, it has not
altered the understanding of how the application site is affected by
aircraft noise.

There is likely to be an increase in the local noise environment during
periods of construction. Such impacts are common to developments of
this type where large sites are developed in the vicinity of existing
dwellings. The impacts, although potentially adverse, are capable of
management and control such they would not be significant overall.

Page 135



207.

208.

2009.

210.

211.

212.

Such controls regularly take the form of a Construction Management
Plan which would set out how the developers and their contractors
would be required to manage and carry out construction activities. The
Plan normally restricts hours permitted for construction, dust
management, locations of compounds, lighting schemes and so on.
Construction Management Plans are normally controlled by planning
conditions (submission for approval and on-going adherence).

Adequate checks and balances would be carried out at any potential
reserved matters stage, to ensure the amenities of occupiers of
dwellings abutting the application site would not be adversely affected
by development. Accordingly, there should be no issues with
overlooking, dominance or overshadowing of existing dwellings and
their garden areas if careful consideration is afforded to the layout and
design of a potential housing scheme prepared for a reserved matters
submission.

Loss of agricultural land

The Framework states where significant development of agricultural
land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities
should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of
a higher quality.

The development of agricultural land (green field sites) in the District
is inevitable given the level of growth planned for by the Core Strategy
to 2031. There is not a sufficient stock of available previously
developed land (brownfield land) at appropriate locations to
accommodate all new development over this period. Accordingly,
future development of greenfield sites is inevitable.

The Natural England database indicates the application site is Grade 3
and 4 agricultural land with an element. The NPPF favours
development of poorer quality (grades 4 and 5) over higher quality
(grades 1-3) land. In this case, the application site does not appear to
be particularly usable for ‘conventional’ agricultural purposes. Not only
is access constrained, but the ground conditions are not particularly
conducive to crop growing. Whilst the loss of the Grade 3 elements of
the application site to development are technically contrary to the
relevant national policy, for the reasons set out above, it is not
considered a significant factor in the outcome of the planning
application.

Sustainable construction and operation

Section 19 (1A) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
requires local planning authorities to include in their Local Plans
“policies designed to secure that the development and use of land in
the local planning authority’s area contribute to the mitigation of, and
adaptation to, climate change”.

The Framework confirms planning has a key role in helping shape

Page 136



213.

214.

215.

216.

217.

places to (inter alia) secure radical reductions in greenhouse gas
emissions and supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon
energy. The Government places this central to the economic, social
and environmental dimensions of sustainable development.

The document expands on this role with the following policy:

In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should
expect new development to:

e comply with adopted Local Plan policies on local requirements for
decentralised energy supply unless it can be demonstrated by the
applicant, having regard to the type of development involved and
its design, that this is not feasible or viable; and

e take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and
landscaping to minimise energy consumption.

The importance the Government places on addressing climate change
is reflected in the Core Strategy Visions (Vision 1) and Spatial
Objectives (ENV2 and ENV3). Core Strategy Policies CS4 and CS5 set
out requirements for sustainable construction methods.

Policy DM7 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
reflects the up-to-date national planning policy on sustainable
construction and places lesser requirements upon developers than
Core Strategy Policy CS4. Policy DM7 requires adherence to the broad
principles of sustainable design and construction (design, layout,
orientation, materials, insulation and construction techniques), but in
particular requires that new residential proposals to demonstrate that
appropriate water efficiency measures will be employed (standards for
water use or standards for internal water fittings).

Part G2 of the Building Regulations enables the Building Control
Authority to require stricter controls over the use of water. The
‘standard’ water use requirement set out in the Regulations is 125
litres per person, per day. Part G2 enables this requirement to be
reduced to 110 litres per person per day, but only if the reduction is
also a requirement of a planning condition. Given the provisions of
Policy DM7 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
(2015) requires developers to demonstrate water efficiency measures
(and one of the options is 110 litres water use per person, per day), it
is considered reasonable to require the more stringent water efficiency
measures set out in the Building Regulations be applied to this
development if planning permission is granted (by the Committee or
later by appeal).

Cumulative Impacts
Members will note from the table produced at paragraph 13 above

there are a number of planning applications for major housing
development currently under consideration at Lakenheath.

Page 137



218.

2109.

220.

221.

Furthermore, as the Development Plan progresses and the Site
Allocations Document matures, further sites are likely to be allocated
for new residential development irrespective of the outcome of these
planning applications. Whilst the evidence base behind the
Development Plan documents will assess potential cumulative impacts
of any formal site allocations, only limited assessments have been
carried out with regard to the potential cumulative impacts of the
current planning applications.

This sub-section of the officer assessment considers potential
cumulative impacts upon village infrastructure of the planning
applications listed at paragraph 13 above. Project E from the table is
disregarded given it has been withdrawn from the planning register.
Furthermore, project H is not included (other than impact upon the
SPA) given that it is accompanied by an Environmental Statement
which will need to consider and, as appropriate, mitigate cumulative
impacts.

Primary education

If all primary school pupils emerging from the developments currently
proposed at Lakenheath are to be schooled within the village a new
school needs to be built. The existing village school is at/very close to
capacity and is not capable of expansion and it would be difficult to
accommodate temporary accommodation given site constraints. It is
likely that, without the construction of a new school in the village,
primary school pupils emerging from this and other developments at
Lakenheath would need to travel to schools outside of the village.

The County Council has confirmed a ‘preferred site’ at the north end of
the village for the erection of a new primary school and Officers
understand work is underway on the school project, including
discussions with the current landowners whom have submitted a
planning application for development of the site (ref. application A
from the table included beneath paragraph 13 of this report). The
Development Control Committee has resolved to grant planning
permission for that particular development, but no decision can be
issued until the Secretary of State has determined whether he wishes
to call in that planning application for his own determination.

It is understood there is currently no formal agreement in place
between the landowners and Suffolk County Council with respect to
the school site and planning permission is yet to be granted for
project. The availability of the land for use by the County Council to
construct a new primary school is ultimately dependent upon planning
permission being granted for the wider proposals, an agreement on a
purchase being reached between the County Council and landowner
and, ultimately, the land being transferred to the County Council
enabling them to build a school. To date, none of these have been
completed which means the delivery of a new school to serve new
development cannot be regarded as certain.

Page 138



222.

223.

224.

225.

226.

The likely short term need for some pupils to travel to a school outside
of Lakenheath impacts negatively upon the sustainability credentials of
the proposals and is therefore a harmful impact of development
occurring before a new school opens in the village. It is important to
note, however, that the County Council has confirmed school places
would be available for all pupils emerging from the development
proposals and concerns have not been expressed by the Authority that
educational attainment would be affected or threatened should
development at Lakenheath proceed in advance of a new school
opening.

It is your officers view (particularly in the absence of confirmed
objections from the Local Education Authority) that the absence of
places for children at the nearest school to the development proposals
is not in itself sufficient to warrant a refusal of planning permission but
in this particular case, the issue should be considered as part of the
planning balance in determining whether there are material
considerations which could justify a decision to depart from the strict
provisions of the Development Plan.

Highways

All of the ‘live’ planning applications listed in the table at paragraph 13
of this report are accompanied by Transport Assessments. These
assess the traffic and transport implications of the individual schemes
and all of these conclude (in isolation) that no significant impacts
would occur. None of the Transport Assessments submitted with the
Lakenheath planning applications consider the potential cumulative
impacts of all or some of the proposed developments upon the local
highway network.

In order to inform its advice to the Local Planning Authority, the Local
Highway Authority has commissioned independent cumulative
highway’s impact assessments via its consultants AECOM. The first
study was commissioned following the decisions of the Development
Control Committee to grant planning permission for three of the
planning applications (Applications, B, C and D from the table included
above, beneath paragraph 13). A requirement for the cumulative
study was part of the resolution of the Development Control
Committee (September 2014 meeting). At that time the other
planning applications listed in the table had not been submitted to the
Council, save for Application E which had at that time already
encountered the insurmountable problems which ultimately led to it
being withdrawn. Whilst AECOM did complete the first assessment, it
quickly became out of date upon submission of further planning
applications proposing over 600 additional dwellings between them.

An update to the cumulative study was subsequently commissioned
independently by the Local Highway Authority via AECOM. This
updated assessment considers four different levels of development:

e 288 dwellings (specifically applications B, C and D from the table

Page 139



227.

228.

229.

230.

beneath paragraph 15 of this report)

e 663 dwellings (specifically applications A, B, C and D from the
table)

e 1465 dwellings (applications A, B, C, D, F, G and H from the table)

e 2215 dwellings (all development in the previous scenario, plus a
margin for sensitivity which would cover any additional growth
from other sites included in the local plan and/or other speculative
schemes)).

The study assessed a number of junctions on the local road network
and concluded all of these, with the exception of two, could
accommodate the cumulative growth set out in all four scenarios. The
two junctions where issues would arise cumulatively as a consequence
of new development are i) the B1112/Eriswell Road priority ‘T’
junction (the “Eriswell Road junction”), and ii) the B1112/Lords
Walk/Earls Field Four Arm roundabout (the “Lords Walk roundabout”).

The Lords Walk roundabout would be approaching capacity and
mitigation is advised following the occupation of the first 288
dwellings. The situation would be exacerbated following occupation of
the first 663 dwellings (an increase of 375 dwellings). Accordingly
mitigation would be required to improve the capacity of the Lords
Walk roundabout and a scheme could be designed, costed and
implemented by housing developers. The junction would (without
mitigation in place) experience ‘severe impacts’ by the time 1465
dwellings had been completed.

The Eriswell Road junction is more complicated given the limited land
available for improvements within the highway boundaries and would
require third party land in order to facilitate carriageway widening (to
provide additional lanes). The cumulative study has assessed two
potential schemes of mitigation works at the Eriswell Road junction;
the first being signalisation of the junction in order to prioritise and
improve traffic flows; the second being signalisation of the junction
and introduction of two entry lanes. The first option (signalisation
only) could be delivered via funding secured from S106 Agreements
attached to developments which are granted planning permission and
implemented within existing highway boundaries. The second option
(signalisation and two entry lanes), appears to require third party land
and could therefore be more difficult to achieve and delivery cannot
therefore be guaranteed.

The second option for mitigation works at the Eriswell Road junction
would deliver greater increased capacity than the first option. The
cumulative traffic study suggests, with the first mitigation option
provided (signalisation only) the junction would be able to
accommodate traffic forecast to be generated from the first 663
dwellings. However, if 1465 dwellings are to be provided, the second
option for mitigation (signalisation and two lane entry) would be

Page 140



231.

232.

233.

234.

235.

required. The study did not clarify precisely (or roughly) where the
tipping point is and it was not clear from the amended study how
many dwellings could be built at Lakenheath with signalisation only of
the Eriswell Road junction before additional lanes need to be provided.

In response to this, the Highway Authority commissioned a third piece
of work. This time to focus on the ‘Sparkes Farm’ highway junction. A
technical highway note was received in November 2016. The technical
note, also prepared by AECOM, examines the potential likely traffic
capacity of the ‘Sparkes Farm’ junction (with mitigation works).

Members considered the cumulative highways information in
December 2016 as part of their consideration of the ‘non-
determination” appeal at land adjacent 34 Broom Road. The
Committee noted that with achievable mitigation (i.e. signalisation
within the existing highway boundaries) the level of housing growth
included in the emerging SALP is achievable. Indeed, the highway
authority has subsequently confirmed 850 dwellings could be provided
in the village without severe traffic impacts arising (subject to the
prior signalisation of the ‘Sparkes Farm’ junction).

Beyond this level of growth it is possible that severe impacts would
arise unless third party land is acquired to further improve the
junction capacity (i.e. to provide additional entry lanes onto the arms
of the junctions). Indeed, the technical note confirms that, even
following works to signalise the junction, severe impacts would occur
at an unspecified tipping point between 850 and 1500 new dwellings.

It is presently not clear whether the 850 dwellings considered
acceptable to the Local Highway Authority represents a ‘tipping point’
for severe impacts arising at the Sparkes Farm junction. Indeed, the
technical note is suggesting that traffic from 915 new homes is
tolerable (in terms of waiting times and queue lengths). It is presently
not clear whether all of the Local Plan growth, the appeal proposals
and traffic from this planning application could be accommodated
without severe impacts arising at the Sparkes Farm junction, or
whether an approval of the appeal proposals and/or this planning
application would lead to either one or more of the Local Plan allocated
housing sites being displaced or rendered undeliverable on highway
capacity grounds. The continued absence of this key information and
the uncertainty created, not only for the appeal scheme, but the
emerging Local Plan as a whole, is unacceptable and is presently a
factor weighing heavily against the proposals.

The application site is not included as an allocation in the emerging
Site Allocations Development Plan document and, if it were to be
granted planning permission, it could (because of the highway
capacity issues identified) lead to at least one of the sites currently
allocated in the Submission version of the SALP being removed from
the plan altogether. There is only one site currently allocated in the
emerging plan that does not have either a planning permission in
place or is awaiting determination (presently with committee

Page 141



236.

237.

238.

239.

240.

resolutions to grant planning permission). This is site L2 (d) at Land
north of Burrow Drive and Briscoe Way to the north of the village. The
site is allocated for delivery of around 165 dwellings. This site is a
likely candidate for removal from the SALP if a reduction in ‘planned’
housing in Lakenheath were to be required as a consequence of the
appeal proposals being approved.

At face value, this perhaps does not seem to raise significant planning
issues given the appeal scheme is not significantly different in the
number of dwellings proposed (55 dwellings fewer than emerging site
allocation L2 (d)) and is it appears the emerging allocated site could
simply be replaced with this speculative scheme in the SALP before
adoption if required. The emerging allocated site L2 (d), however,
delivers far greater benefits than simply the provision of housing,
particularly with respect to greenspace provision (which would be
above normal policy requirements.

Not only would the appeal scheme deliver less greenspace provision
than emerging site L2(d), it would also be positioned in a less
favourable location close to the Maidscross Hill SSSI (and as discussed
elsewhere relying upon that site for the bulk of its recreational
activities and thus causing harm to the SSSI).

The emerging SALP Plan site L2 (d) would also provide a higher
quantity of greenspace infrastructure, with a strategic intention to
facilitate recreational use (dog walking in particular). All of the housing
allocations within the emerging SALP adhere to an over-arching
greenspace strategy for the village to provide high quality greenspace
for recreational use and dog walking from north to south straddling
the west boundary of the village. Indeed, the emerging policy
supporting the housing site allocations at Lakenheath in the emerging
SALP requires the developments to contribute towards implementation
of the green infrastructure strategy. These application proposals do
not contribute towards the overall greenspace strategy but instead
threaten to undermine it.

The greenspace strategy seeks to reduce recreational pressure upon
the local SPA and SSSI designations (where recreational pressure is
evident and leading to the degradation of those sites) by providing
alternative natural greenspace in the village, particularly for dog
walkers. The emerging allocation L2 (d), which would be placed under
particular pressure if the appeal scheme were subsequently to be
granted planning permission, provides a key component of the
greenspace strategy via a green ‘buffer’ link through the site along the
south bank of an existing drainage channel.

Officers consider, in the absence of sufficient information with respect
to the cumulative traffic implications of the development proposals, an
approval of this planning application is likely to significantly prejudice
and undermine the greenspace strategy to the ultimate detriment of
the Maidscross Hill SSSI and the Breckland SPA. Whilst the impact to
the SPA is not likely to be significant (such that an appropriate

Page 142



241.

242.

243.

244,

245,

assessment would be required before the appeal proposals can be
approved), it would represent harm arising as a consequence of the
application proposals and therefore adds further weight against
granting planning permission.

Special Protection Area and SSSI

The cumulative impact of development upon the SPA and SSSI has not
been considered by the applicant as part of these development
proposals. The Council’'s Ecology, Tree and Landscape Officer has
considered the potential for cumulative impacts upon the SPA and
concluded this is unlikely to give rise to significant effects (paragraph
38 above).

Concerns do however arise with respect to cumulative recreational
impacts of development upon the Maidscross Hill SSSI which is
particularly well used for recreation in the absence of alternative
greenspace of equivalent quality and is already in unfavourable
condition owing to recreational pressure.

AS discussed in the cumulative transportation section of this report,
the emerging greenspace strategy behind the Local Plan Site
Allocations Development Plan Document has been designed to divert
recreational activity away from the sensitive Breckland SPA and
Maidscross Hill SSSI sites by providing alternative greenspace in the
village, particularly for dog walkers. The overarching strategy and
logic behind the locations of the housing sites within the emerging
SALP document is to avoid likely increased recreational impacts
occurring at the SSSI though avoidance (the sites being positioned a
distance away from the SSSI) and the provision of alternative
greenspace to attract dog walkers (and other recreational walkers)
away from the SSSI.

The application site was considered as part of the Council’s Strategic
Housing Land Availability Assessment evidence base, but did not make
it into the ‘Preferred Options’ or ‘Submission” SALP documents. The
appeal site was dropped at that early stage largely because of its close
proximity to the vulnerable Maidscross Hill SSSI and because it was
not considered to be locationally favourable with respect to the
additional ‘alternative greenspace’ provision the Council intends to
secure. It was also considered likely that residents of a scheme at the
application site would continue to favour the SSSI over the alternative
new greenspace provision to be provided in the village, even if it was
possible to secure it in its totality, because it would be distant from
the application site (with the Maidscross Hill SSSI adjoining it) and
would therefore not be particularly attractive or accessible to residents
of the proposed development, as an alternative option to using the
SSSI.

Officers consider an approval of the appeal scheme would significantly

undermine the greenspace strategy of the emerging local plan such
that it could undermine the delivery of the totality of the new green

Page 143



246.

247.

248.

249,

250.

251.

infrastructure (particularly if other sites at Lakenheath need to be
‘dropped’ later as a consequence of the appeal proposals receiving a
positive decision), ultimately to the detriment of the Breckland SPA
but particularly to the Maidscross Hill SSSI. In this respect, officers
also consider the proposals could significantly prejudice the emerging
Local Plan. Accordingly, officers have concluded, particularly given the
favourable five year housing supply (no immediate need for the
housing scheme to be provided), the proposals are premature to and
are likely to prejudice the emerging SALP.

Landscape

Given the locations of the proposed housing developments around
Lakenheath and the ability of the local landscape to absorb new
development (particularly on the edges of existing large settlements),
no cumulative landscape impacts are anticipated. Lakenheath is a
sizeable village and whilst the development proposals in their entirety
would represent a relatively significant expansion to it, no significant
cumulative landscape harm would arise.

Utilities

The potential cumulative impact of development upon the sewerage
network was a concern of officers, particularly as the IECA study
identified a tipping point of 169 dwellings before the Treatment Works
reaches capacity. The proposals for development within the catchment
of the Works would, in combination, significantly exceed this identified
tipping point.

Anglian Water Services has not objected to any of the planning
applications submitted for determination and confirmed there is
adequate capacity within the system to accommodate the increased
flows from development. As explained elsewhere in this report there is
sufficiently greater headroom now available in the Treatment Works
than envisaged by the IECA study, such that the treatment works
could accommodate all of the development proposed in the village
(particularly given that project E from the table included at paragraph
13 above has now been withdrawn).

In light of the updated position with respect to the Lakenheath Waste
Water Treatment Works, which updates the evidence presented in the
IECA study, officers are satisfied the development proposals would not
have adverse cumulative impacts upon the sewerage infrastructure
serving Lakenheath.

There is no evidence to suggest there would be significant cumulative

impacts upon water and energy (electricity) supplies to the village
given the respective capacities identified in the IECA study.

Air Quality

The Council’'s Environmental Health Officers initially expressed

Page 144



252.

253.

254.

255.

256.

257.

concerns about the potential impact of the developments proposed at
Lakenheath (projects A to G from the table included at paragraph 13
above) and requested further information from the proposals.

The Council subsequently commissioned an independent assessment
of the potential for the developments, in-combination, to exceed air
quality targets. The assessment concluded that, although the
developments would lead to an increase in nitrogen dioxide
concentrations alongside roads in the village, it is extremely unlikely
that these increases would lead to exceedances of the air quality
objectives.

Given the findings of the assessment, the Council’s Environmental
Health Officers are now satisfied that no further assessment is
required by the developers for any of the applications and previous
requests for conditions in relation to air quality can be disregarded.

Health

Until relatively recently, the NHS Trust Property Services had not
raised any concerns with respect to the planning applications
submitted for major residential development at Lakenheath and had
previously confirmed there was capacity in the existing local health
infrastructure to absorb additional demand arising from the
developments.

Upon review, the Trust is now concerned that demands for local NHS
services arising from the developments proposed in the village cannot
be absorbed by existing local health infrastructure. There is, however,
presently nothing to suggest that there would be impacts upon NHS
services that could not be adequately mitigated via the collection of
developer contributions to be used towards projects increasing
localised health infrastructure capacity. The NHS is presently
considering a project that would be funded by developer contributions
(in full/part).

Planning Obligations

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010

These generally set out regulations relating to the Community
Infrastructure Levy, but Part 11 refers specifically to planning
obligations (including those in S106 Agreements) and is relevant to
the consideration of this planning application and will influence the
final content of a potential S106 Agreement (in the event that
planning permission is granted.

Regulation 122 imposes limitations on the use of planning obligations
and states (where there is no CIL charging regime), a planning
application may only constitute a reason for granting planning
permission for the development if the obligation is-

Page 145



258.

259.

260.

261.

262.

263.

264.

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning
terms;

(b) directly related to the development, and

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the
development.

Regulation 123 imposes further limitations on use of planning
obligations and effectively bars the collection of pooled contributions
towards infrastructure projects or types where 5 or more obligations
securing contributions towards that infrastructure project or type have
already been entered into. These restrictions are commonly referred to
as ‘pooling restrictions’.

The Framework repeats the tests of lawfulness for planning obligations
which are derived from Regulation 122 of The Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as set out above.

The Framework also states that pursuing sustainable development
requires careful attention to viability and costs, such that sites should
not be subject to a scale of obligations that their ability to be
developed viably is threatened.

The Framework advises that in order to ensure viability, the costs of
any requirements likely to be applied to development, such as
requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure
contributions or other requirements should, when taking account of
the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive
returns to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the
development to be deliverable.

Core Strategy Spatial Objective ENV7 seeks to achieve more
sustainable communities by ensuring facilities, services and
infrastructure are commensurate with development. Core Strategy
Policy CS13 sets out requirements for securing infrastructure and
developer contributions from new developments.

No claim to reduce the level of contributions on viability grounds has
so far been made by the applicants and a viability assessment has not
been submitted. The applicants have indicated they are expecting to
enter into a S106 Agreement for various matters if panning permission
is to be granted. It is therefore assumed the development can provide
a fully policy compliant package of S106 measures.

At present a S106 Agreement has not been completed. This is not
unusual in an appeal situation in advance of a planning application
being considered by the Planning Committee. If the officer
recommendation to refuse planning permission for these proposals is
adopted by the Development Control Committee, one of the reasons
for refusal will cite the absence of a S106 Agreement to secure the
affordable housing and infrastructure that is required from the
development. It is important the Council safeguards its position with
respect to the S106 Agreement on the basis the applicant may decide

Page 146



265.

266.

267.

268.

269.

270.

to appeal a potential refusal of planning permission. The specific
reason for refusal would be withdrawn from the hypothetical appeal
once (and if) a S106 Agreement had been satisfactorily completed.

The following developer contributions are required from these
proposals.

Affordable Housing

The Framework states that local planning authorities should use their
evidence base to ensure that their Local Plan meets the full objectively
assessed needs for market and affordable housing. It also states that
policies should be set for meeting the identified need for affordable
housing, although such policies should be sufficiently flexible to take
account of changing market conditions.

Core Strategy Spatial Objective H2 seeks to provide a sufficient and
appropriate mix of housing that is affordable, accessible and designed
to a high standard. Core Strategy policy CS9 requires 30% of the
proposed dwellings (33 dwellings in this case) to be ‘affordable’. The
policy is supported by Supplementary Planning Guidance which sets
out the procedures for considering and securing affordable housing
provision (including mix, tenure, viability and S106).

Education

The Framework states the Government attaches great importance to
ensuring that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet
the needs of existing and new communities. It advises that Local
planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative
approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will
widen choice in education.

Core Strategy Policy CS13 (b) considers educational requirements as a
key infrastructure requirement. This is built upon, in a general sense,
in Policy DM41 of the Joint Development Management Policies
Document which states (inter alia) the provision of community
facilities and services will be permitted where they contribute to the
quality of community life and sustainable communities. The policy
confirms, where necessary to the acceptability of the development,
the local planning authority will require developers of residential
schemes to enhance existing community buildings, provide new
facilities or provide land and financial contributions towards the costs
of these developments, proportional to the impact of the proposed
development in that area (through conditions and/or S106
Agreements).

The Local Education Authority (Suffolk County Council) has confirmed
there is insufficient capacity at the existing primary school to
accommodate the additional pupils forecast to be resident at the
proposed development and has requested pro-rata developer
contributions (financial) to be used to purchase land and construct a

Page 147



271.

272.

273.

274.

275.

276.

new primary school in the village. It has also confirmed a need for the
development to provide a contribution to be used towards pre-school
provision in the area to cater for the educational needs of pre-school
children (aged 2-5) that are forecast to emerge from the
development. The Authority has confirmed there is no requirement for
a contribution to be secured for secondary school provision.

Public Open Space

The Framework confirms that access to high quality open spaces and
opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.

Core Strategy Spatial Objective CS2 seeks to promote an
improvement in the health of people in the District by maintaining and
providing quality open spaces, play and sports facilities and better
access to the countryside. Policy CS13 (g) considers provision of open
space, sport and recreation as a key infrastructure requirement.

Policy DM42 of the Joint Development Management Policies Document
states proposals for the provision, enhancement and/or expansion of
amenity, sport or recreation open space or facilities will be permitted
subject to compliance with other policies in the Development Plan. It
goes on to state where necessary to the acceptability of development,
developers will be required to provide open space and other facilities
or to provide land and financial contributions towards the cost and
maintenance of existing or new facilities, as appropriate (via
conditions and/or S106 Agreements).

These Development Plan policies are expanded upon via the adopted
Supplementary Planning Document for public open space, sport and
recreation. This document sets out the requirements for on-site and
off-site provision and maintenance. The document imposes a formula
based approach to calculating requirements for on site delivery of
public open space.

Accordingly, planning applications for outline consent, where numbers
of dwellings and the mix (no’s of bedrooms) is uncertain and
unsecured, it is only possible to secure the formula for calculating
public open space via S106 contributions. Given the restrictions on
pooling of contributions imposed by CIL Regulation 123 it is important
that policy compliant levels of public open space are secured on site as
part of the development proposals. The precise quantities of land of
the various relevant open space categories set out in the SPA could be
secured at Reserved Matters stage/s by incorporating the SPD
formulaic approach into any S106 Agreement.

If the applicant and Council subsequently agree the public open spaces
are to be transferred to the Council for future management and
maintenance, a commuted sum would also need to be secured as part
of any S106 Agreement.

Page 148



277.

278.

279.

280.

Libraries

The Suffolk County Council has identified a need to provide library
facilities for the occupiers of this development and has requested a
capital contribution to be used in Lakenheath.

Health

The NHS Property Services has confirmed there is insufficient capacity
in the existing health infrastructure (i.e. GP surgeries) to cater for the
additional demand for local services this development would generate.
Accordingly, a health contribution of £43,480 has been requested to
provide additional capacity at the local GP surgery (although this sum
has yet to be adjusted to reflect the application now proposes fewer
dwellings than the time the NHS comments were received.

Wardening of the SSSI

As discussed in the report a sum of monies has been offered to
provide 6 hours per week wardening of the Maidscross Hill SSSI.
These monies would need to be secured by an obligation under S106
of the Planning Act.

Summary

With these provisions in place the effects of the proposal on local
infrastructure, including affordable housing, public open space
(quantity of provision), health and libraries would be acceptable. Other
matters, particularly relating to education, transportation are presently
uncertain or yet to be fully resolved. Subject to these outstanding
matters being satisfactorily resolved and a policy compliant S106
Agreement being completed in due course, the proposals would
comply with Core Strategy Policy CS13 (and other relevant policies
discussed in the report) by which the provision or payment is sought
for services, facilities and other improvements directly related to
development.

Conclusions

281.

282.

Relevant housing policies set out in the Core Strategy are consistent
with the NPPF and, given the Council is able to demonstrate a 5-year
supply of deliverable housing sites, carry full weight in the decision
making process. The application proposals are contrary to the
provisions of relevant Development Plan policies which direct (for the
most part) that new residential development should be provided within
defined settlement boundaries of the District’'s towns and sustainable
villages.

The Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 directs decision makers
to determine planning applications in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The National Planning Policy Framework does not displace this

Page 149



statutory duty and in fact seeks to re-inforce it. In this case the
proposed development does not accord with the Development Plan
(adopted and emerging) and therefore there is a presumption against
the grant of planning permission. Given the Council’s positive 5-year
housing supply position, those Development Plan policies which relate
to the supply of housing are to be attributed full weight in determining
this planning application. Having considered the application proposals
against other (non housing settlement) policies of the Development
Plan and the policies of the NPPF, officers consider there are no
material considerations that indicate planning permission should be
granted for the development proposals which, it is concluded, would
represent an unsustainable form of development, as defined by the
NPPF.

Recommendation:

283. That the planning permission is REFUSED for the following reasons
(summarised):

i) The proposed development is unacceptable in principal and is
contrary to the settlement policies set out in both adopted and
emerging Development Plan documents.

ii) The proposals are also contrary to a number of other important
Development Plan policies, including those relating to design, ecology
(the SSSI), SW drainage, tree retention, education, highway safety
(cumulative impacts) and the impact of aircraft noise.

iii) There are no material considerations which indicate the
development should be determined other than in accordance with the
Development Plan; the proposals represent an unsustainable form of
development as defined by the NPPF.

iv) The proposals are premature to, and are likely to prejudice the full
delivery of the emerging Site Allocations Development Plan document.

v) The absence of a completed Agreement or Unilateral Undertaking
under S106 of the Town and County Planning Act to secure the
following:

Affordable housing
Primary Education
Pre-school education
Health

Public Open Space
Libraries

Wardening of the SSSI.

Documents:

All background documents including application forms, drawings and other

Page 150



supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed online.

https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NE5J8APDO0O2L
00

Page 151


https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NE5J8APD02L00
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NE5J8APD02L00
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NE5J8APD02L00

This page is intentionally left blank



DC/14/2042/0UT
Land North of Broom Road, Cavey Way and Maids Cross Hill, Lakenheath

Maidscross Hill

0 15 30 60 a0 120
O T Metres

Forest Heath » St Edmundsbury

& Crown Copyright and database rights 2016 0%
100019675/100023282, You are not permitted o copy, scale: 1 2!500

West Suffolk e o o cibgges dggmraperes Date: 17/01/2017

WOI’kirIg together See ww westsuffolk. gov.uk/disclaimer.cfim.




This page is intentionally left blank



28

20N
./\'Ritf&{.
,vvvvvv-
> vvvvvvvx
AR I\i\l\l\l\
R vvs vvw\
¥ f§$§$§$§$\$-"
’vvv\/f
AR R

N

A
A
WS
R
b

A
A
‘I\/\'\
R \/\'\l\
r\l\'\l\l\‘
- \/\i\l\l\l\
\f i\l\l\i
- \i\l\i
I\I\
\f\ RS
IR
'i\l\’
i\l‘
5
=
7
3

A
\/Qi\
Z8435

\/\ -
w7
2

2
239
A
.&vv
‘$§$§$§$§
.l\l\l\l\l‘
I\l\'\l\ <

—~ \l\l\l\
&52525‘

'vv

K

¥,
SAAA
23

0
)
24
,~$§$§$
wvvv
- vvvv;
.vvvv
vvvvv
wvvvv-
I\l\l\i\l\
wvvvv
A 3%
W

S
R
LR

A
A NN
(w\)vv
vvs.tvs
.,wzzzzw
«vvvvv R
- vvvvvv~ 23
<$§$§$§$§$§$§$‘ \

3 vvvv« k
vvvvs

-zvvv

\z AR

2353

B

%

&K
I
o
222

vA
W

3 \l1
A
\/\'\l
YR
N2

N
8%
R
A
A
vs( =
vtitﬁ'
A

:yv

3
NA
»¢§$§$§$
.:vvv«
(vvvv«
- vvvvvx
vvvvvvx
.zvvvvvs/\
— vvvvvvvs‘
AN vvvvvvw
103 vvvwvvvw
" tvvvvvvvv
vvvvvvvvv«
vvvvvvvvv«
vvvvvvvvvx
wvvvv R vv\
wvvvvs vvvs
'vvvs vvvvx
szvwvvvv %
% A /vvvvvw
zvvvvs vvw
/\/vvvvvvv
’§$§'§ s;yvv\r
/vvsfk(\"ﬁﬁ"
S 2373 K

=

<<%

2
&
"4

z

-

A
ooy
\\'\'\'\'\‘4{
s“."\\ 55
R R
'.’(\‘\s' R
Y s‘,‘,’s’\\

55 X

(R

g

R
R

2

R

R

R

.
Y
'

74 8
2 I\l\
A :;::::::
,\l\l\ \I\/\'\l\l\ )
\l\l\ \/\'\l\l\l\/<
\/\I\/\'\l\l\l\l\’
\? N \'\l\l\l\l\l‘
N7, l\l\l\l‘
\ N2 \l\l\l\‘
48 \l\l\l\l‘
'\l\l\l\lf
(zl\;s

L&
NN
WA

353

eQ¢e

UE
ISS
ION
PLICAT
AP

G

IN

ANN

PL

T

ices
erv
rafting S
<« D

Ellis

rAY

d,
Roa
e 9
AV‘aii;heath
Lasuffolkil
IP27-9A

3
116
100
1:0

Te

om

internet.c

(@btin

is107

llis

il: e

ail:

em

B TITLE
JO

5
L1
t at Hill
en S
m 0S
evelorzds Cfd L2 lolk'
sed D & Ma Roa Suff
Pl‘opo Wa}; Broonr;lleath’
ff COVI\?Z“h o Lake
do nd illage o
Lan La Vllla
The
In

m

A
285
ST

;
237,
YR
\/s/§1
YUY

\ \i\l}’
Wy

WA

=

/\‘Q‘R‘V"

/vvv
\I\' 7

vvv«

\l\l N2 N

‘23"’

)
A
RAA
t‘t‘s‘s
vvvs
wvvs
23932
Q2%
&

,1\4
YA
~l\l\l\
‘I\l\l\l‘
l\l\/\/‘
\l\i\/ﬂ
2 '\l\/\
N \l\l\/\
-I\I\l\ \l\‘
A R l\l\4
Vl\l\ \l\l\o
R l\l I\l\l\/\d
A \l\l\l\l\/\l\l
l\l\l\l\/\l\l\ A
‘/\l\l\l\l\l\l\l A
\/\l\l\l\l\l\l\ E
b/\l\/\l\l R N
»/\I\l\l\l\l\l‘
/\l\l\l\l\l‘
'\l\l\l\l&‘
'\l\l\l\l‘
W
Y2

9
r\$§$
ARR 3
wvv\/~
.zvvvv«
.vvvvs A
wvvvvvs
»/vvvvvvs
/vvvv; %
¢vvvx
'vvv
Q‘t"
¥

N

e
\l\l
P

2
Z
' A
/\'§¢s¢§$3'
i\/\l\/\
szwz;*'
187 2

\l\
Yol
'\I\l 2
\I\l‘
%

23737

3

AR

»’/\: R
7

29
A

A
R 2
gsjz/s

2\
R
/vv
zvv

2. /y

N
N2 A
NAS 23
s$§$§$§$§$§<
/vszvv
s/s/\/\'
'\Q/vsz
23 V\'V
¥ t/v

\$§$
kl\l
= YA
vvs NAY
g\z&kﬁ‘é&s’f‘
zt'b" 737
lv‘i‘\
lszt‘t"
N2 N
A2
V%

ir
Servol
Re

E
TL
ING T
W

DRA

lan
ed Site P
0S

Prop

red
ve
(co

m

SCALE

TE
DA
BY

WN
DRA

16
20
nuary
JaVISION
e

1:500

DRG NO
Al

(53 Size

FaseSie

02

om S

x4 Bgd];%elllng

f)letacgzrages
ith

Wi

Bedro(’;ﬁings

x3 d Dw

%iwcgzrages
ith

Wi

Semi
oom gs
X2 Bgdgwele];n
e

itho
Wi

)\
AV

\/

AV

\/

AV

\VA

\VA

\/

XAK
\/

\/

\/

\/

\/

T/

VAV

\\

AA
N\
JAVAN
—
A _

X

/\

A,

-

YAvAYA

RRRRERTTE

'a
d Vi
Roal
Br"olrirlllk ind
SS Oﬁj(()jycle
(& .
Acc tria

des
Pe

P\
A
B

NE
y40)

G

IN

ER

FF

AT BUY
B

. HA
wide

1Im

- sf\;{
A’Q/vkﬁf{
‘R$§$§$§$§'
/vvv R
Y
tyvvs
Yo

)

A
.$§$§
\$§$§$§
v'\l\l\l\4
> SAY l\l\' A
l\l\l\ \l\l\/\/
z\l\ l\l\/\l\’
% l\l\l\i\l‘
l\l\/\'\l\
\I\/\'\l,\'
vvvv
\'\l\l‘

ll\l

b

2
A RA

AN
AN R4
R /\/V\t
N2
3
'

2
A
A
\ \/\'\l
WY

3
A
l\l\
X

2
2
R

EAA R
A
N

A

R

BB
2V
”

58
22
2

o

4
KK
LK
R
R

KKK

RZK

W

%

X
2
LKL
2

L

)
A
/\is'
RA R v}'
,\.»,m'z:::v
R e \l\l\l“
d&it:ti&"
»w::::;.z\
YR ww:'
\/\l\l\l\l\l\l\
~l\l\l\l\l\l\l
z::z::':::"
'\l\ NG
1858
W~
N
l\l e
W
.\I\ 7S
> \{\
0
%
Y
SO

7
WA
/s‘«"?f‘

AN
vvv
b

2
A
W8

\
%) IE?S?
A YooY
L l\ vl\l\l\l\l\
\l\l\l\l\l\l\l\
A \l\l\l\l /2
"l\l\l\l\
‘\ltl\

&

2)

32
\l$
NS
82

500
1:5

lan Scale

kP

Bloc




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

DEVELOPMENT
CONTROL
COMMITTEE

Forest Heath District Council

1 FEBRUARY 2017

DEV/FH/17/008

Report of the Head of Planning and Growth

PLANNING APPLICATION DC/16/0723/FUL — 35 KINGSWAY, MILDENHALL

Synopsis:

Application under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and associated matters.

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the Committee determine the attached application
and associated matters.

CONTACT CASE OFFICER:

Marianna Christian
Email: marianna.christian@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Telephone: 01284 757351

Page 157




Committee Report

Date 11 April 2016 Expiry Date: 6 June 2016
Registered: EoT 10.02.2017
Case Marianna Recommendation: Grant
Officer: Christian
Parish: Mildenhall Ward: Market
Proposal: Planning Application DC/16/0723/FUL - Dwelling adjoining No. 35
Kingsway
Site: 35 Kingsway, Mildenhall
Applicant: Ms C Spraggins
Background:

This application is referred to the Development Control Committee
following consideration by the Delegation Panel. The application was
referred to the Delegation Panel as the Parish Council objected to the
application and the Officer recommendation is one of approval.

Members visited the site on 5 September 2016 and a further site visit
is scheduled to take place on Monday 30 January 2017.

Proposal:

1. Planning permission is sought for the erection of a two-storey 3-bedroom
dwelling. The dwelling would be attached to No. 35 Kingsway, providing
an end-terraced property, and would use the existing vehicular access
which would become shared between both properties. To the rear of No.
35 and the new dwelling it is proposed to provide a shared parking area.

2. The application has been amended since submission to clarify the
treatment of the front (south) and side (east) boundaries following
concerns raised by both the Parish Council and the County Highway
Authority. The extent and layout of the shared car parking area has also
been amended to take into account the location of a protected tree on the
site and an Arboricultural Method Statement has been provided.

Application Supporting Material:

3. Information submitted with the application as follows:
e Application Form
e Design and Access Statement
e Land Contamination Questionnaire

Page 158



e Groundsure Homebuyers report
e Arboricultural Method Statement
e Plans

Site Details:

4.

The application site comprises part of the garden area of No. 35 Kingsway
- a semi-detached house located in a residential area and within the
housing settlement boundary of Mildenhall. There is an existing vehicular
access on the east side of No. 35, beyond which is a footpath leading to
Peterhouse Close to the north. There is a protected lime tree in the
northeast corner of the plot (T2 of TPO/2004/01).

Relevant Planning History:

5.

F/2007/0266/TPO Re-pollard 1 Lime tree. Granted 17/05/2007.

Consultations:

6.

County Highway Authority:

Original comments - Additional information required. Boundary unclear
between driveway and public footpath. Measures to protect boundary and
users of footpath required. Details of how railing at end of footpath will
be protected from vehicles using the driveway required. Recommend
refusal in the absence of this information.

Further comments - Conditions recommended regarding layout and
surfacing of access, bin storage, surface water drainage and manoeuvring
and parking.

. Ecology Tree & Landscape Officer:

Original comments - Block plan and parking plan are inconsistent.
Parking should not be located beneath protected tree due to common
problem of honey dew which will lead to future conflict. Tree is in good
health and of high public amenity value. Surfacing of parking area has
potential to impact the tree. Crown of tree is proposed to be raised to
3m. Locations of protective measures have not been shown on plan. No
details of the porous surface for the parking area are provided, nor are
details of its implementation. It may also be necessary to protect the tree
from cars reversing into it. Concerned proposals to safeguard the tree are
not specific enough.

Further comment - New information addresses concerns regarding tree
protection during construction period. It can still however be anticipated
that the proposal is likely to lead to continued pressure for intervention
and management of the tree, for example re-pollarding and pruning back
in the future.

Environment Team: Based on submitted information am satisfied that the
risk from contaminated land is low.

. Public Health & Housing: Conditions recommended regarding construction

hours, burning of waste and external lighting.

Page 159



Representations:

10.Councillor Bowman: Concerned regarding the limited space within the site
for car parking which will be shared by two family units, and the greater
potential for vehicles to have to reverse out onto Kingsway.

11.Parish Council: Object due to the safety and access close to the pathway
and the proposed crossing next to the property.

12. A representation has been received from the occupier of No. 33 Kingsway
making the following summarised comments:

e Query whether sufficient room for 4 vehicles as shown.

e Concern that vehicles may park on grass verge/pavement in front of
property, damaging the verge, blocking pedestrian access and limiting
visibility for pedestrians crossing the road and for vehicles using the
driveway.

e Query whether conditions can be imposed to prevent parking on
pavement/verge.

Policy:

13. The following policies have been taken into account in the consideration
of this application:

14. Forest Heath Local Development Framework Core Strategy Development
Plan Document 2001-2026 (May 2010):
e Policy CS1 Spatial Strategy
e Policy CS5 Design Quality and Local Distinctiveness
e Policy CS7 Overall Housing Provision (sub-paragraph 1 only)
e Policy CS10 Sustainable Rural Communities

15.Forest Heath Proposed Submission Single Issue Review (SIR) of Core
Strategy Policy CS7 Overall Housing Provision and Distribution Regulation
19 consultation (January 2017):
e Policy CS7 Overall housing provision and distribution

16. Forest Heath Local Plan (1995) Saved Policies:
e Inset Map 2 - Mildenhall

17.Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury Local Plan Joint Development
Management Policies Document (February 2015):

e Policy DM1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

e Policy DM2 Creating Places — Development Principles and Local
Distinctiveness

e Policy DM14 Protecting and Enhancing Natural Resources, Minimising
Pollution and Safeguarding from Hazards

e Policy DM22 Residential Design

e Policy DM46 Parking Standards

Page 160



Other Planning Policy/Guidance:

18. National Planning Policy Framework (2012)
19. Planning Practice Guidance

Officer Comment:

20. The issues to be considered in the determination of the application are:
Principle of development

Design and impact on the area

Highway safety

Arboricultural impacts

Residential amenity

Principle of development

21. The site is located within the town of Mildenhall which Core Strategy
Policy CS1 identifies as being one of the key areas for development. The
application site currently comprises part of the garden of No. 35
Kingsway, and it is noted that the NPPF excludes private residential
gardens from the definition of ‘previously developed land’. The NPPF
states (in paragraph 53) that LPAs should consider setting out policies to
resist inappropriate development of residential gardens, for example
where development would cause harm to the local area. As such the NPPF
does not preclude residential developments on existing garden land but
highlights that such proposals should be considered having regard to local
distinctiveness. This approach is reflected in Policy DM2 of the Council’s
Joint Development Management Policies Document.

22. Having regard to the above, it is considered that the residential
development of this site is acceptable in principle.

Design and impact on the area

23.The proposed dwelling is of a simple design which is considered to be in
keeping with the existing property that it would adjoin. The dwelling has
a bay window on the ground floor to match both No. 35 and 33 adjacent
and would also be finished in similar materials. There are a variety of
dwelling types and styles along Kingsway including terraced properties,
and the proposal would not therefore appear out of character in this
respect.

24.The shared parking area to serve No. 35 and the new dwelling has been
increased in size since the application was originally submitted in order to
provide four spaces on its western side away from the protected tree on
the site. This has reduced the sizes of the rear garden areas to No. 35
and the proposed dwelling to approximately 31m2 and 17m2 respectively.
The rear garden for the new dwelling in particular is modest in size,
however, given the scale of the property and the absence of any minimum
standards in this regard, officers are of the opinion that a refusal of
permission could not reasonably be substantiated on such grounds.

Page 161



25.0verall the development is considered to be of an acceptable design and
would not harm the character or appearance of the area.

Highway safety

26. No. 35 Kingsway has an existing vehicular access which would become a
shared access to also serve the proposed dwelling. The access is to be
widened slightly by the removal of a section of wall along the front
boundary. The remaining wall here is to be replaced with a new wall that
is only 600mm high to provide adequate visibility. On the east side of the
access the existing brick wall is to be extended in order to protect the
existing adjacent railings at the end of the public footpath, preventing
conflict between vehicles and pedestrians in this location. This new
section of wall would again be 600mm in height. The submitted plan also
shows that several overgrown bushes in this location will be removed,
further improving visibility for pedestrians entering Kingsway from the
footpath.

27.The Parish Council has objected to the proposal due to safety and the
proximity of the access to the pathway and a proposed crossing next to
the site. The application has been discussed with a Highway Engineer at
Suffolk County Council who has confirmed that a zebra crossing is planned
to be provided on Kingsway to the east of the footpath leading to
Peterhouse Close. The Engineer has confirmed that the new crossing will
not affect the access to the proposed dwelling.

28.Following concerns raised by the Ecology Tree & Landscape Officer
regarding parking beneath the protected lime tree on the site, the shared
parking area has been increased in size to provide a row of four spaces on
its western side. The agent has also provided parking plans to show how
vehicles would be able to enter and exit the site in a forward gear to avoid
reversing onto Kingsway. The parking plans show that this is possible,
although a car using the northern-most space would need to make several
manoeuvres if the other three spaces were occupied. The County
Highway Authority has been consulted on the revised parking layout and
diagrams and is satisfied with the proposals. The scheme includes
appropriate improvements to the existing access, having regard to its
increased use serving an additional dwelling, and also provides an
appropriate level of parking within the site for both dwellings. As such it
is not considered that a refusal of planning permission could reasonably
be substantiated on highway safety grounds in this case.

Arboricultural impacts

29.An Arboricultural Method Statement has been provided in respect of the
protected lime tree on the site. The tree is located in the northeast corner
of the site and within the shared parking and turning area proposed. The
layout of the parking area has been amended to provide spaces in a single
row on the opposite side to the tree. The report includes protection
measures for the tree during construction, further details of which have
now been provided by the agent. In order to protect the tree and its roots

Page 162



following the construction of the dwelling from vehicles manoeuvring
within the site, a curb constructed of wooden sleepers is proposed to
provide a physical barrier. The Ecology Tree & Landscape Officer has
confirmed these details to be satisfactory.

Residential amenity

30. The dwelling would be slightly taller than No. 35 due to its differing roof
form but would also be set back from the existing dwelling so as not to
appear overly dominant. No windows are proposed in the west elevation
overlooking No. 35 and there is a good degree of separation between the
proposed dwelling and No. 39 to the east, with a public footpath also
separating the two. As such the proposal is not considered to raise any
adverse issues in terms of residential amenity.

Conclusion:

31. In conclusion, the principle and detail of the development is considered to
be acceptable and in compliance with relevant development plan policies
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation:

32. It is recommended that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the
following conditions:

Time limit

Compliance with plans

Tree protection measures to be implemented

Dwelling - materials and colour finishes to match No. 35

Boundary walls — materials to be agreed

Hours of construction (as recommended by Public Health & Housing)
Removal of Permitted Development rights for new openings on west
elevation

8. Access improvements as per Highways requirements

9. Surfacing of access to be agreed

10.Bin storage area to be provided and retained

11.Surface water drainage to be agreed

12.Parking and turning areas to be provided and retained

NoukwnE

Documents:

All background documents relating to this application can be viewed online:
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=059]J04PDGGA
00&documentOrdering.orderBy=date&documentOrdering.orderDirection=ascendi

ng

Page 163


https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=O59JO4PDGGA00&documentOrdering.orderBy=date&documentOrdering.orderDirection=ascending
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=O59JO4PDGGA00&documentOrdering.orderBy=date&documentOrdering.orderDirection=ascending
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=O59JO4PDGGA00&documentOrdering.orderBy=date&documentOrdering.orderDirection=ascending
https://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=O59JO4PDGGA00&documentOrdering.orderBy=date&documentOrdering.orderDirection=ascending

This page is intentionally left blank



DC/16/0723/FUL
35 Kingsway, Mildenhall

: T
| :
)%%\ E M
: AVENUE ] gminly
' - Peterhouse
NN o L
Q [ : gesdge 'Line Of Posts
ub Sta i a(|®|alo|n
il | =
domzl bl o) o Play m
e =GRl T VAR o LOC
CRd‘ l: AL .”. h " #. aimml@ :
== = ' 2: ™
bl = - Ij s - Elaln
]
: ze
|
| 37
otk

- e

| KINGSWAY

Bowling Green
Club EO 510 20 30 40

Metres_

TURNSTONE CLOSE :
1 -
‘ 3 m / \

L%

Forest Heath = St Edmundsbury

& Crown Copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey

100019675/100023282. You are not permitted to copy, S(:ale: 1:1.250
We St S uffol k sub-license, distribute or sellp c& 6Uﬂird parfies ph
in any form, Use of this data is subg' ctto terms and conditions, Date: 17/08/20 16

WOI’kil‘Ig tOgE‘thEl’ See ww westsuffolk. gov.uk /disclaimer.cfim.




This page is intentionally left blank



peppe uoijoajoid sal} ‘pabueyd auil pay
|[EM WLWQQQ JO UOI08S [BUOIIPPE PUB UMOYS |[em Bupsixg
peppe ||eM 0 S|IEJop pUB UMOYS paAoWal aq 0} saysng

pepuawe sinojod aul| Azepunog

3 A0y
g Aoy
10 ASY

umoys Aemybiy pue pappe ABMaALIp O} JusWpuswy g ASY

W A9y

3200/d3
'ON SNIMVEa

00L:1
TIVOS

NV1d MO0718 a3S0d0dd
ERInNy

dHZ 82dl ‘M1044nS
“TTVHNIATIN ‘AVMSONIM S€ rav

'§§39aav 153rodd

yn'00 ubisepbulpyngyooiqsubd@ined
0v/GEL 2G/L0 /566128 2¥8 L0
seoines ubiseq buipjing ¥00.qsUS o

NN

77

oL 6 8 L 9

ujewsi o} |lem Bulsixe
sbBuijies Bupsixa

N

paAowal aq 0} saysnq umolbiano Bunsixe

5 > i SR
. . Kemeaup paseys . .
N P (ot N =
. 0 00S0-X i 68°0- X 1oy paddoup Bunsixe —__ |
e e e e e A =
> 2
o
X, N O[S
%
/ q
7 | penowsal |jem Busixe
—~——— — 7 |_
i _
\ .
I
iTem xouq meu ybiy wuwipog |

skemyb1H Aq paainbai i
~N pajlejsul eq o} plejjoq

. \‘_ _
' =g g o\g

0005

]

|
|
|
|
Kemubiy jo 9pe —__ |
Ge
008¢E u

Page 167




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Planning Application DC/16/1758/FUL - Land North of Lodge Farm, Skeltons Drove, Beck Row
	DEV.FH.17.004 Skeltons Drove, Beck Row - Location Plan
	DEV.FH.17.004 Skeltons Drove, Beck Row - Site Plan

	5 Planning Application DC/16/1145/FUL - 50 The Street, Gazeley
	DEV.FH.17.005 50 The Street, Gazeley - Location Plan
	DEV.FH.17.005 50 The Street, Gazeley - Site Plan

	6 Planning Application DC/15/2577/FUL - Kentford Lodge, Herringswell Road, Kentford
	DEV.FH.17.006 Kentford Lodge, Kentford - Location Plan
	DEV.FH.17.006 Kentford Lodge, Kentford - Site Plan

	7 Planning Application DC/14/2042/FUL - Land North of Broom Road, Covey  Way and Maidscross Hill, Lakenheath
	DEV.FH.17.007 North of Broom Road, Lakenheath - Location Plan
	DEV.FH.17.007 North of Broom Road, Lakenheath - Site Plan

	8 Planning Application DC/16/0723/FUL - 35 Kingsway, Mildenhall
	DEV.FH.17.008 35 Kingsway, Mildenhall - Location Plan
	DEV.FH.17.008 35 Kingsway, Mildenhall - Site Plan


